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Contacts
For all life threatening emergencies dial 000
If calling from a mobile dial 112
131 444 Police Assistance Line (24-hour)
for all non emergencies
Crime Stoppers (toll free): 1800 333 000

Published by the NT Police, Fire and Emergency Services.
© NT Government 2021.
You may download, display, print and copy any material in this report,
in unaltered form only, for your personal use or for non-commercial use
within your organisation.
Except as permitted above you must not copy, adapt, publish, distribute or
commercialise any material contained in this report without prior written
permission from the NT Government through the NT Police, Fire and
Emergency Services.
Enquiries should be made to:
Chief of Staff
Office of the Commissioner of Police and CEO of
Fire and Emergency Services
PO Box 39764 				
Winnellie NT 0821
Telephone:

(08) 8999 5511

Email:

AnnualReport.NTPFES@nt.gov.au

Web:

www.pfes.nt.gov.au

The annual report has been prepared with the use of the
Australian Government Style Manual for editors, authors and printers, 7th edition.
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<Level # Building
Street address Suburb NT Postcode>
Postal address
<GPO Box XXXX
Suburb NT Postcode>

<Date Month Year>
The Hon Nicole Manison MLA
name/Position
title>
Minister<Full
for Police,
Fire and Emergency
Services
<Address/Department name>
GPO Box
3146
GPO Box <XXXX>
<Suburb
NT Postcode>
DARWIN
NT 0801

E name.surname@pfes.nt.gov.au
T 08 89XX XXXX
File reference
<TRM No.>

Dear Minister
In accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector Employment Management Act 1993, I am pleased
to present the NT Police, Fire and Emergency Services (NTPFES) annual report for the financial year
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.
Pursuant to the Public Sector Employment Management Act 1993, Financial Management Act 1995,
Information Act 2002 and Treasurer’s Directions, I advise that to the best of my knowledge and belief:
a)

proper records of all transactions affecting NTPFES are kept and the employees under my control
observe the provisions of the Financial Management Act 1995, the Financial Management Regulations
and Treasurer’s Directions

b) procedures within NTPFES afford proper internal control, and current descriptions of such procedures
has been recorded in the accounting and property manual which was prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Financial Management Act 1995
c)

there is no indication of fraud, malpractice, major breach of legislation or delegation, major error in or
omission from, the accounts and records

d) the internal audit capacity available to NTPFES is adequate and the results of internal audits have been
reported to me as the accountable officer
e)

the financial statements included in the annual report have been prepared from proper accounts and
records, and are in accordance with Treasurer’s Directions

f)

all Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment have been satisfied

g) the NTPFES has complied with the provisions as prescribed in the Information Act 2002,
including information access, privacy protection, records and archives management.

Jamie Chalker APM
Commissioner of Police and
CEO of Fire and Emergency Services
27 August 2021

OUR MISSION: To serve and protect
OUR VISION: A safe and resilient Northern Territory

PAGE 1 OF 1
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Acknowledgement of country
The NTPFES acknowledges the First Nations people throughout the NT, from the red sands of
Central Australia to the coastal people in the Top End.
We recognise their continuing connection to their lands, waters and culture. We also pay our
respects to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with whom we work and who serve
and protect.
We pay our respect to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures, and to their leaders past,
present and emerging.

4

NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21

Contents

Letter of transmittal

3

Part 2: Organisational performance

24

Acknowledgement of country

4

Part 3: Corporate governance

84

Contents

5

Part 4: Our people

94

Key locations

6

Part 5: Financial statements

128

Part 6: Crime statistics

182

Part 7: Appendices

196

Commissioner of Police
and CEO overview

8

Part 1: Organisational overview

10
NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21

5

Key

locations
NTPFES headquarters
NAB House
71 Smith Street
Darwin NT 0800
NT Police Force
Peter McAulay Centre
McMillans Road
Berrimah NT 0828
NT Police Force
Recruitment Office
NAB House
71 Smith Street
Darwin NT 0800
Screening Assessment for
Employment (SAFE) NT
37 Woods Street
Darwin NT 0800

6

Police stations
Adelaide River
Ali Curung
Alice Springs
Alyangula (Groote Eylandt)
Angurugu (Groote Eylandt)
Arlparra
Avon Downs
Batchelor
Borroloola
Casuarina
Daly River
Darwin
Elliott
Galiwinku
Gapuwiyak
Gunbalanya (Oenpelli)
Harts Range
Humpty Doo
Jabiru
Kalkarindji (Wave Hill)
Katherine
Kulgera
Lajamanu
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Ltyentye (Santa Teresa)
Maningrida
Maranboy
Mataranka
Mutitjulu
Ngukurr
Nhulunbuy
Ntaria (Hermannsburg)
Numbulwar
Palmerston
Papunya
Pine Creek
Ramingining
Tennant Creek
Ti Tree
Timber Creek
Wadeye
Wurrumiyanga
Yarralin
Yuendumu
Yulara
Police shopfronts
Parap Police Beat

Multi-jurisdictional facilities
Kintore (NT)
Warakurna (Western
Australia)
Police posts
Alpurrurulam
Apatula (Finke)
Bulman
Haasts Bluff
Imanpa
Kaltukatjara (Docker River)
Milikapiti
Milingimbi
Minjilang
Minyerri
Nyirripi
Peppimenarti
Pirlangimpi
Robinson River Post
Titjikala
Umbakumba
(Groote Eylandt)
Warruwi
Willowra

NT Fire and Rescue
Service headquarters
NAB House
71 Smith Street
Darwin NT 0800
Fire stations
Alice Springs
Berrimah
Darwin
Humpty Doo
Jabiru
Katherine
Marrara
Nhulunbuy
Palmerston
Tennant Creek
Yulara
Volunteer Fire Brigades
Alice Springs Rural
Wurrumiyanga
Howard Springs
Humpty Doo

Koolpinyah
Virginia/Bees Creek
Yirrkala
Fire and emergency
response groups
Adelaide River
Batchelor
Borroloola
Elliott
Mataranka
Pine Creek
Timber Creek
Ti Tree

NT Emergency Service
headquarters
NAB House
71 Smith Street
Darwin NT 0800
NTES volunteer units
Alice Springs
Cox Peninsula
Daly River
Darwin
Galiwinku
Gapuwiyak
Harts Range
Katherine
Kintore
Lajamanu
Maningrida
Nhulunbuy
Ntaria (Hermannsburg)
Numbulwar
Palmerston
Pirlangimpi

Ramingining
Tennant Creek
Wadeye
Warruwi
Watarrka
Yuendumu
Emergency response groups
Ali Curung
Avon Downs
Borroloola
Gunbalanya (Oenpelli)
Kalkarindji (Wave Hill)
Kulgera
Maranboy
Ngukurr
Papunya
Yarralin
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Commissioner
Police and CEO
overview

The 2020-21 year has been dominated by COVID-19,
a pandemic which has taken us in a direction well away
from the type of work we normally do as a tri-service.
This pandemic has, at times, tested the NTPFES
and has continued to provide challenges across
the community. However, as usual, we stepped
forward when required and led the longest
running emergency response in the NT’s history.
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Due to the enormous work done by NTPFES
and other agencies, we have largely avoided the
lockdowns that have affected the lives of others
across Australia, and continued to serve and protect
our communities. It was not until recently that
we needed to take the same measures as other
jurisdictions, to protect our population, in particular
our vulnerable Aboriginal communities.
This reminder of the need for constant vigilance
means the frameworks, plans and posture we have
established are under constant scrutiny. This annual
report bears testament to how we have managed to
combine the COVID-19 response with our business
as usual activities.
Notwithstanding
these
current
challenges,
the importance of continuous improvement for
this agency cannot be understated. In 2020,
the implementation of the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy
was announced and is well underway as part of
Project 2030 – Back to Basics to Set our Future.
Our people and our community are the key tenets
which underpin our strategic priorities and our
core business. Tri-service members in leadership
positions have participated in workshops across the
NT to collaborate on the development of detailed
strategy implementation plans and business planning
processes. This has been a valuable opportunity to
come together to operationalise our strategic intent,
and members had the opportunity to meet with the
executive to share and incorporate their ideas.
A comprehensive policy review and update is
underway to ensure alignment with our strategic
intent and streamline work flows to strive towards a
safe and resilient NT.
As part of prioritising our community, we established
the Community Resilience and Engagement
Command (CREC). The CREC includes the Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Development Unit
(ATSIDU) and has teams based both in the Top End
and southern areas. Already, the CREC has proven
its immense value with engagement in remote
communities.
Our community, and the tri-service, is set to benefit
enormously from our recruitment of Aboriginal
liaison officers (ALOs) through enhancing our
connections with all Territorians. We have recruited
and trained 3 squads during this financial year and
welcomed 30 ALOs to the NTPFES. The ALOs are
based in the regional centres and across the many
remote communities throughout the NT.

The 2020-21 year was free of cyclones, however,
bushfires and floods meant there was little
reprieve for our people and our community.
Fires are intensifying in the NT and our NT Fire
and Rescue Service crews and volunteers, along
with Bushfires NT, worked tirelessly in treacherous
conditions to save lives and property across the
Top End. Tri‑service members and volunteers also
travelled interstate to provide assistance with fire
emergencies in other jurisdictions.
Severe flooding around Jilkminggan, Beswick and
Daly River shone a light on the incredible dedication,
compassion and expertise of our NT Emergency
Service staff and volunteers. The importance of
strong plans and preparation came to the fore as
residents were kept safe, food supplies ensured and
shelter provided during the emergency.
Emergency responses such as these also heavily rely
on our remote police. Work is ongoing to ensure
our remote stations and members are supported
to provide sustained service to their communities.
We are working closely with the NT Police Association
on a model that includes suitable accommodation for
our members and their families, and adequate relief.
In line with my commitment to invest in our people
in 2020-21, a total of 145 new police recruits have
graduated from 8 recruit squads. Graduates included
109 constables, 9 police communications auxiliaries
and 24 frontline police auxiliaries. A NT Fire and
Rescue Service Squad of 12 commenced its course
in April and as always our existing members have the
prospect of career pathways that will take them as
far as their aptitude, drive and dedication provides.
There are many positive stories of our engagement
across the Territory and these should serve us well
as we offer a unique and rewarding experience
for anyone considering a career in police, fire or
emergency services.
I commend this annual report as a record of another
compelling year of the incredible work our agency
does to serve and protect the people of the NT.

Jamie Chalker APM
Commissioner of Police and
CEO of Fire and Emergency Services
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Purpose of the report

Who we are

The report’s primary purpose is to inform of the NTPFES
performance in 2020-21 against approved budget
outputs and performance measures, to advise the NT
Legislative Assembly through the Minister for Police,
Fire and Emergency Services, The Hon Nicole Manison
MLA, and our stakeholders and the wider community.

The NTPFES was formed in 1983 and comprises
the NT Police Force, NT Fire and Rescue Service,
NT Emergency Service and is supported by the
public service portfolio. The Commissioner of
Police and CEO of Fire and Emergency Services,
Mr Jamie Chalker APM (the Commissioner),
exercises CEO authority over all entities and has
primary responsibility for the day-to-day governance
of the NTPFES. The Commissioner reports directly to
the Minister for Police, Fire and Emergency Services,
The Hon Nicole Manison MLA. The NTPFES
provides police, fire, rescue and emergency services
to communities across the NT.

Pursuant to section 28 of the Public Sector Employment
Management Act 1993, the NTPFES must present a
report to the Minister on its operations within 3 months
from the end of the financial year, and it must contain:
•

functions and objectives of the agency

•

legislation administered

•

organisation overview, including number of
employees of each designation and any variation
in those numbers since the last report

•

operations,
initiatives
and
achievements
relating to planning, efficiency, effectiveness,
performance and service delivery to the
community

•

measures taken to ensure public sector principles
were upheld

•

management training and staff development
programs

•

occupational health and safety programs

With 46 police stations, one police beat,
2 multi‑jurisdictional facilities and 17 police
posts, 11 fire stations, 7 volunteer fire stations,
22 emergency volunteer units, 8 fire and emergency
response groups and 10 emergency response
groups, the NTPFES serves to protect the
community and ensure safety. Supported by the
divisions Media and Corporate Communications,
Legal and Strategic Policy, Risk Management
and Internal Audit, Governance and Business
Improvement and Business and Operational Support
Services, the NTPFES delivered a responsive
service to our community of more than 246,000[1]
Territorians.

•

financial statements prepared in accordance with
sections 11 and 13 of the Financial Management
Act 1995.

As at pay 26, 2020-21, the total number of full-time
equivalent personnel for the NTPFES was 2,373.
Refer to Part 4: Our people for a breakdown.

The NTPFES is committed to accountability and
transparency in our reporting to our community.
Feedback is welcomed on the annual report and can
be sent to: AnnualReport.NTPFES@pfes.nt.gov.au
[1] Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, 31, December 2020.
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Project 2030

Strategic

priorities
The 2 strategic priorities, and the enablers within, will allow Our People to Serve
and Protect Our Community, to achieve our vision of a Safe and Resilient NT.
PEOPLE

Develop, guide and value our people.
Live by a culture of ethics and integrity, focused on
a commitment to do what is right.

LEADERSHIP

At all mes, as an agency and at all levels within.

ETHICS

A culture focused on fairness, responsibility,
accountability, early intervenon, self-reflecon and
beer governance to improve our standards.

SERVICE ABOVE SELF

Do our best for the community we are serving.
Know our business and our role, commit to excellent
service at all mes.

CAPABILITY

Provide our people with appropriate workspaces,
tools and resources. Plan, lead, organise and control
to achieve our outcomes.

DYNAMIC

We must be flexible, innovave and recepve.

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

A workforce and culture reflecve of the community
we serve.

12
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Our
People
are the core of the NTPFES.
Together, we serve and
protect our community.

Ou r V is i o n

A Safe and
Resilient NT

Ou r Mi s s i o n

To Serve and Protect

CULTURAL COMPETENCE

We must understand community needs and expectaons to
deliver an engagement-focused, culturally and socially inclusive
service. Respect the importance of language in communicaon.

LOCAL UNDERSTANDING

Be integrated with the community to understand impacts and
prevent risks and harms. Develop and use local knowledge to
inform decision-making and drive local engagement.

Our
Community

RESILIENCE

Empower communies to develop and maintain the capacity
to recover from difficules. Prepare, prevent, plan and
cooperate to enable safety.

ENGAGEMENT

Appreciate and support the
rich and diverse
community we serve.

Producve and inclusive mutual engagement with our
community and stakeholders incorporang cultural
competence principles.

PARTNERSHIPS

Develop and maintain diverse and producve partnerships
to improve community safety and amenity.

TRUST

Build trust by maintaining respecul, collaborave
relaonships and knowing our vision and our mission.
Treat all how you wish to be treated.

NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21
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Our strategic
priorities for 2020-21

The NTPFES’ commitments in delivering on strategic priorities were achieved across the
6 agency outcomes set out in the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy, and are outlined below.

Safe and resilient communities through
partnerships, prevention and engagement
•

Providing people and community-focused services through
encouraging, understanding and considering community views.

•

Engaging in productive and inclusive mutual relationships with our
community and stakeholders.

•

Investing in regional and remote resource allocation reflective
of service demands and needs to ensure a stable, integrated and
permanent presence within communities.

•

Reducing harm caused on our roads by taking a holistic view of
the road system, encompassing education, road user behaviour,
technology and partnerships.

Improve social amenity
•

Integrating with the community by developing and utilising local
knowledge to understand impacts and prevent risks and harms.

•

Understanding community needs and expectations to deliver
engagement-focused, culturally and socially inclusive police,
fire and emergency services.

•

Prioritising local partnerships, prevention and engagement to
improve social outcomes for disengaged and at-risk youth.

•

Developing and maintaining diverse and productive partnerships to
improve community safety and amenity.

14
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Prevent, detect, investigate and prosecute
•

Developing and delivering interventions to at-risk victims and
families in partnership with other agencies and the community.

•

Providing high quality and professional investigative services to the
community, from all services and at all stages of an investigation.

•

Providing timely, relevant and strategic intelligence that enables
and directs our workforce to minimise harm in the community.

•

Connecting people, systems and information through the utilisation
and adoption of new technology, including SerPro, to increase the
efficiency and effectiveness of our operations.

Effective emergency and fire management
•

Empowering communities to develop and maintain the capacity to
recover from difficulties, including emergency events.

•

Maintaining safer communities through preparation, prevention,
planning and cooperation with flexibility, receptiveness and
innovation.

•

Protecting people, property, and the environment through a
flexible and adaptable community approach to meet the needs of a
changing environment.

•

Planning volunteer recruitment and selection strategies to meet the
needs of local communities.

NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21

15

Enhance culture, capability, and employee
and volunteer recruitment and retention
•

Recruiting Territory locals for ALO, police auxiliary liquor inspector
and constable positions across regional and remote areas.

•

Providing accessible and supportive services through a diverse and
inclusive workforce and culture reflective of the community.

•

Creating career development pathways for staff and volunteers.

•

Providing our community and our people at all levels with the
leadership and capabilities to plan, lead, organise and control
challenges and opportunities to achieve our outcomes.

Robust governance
•

Building trust by maintaining respectful, collaborative relationships
and commitment to excellent service and protection of our
community.

•

Focusing
on
fairness,
responsibility,
accountability,
early intervention, self-reflection and better governance to improve
our standards.

•

Continuously reviewing and improving policies, procedures and
emerging trends to provide efficient, relevant, appropriate and
contemporary services.

•

Developing, guiding and enabling our people to live by a culture of
ethics, integrity and a commitment to do what is right.

16
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Legislation and
reporting
In accordance with the NT Administrative Arrangements Order (No. 2)
2021, dated 27 May 2021, the NTPFES administers the following Acts
of the NT Legislative Assembly and subordinate legislation:
•

Child Protection (Offender Reporting and Registration) Act 2004

•

Criminal Property Forfeiture Act 2002 (Part 10A)

•

Emergency Management Act 2013

•

Fire and Emergency Act 1996

•

Firearms Act 1997

•

Police Administration Act 1978 (except Part III)

•

Police (Special Investigative and Other Powers) Act 2015

•

Telecommunications (Interception) Northern Territory Act 2001

•

Terrorism (Emergency Powers) Act 2003

•

Weapons Control Act 2001

•

Youth Justice Act 2005 (Part 3)

Performance reporting
The NT Government’s Financial Management and Accountability
Framework provides a basis for the budget using an accrual
output-based methodology for budgeting, accounting and
reporting, with performance reporting a central tenet.
The framework links NTPFES outputs, outcomes and key
performance indicators to the government’s strategic priorities.
This is particularly in relation to social initiatives, policies and
programs as part of our shared commitment to provide safe and
resilient communities through prevention and community education.
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Performance measures
The NTPFES’ performance is measured against quantity,
quality and timeliness, to ensure efficient and effective
services delivery. The output tables in Part 2: Organisational
performance, provide specific, measurable information relating
to our agency performance.

Output framework
Output groups

Outcomes

Output group 1

1.1 Community
Enhanced community safety
safety and crime
and resilience through crime
prevention
prevention and partnerships with
the community and stakeholders.

Community safety and
crime prevention
Output group 2
General policing, crime
detection, investigation
and prosecution
Output group 3
Road safety services
Output group 4
Fire prevention and
response management
Output group 5
Emergency services

Output group 6
Corporate and
shared services

18
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Outputs

Effective and efficient
response, investigation and
prosecution services.

2.1 Response services

An environment that
encourages road users to
behave safely and lawfully.

3.1 Road safety
services

The incidence and impact of
fire and other emergencies
are minimised.

4.1 Fire prevention
and response
management

Effective counter-disaster
planning and mitigation
measures to minimise the
impact of disaster and
hazards on Territorians.

5.1 Emergency
services

Improve organisational
performance through strategic
and governance leadership, the
provision of corporate services
functions, and effective internal
controls and improvements in
managing public resources.

6.1 Corporate and
governance

2.2 Investigations
2.3 Services to
judicial process

6.2 Shared services
received

Our executive team organisation chart

JAMIE
CHALKER APM
Commissioner of Police
and CEO of Fire
and Emergency
Services

TRAVIS
WURST

Chief of Staff,
Office of the
Commissioner
and CEO

MICHAEL
MURPHY APM

Deputy Commissioner
Territory Operations
and Road Safety

MICHAEL
HEBB

Assistant Commissioner
Greater Darwin, Road
Safety and Support

NARELLE
BEER PhD

Assistant Commissioner,
Regional and Remote
Operations

MURRAY
SMALPAGE APM
Deputy Commissioner
People, Crime
and Capability

NICK
ANTICICH APM

Assistant Commissioner
Crime, Intelligence
and Capability

MICHAEL
WHITE APM

Assistant Commissioner
People and Cultural
Reform and
COVID-19
Response

MARK
SPAIN AFSM
Chief Fire Officer
NT Fire and
Rescue Service

STEPHEN
SEWELL

Deputy
Chief Fire Officer
NT Fire and Rescue
Service

ANNETTE
TURNER DUGGAN

FLEUR
O’CONNOR

Chief Operating Officer
Business and Operational
Support Services

Director
NT Emergency Service

ROBERT
EVANS

Deputy Director
NT Emergency Service

JOSHUA
FISCHER

Assistant
Chief Fire Officer
NT Fire and Rescue
Service

KAREN
ELLIGETT

Executive Director
Community Resilience and
Engagement Command
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Governance reporting framework
Project 2030 includes our new Governance Reporting
Framework. The framework promotes and guides greater
governance and accountability across our agency.
The NT Government’s 2020-21 Budget Paper No. 3
incorporates detailed information about agency budget,
services, outputs and key deliverables. Each output
includes a series of key deliverables, with measures
established to enable the assessment of performance.
Organisational performance is reported on for
identified services over a financial year period.
This shows actual performance against the estimates
published in the Budget Paper No. 3 and provides
explanation of any significant variances, as well as
highlighting significant performance successes.

Key committees
NTPFES Board
The NTPFES Board allows the Commissioner,
as the accountable officer, to monitor our governance
and accountability processes against each portfolio,
through a consistent and transparent reporting
framework. Board meetings are held 3 times per year
and membership includes the Commissioner, and an
independent member to provide an impartial lens to
the process.
The purpose of the board is to provide clear guidance
to achieve NTPFES strategic goals as defined in
Budget Paper No. 3 and Project 2030 – Back to
Basics to Set our Future; provide strategic oversight
of agency portfolios, evaluate the performance
of the portfolios and direct the work of portfolios
with particular reference to finance, audit and risk,
workplace health and safety, legislation, policy and
procedures, strategies, portfolio performance over
the preceding period, future focus, technology and
compliance.
Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee provides independent
and objective advice and assistance to the
Commissioner and the executive on the effectiveness
of NTPFES risk, control and compliance frameworks.
The committee operates in accordance with the
Financial Management Act 1995 and provides
oversight to assist the executive fulfil their corporate
governance responsibilities, particularly in relation to
accountability arrangements, internal controls and
risk management.
20
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The committee also enables continuous improvement
across the agency and highlights areas for improvement
based on the evidence provided by audit review
outcomes.
The committee undertakes the following functions:
•

advises the Commissioner, as the accountable
officer, on matters of accountability and internal
control affecting operations of NTPFES

•

reports on the effectiveness of risk management,
internal control and compliance systems

•

monitors and assesses the performance of
internal and external audit functions

•

monitors the implementation of all approved
recommendations provided by internal and
external auditors.

The committee is chaired by the Deputy
Commissioner of Police People, Crime and
Capability, and meets quarterly.
Budget and Finance Committee
The Budget and Finance Committee provides
considered advice to the Commissioner. As the
agency’s advocate for Cabinet resource investment,
the committee interprets Cabinet Decisions for
implementation, oversight and evaluation of the
agency’s core business demands and strategic financial
considerations.
The committee is chaired by the Chief Operating
Officer, Business and Operational Support Services,
and meets quarterly.
Safety and Wellbeing Executive Committee
The Safety and Wellbeing Executive Committee
provides a forum for the improvement of workplace
safety and physical/mental health and wellbeing
and to support the agency’s obligations under work
health and safety (WHS) legislation. The committee is
chaired by the Chief Operating Officer, Business and
Operational Support Services, and meets quarterly.
The committee is responsible for the generation
and review of agency WHS policies, procedures and
guidance materials providing direction and support for
workers (including volunteers) on health, safety and
wellbeing matters. The committee is not responsible,
nor accountable for the WHS management at the
organisational unit level. This duty of care responsibility
remains with the respective organisational commands;
however, unresolved issues may be escalated to the
committee if/as required.

Strategic Governance and Project Committee
The Strategic Governance and Project Committee
provides a forum for advancing strategic operational
management decisions and governance related to
procurement, infrastructure and ICT areas of projects
and program management. The committee is chaired
by the Chief Operating Officer, Business and
Operational Support Services and meets monthly.
To
ensure
sound
procurement
practices,
the committee considers strategic procurement
policy issues, monitor and reviews implementation of
procurement audit findings, oversees procurement
complaints and reviews procurement key
performance indicators.
To ensure sound infrastructure practices,
the committee considers strategic infrastructure
policy issues, annual minor new works/repairs and
maintenance programs (for approval) and reviews
project progression reports tabled monthly.
To ensure sound ICT project practices in
conjunction with Department of Corporate and
Digital Development, the committee considers
emerging projects including high level project
feasibility analysis, business demands/requirements,
cost estimates, identification of executive sponsor
and supporting working groups.
Training and Assessment Advisory Committee
The Training and Assessment Advisory Committee is
the consultative body for the NTPFES’ training and
professional development matters. The purpose of
committee is to implement the Training and Education
Strategy, ensuring alignment with Project 2030, to:
•

advise and report to the NTPFES Board on
training, professional development, induction and
promotional matters taking into consideration
the strategic priorities and direction of the NT
Police Force

•

consult with the NT Police Association in
regards to training, professional development,
induction and promotional programs

•

provide oversight on matters arising from the
NTPFES College regarding programs, results,
training proposals or other related matters

•

provide oversight the implementation of high
level recommendations related to training

•

manage any other training related matters
referred to the committee.
NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21
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The committee is chaired by the Assistant
Commissioner People and Cultural Reform,
and meets quarterly.
Custody Steering Committee
The Custody Steering Committee was convened
to oversee all strategic and operational custodial
functions and processes. The NT Police Force is
committed to the provision of the highest levels of
care to all persons taken into police custody and to
all persons who interact with police in the conduct
of law enforcement duties. The purpose of the
committee is to implement the Custody Strategy,
ensuring alignment with Project 2030, to:
•

ensure proactive oversight, decision making and
management of emerging custodial issues and
events

•

provide awareness and advice to the NT Police
Force executive in regard to custodial practices
and incidents

•

review and oversight complaints against police as
arising via custodial events, including emerging
trend analysis

•

provide the reporting and decision making
requirements, to support the management of
Coronial matters arising via custodial practices
and processes

22
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•

review and evaluate the effectiveness of current
custody procedures

•

lead and implement continuous improvement
processes as they are identified for the processes
in custody practices.

The committee is chaired by the Assistant
Commissioner People and Cultural Reform,
and meets 6 times per year.
Diversity and
Inclusion
Strategy
Opportunities Steering Committee

Change

The Diversity and Inclusion Strategy Change
Opportunities Steering Committee provides for and
enables continuous improvement across the agency
to ensure the NTPFES provides a high quality service
to our community that aims to reflect the community
we serve and be accessible and supportive to all
people to provide the best possible outcomes.
Key priorities of the committee are:
1. Diversity
•

Educate our people and our community on the
benefits of a diverse workforce.

•

Ensure policies and practices promote diversity.

•

Collect and analyse workforce data to identify
risks, trends and opportunities to improve
retention of a diverse workforce. Celebrate and
promote diversity and inclusion in our community
and in the workplace.

•

Continue to develop tools and resources to
empower our workforce.

2. Inclusion
•

Implement measures that foster a culture of
acceptance, trust and inclusion.

•

Offer our people opportunities to increase
their cultural competency through awareness,
training and self-reflection.

•

Collect diversity and inclusion data to monitor
workforce satisfaction.

•

Educate our people and our community on the
benefits of an inclusive workforce.

The committee is chaired by the Commissioner,
and meets monthly.
Project 2030 Steering Committee
The Project 2030 Steering Committee provides a
forum to facilitate governance of Project 2030 –
Back to Basics to Set Our Future. The committee is
responsible for decision making, task allocation and
progression of work within their respective service
streams. This includes making resources available
as needed to achieve the project outputs and
outcomes. The committee is collectively responsible
for the progress and success of the program of work.

The committee is chaired by the Chief of Staff
for the Office of the Commissioner of Police and
CEO of Fire and Emergency Services, and meets
monthly.
Remote Policing Steering Committee
Regional and remote policing is the foundation
of policing in the NT. It is challenging, rewarding,
and plays an essential role in developing our people.
The purpose of the committee is to provide strategic
oversight of the implementation of the Regional and
Remote Policing Strategy, ensuring alignment with
Project 2030.
The
committee
focuses
on
consultation,
inclusion and engagement with local community
members and stakeholders through local decision
making processes. The committee members lead and
drive the implementation of the Regional and Remote
Police Strategy through evidence-based resource
allocation which reflects service demands.
The committee is chaired by the Assistant
Commissioner Regional and Remote Operations,
and meets monthly.
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NT Police Force
NT Police Force overview
Under the Police Administration Act 1978, the core functions of the NT Police Force are to:
•

uphold the law and maintain social order

•

protect life and property

•

prevent, detect, investigate and prosecute offences

•

manage road safety education and enforcement measures

•

manage the provision of services in emergencies.

The NT Police Force has been working to keep the Territory safe since 1870. The agency provides policing
services 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and includes police officers, police auxiliaries, police auxiliary
liquor inspectors, Aboriginal community police officers (ACPOs) and ALOs who work tirelessly to maintain
community safety and crime prevention.
As at 30 June 2021, the NT Police Force has a total of 64 police facilities, including 46 police stations across
the NT, and delivered a dynamic and responsive police service in 2020-21 under the structure on the
following page.
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NT Police Force organisational chart

JAMIE
CHALKER APM
Commissioner of Police
and CEO of Fire
and Emergency
Services

MURRAY
SMALPAGE APM
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and Capability

MICHAEL
MURPHY APM
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MICHAEL
HEBB
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Safety and Support

MATTHEW
HOLLAMBY

Commander
Darwin and Road
Policing Command

DAVID
PROCTOR APM
Commander, Territory
Communications and
Operational Support
Command
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CRAIG
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Commander
Northern Command
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NICK
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JOANNAH
LEE PhD
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NT Police Force localities

Milikapiti

Minjilang

Pirlangimpi
Warruwi
Wurrumiyanga

Milingimbi

Maningrida

Ramingining

Jabiru

Humpty Doo

Batchelor

Nhulunbuy

Gunbalanya

DARWIN
Palmerston

Galiwinku

Gapuwiyak

Adelaide River
Bulman

Daly River
Peppimenarti
Wadeye

Numbulwar

Maranboy

Katherine
Mataranka

Umbakumba

Alyangula

Pine Creek

Angurugu

Ngukurr
Miniyerri

Timber Creek

Borroloola
Yarralin
Robinson River

Kalkarindji

Elliott

Station
Post
Multi-jurisdiction facility

Nightcliff

Casuarina

Parap

Peter McAulay Centre

Darwin

Tennant Creek

Avon Downs

Palmerston

Ali Curung

Willowra

Humpty Doo

Alpurrurulam

Darwin and region inset

Yuendumu

Arlparra

Ti Tree

Nyirripi
Harts Range
Kintore

Haasts Bluff
Ntaria

Alice Springs
Ltyentye

Kaltukatjara
Warakurna
Approx. 98kms inside
the WA border

Imanpa
Yulara

Mutitjulu

Kulgera

Titjikala

Apatula
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Output group 1
Community safety and crime prevention

Output 1.1 community safety and crime prevention
This output group reports against 3 performance measures as outlined in Budget Paper No. 3, which are
focused on community safety and crime prevention, including:
•

capability-focused law enforcement operating through intelligence-led policing

•

targeting repeat offenders and crime hotspots

•

targeting the underlying drivers of crime, including drugs and alcohol

•

proactive strategies aimed at reducing opportunities and conditions for crime to occur

•

visible police patrols, crime prevention and education programs

•

fostering community partnerships with police

•

developing and testing plans to respond to threats and minimise their impact.

28
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Current Year

Previous Years

2020-21
Budget

2020-21
Actual

2019-20
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2017-18
Actual

Proportion of people who felt
safe at home alone at night1

≥ 80%

71.5%

76.5%

79.8%

80.2%

Proportion of people who
were satisfied in general
with police services1

≥ 80%

71.8%

75.9%

73.3%

75.3%

Proportion of people who
agreed that police perform
their job professionally1

≥ 85%

82.8%

83.2%

84.5%

81.0%

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

I

1

Source: National Survey of Community Satisfaction with Policing commissioned through the Australia New Zealand Policing
Advisor Agency.

NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21

29

Key achievements in 2020-21
Community engagement
The CREC was established in late 2020, through a
recognised need to strengthen partnerships with
Aboriginal Territorians both in the urban and remote
areas of the NT. The CREC consists of both civilian
and sworn officer roles with the Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander (ATSI) team forming part of
this command with a key focus on engagement,
mentoring and development of our ATSI staff across
the tri-service.
The CREC aims to foster a culture of shared decision
making, leadership and capacity building both
economically and socially, and the development of
employment opportunities and pathways for people
living in remote communities. The initial focus of
the CREC has been through the ATSIDU to recruit
and employ 30 required ALOs across all remote and
regional areas of the NT.
The recruitment of additional ALOs at both
Santa Teresa and Ti Tree amplifies the positive
outcomes achievable through crime prevention,
education programs and community partnerships
with police. The 2 additional ALOs support local
police officers in these locations to provide culturally
appropriate policing services underpinned by local
knowledge and linguistic skills. The Southern Desert
Division, which consists of 12 remote police stations,
recognises the enhanced capacity provided through
the employment of community nominated ALOs
and is committed to further expanding the current
3 ALOs to at least 6 over the next year.
The CREC has initiated work to establish formal
cultural protocols between remote Aboriginal
communities and the NT Police Force to foster
increased
engagement,
cultural
awareness,
respect and relationship building to enhance the
effectiveness of police operations. Bridging the
cultural gap between remote communities and the
NTPFES is an essential step in improving social
outcomes for all communities.
The CREC will further strengthen and develop
employment pathways and opportunities for
Aboriginal Territorians through the police, fire and
emergency services. This will include increasing
the volunteer base across remote Aboriginal
communities through engagement, awareness,
education and training. Using the local decision
30
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making principles, there is an opportunity for the
NTPFES to improve engagement and capacity
build with remote Aboriginal Territorians.
CREC will work with local residents to develop
long term employment and economic development
opportunities and increase capabilities within their
own communities.
The increased threat of major weather events
such as cyclones, flooding and bushfires highlights
the necessary focus on building resilience across
the Territory. Increasing resilience in Aboriginal
communities will empower those communities to
manage and take control of incidents within their
region in partnership with the NTPFES and other
key NT Government agencies.
Northern Command
Northern Command officers continue to focus
on target hardening and resilience buildings
activities which support crime prevention through
local decision making. These activities include
the adoption of mutual respect agreements
(police/community),
community
engagement
and education via participation in local authority
and community safety meetings. Mutual respect
agreements are being developed at many remote
locations with live agreements already in existence in
a number of communities including Ngukurr, Timber
Creek, Lajamanu, Maningrida and Nhulunbuy.
Recognising the importance of fostering a positive
and healthy relationship with our community,
police posted across Northern Command frequently
schedule and drive community safety meetings.
These meetings provide for and support open
and frank problem solving discussions between
police and our communities regarding local crime.
Police listen to our community whilst inviting advice
on culturally appropriate crime prevention and
community safety strategies. Community safety
plans and other shared police/community initiatives
such as the identification and targeted recruitment of
potential ALOs and the establishment of leadership
consultative forums emanate from these meetings
(e.g., Leadership Round Table concept is currently
under development at Wadeye).
Nhulunbuy police members have participated in
Yolngu cross cultural training, a significant step
towards achieving genuine engagement and
authenticity. These workshop will continue across
the command throughout 2021-22.

Northern Command developed a suite of school
holiday action plans which are remote community
nuanced and youth specific. These action plans
guide police engagement with youth in positive
non-confrontational settings during holiday periods.
The action plans compliment and support youth
activities organised by local councils and community
groups in remote settings.
Southern Command
Police operating within Southern Desert and
Barkly Division continue to work in partnership
with communities under the local decision making
principles to build community resilience and
facilitate community and family-led decision making.
In 2020-21, Tennant Creek and Barkly Division
officers built on already strong connections with
public safety partners through commitment to
multi-agency working groups, community meetings,
training delivery in schools, attendance at local
authority meetings and cultural engagement.
These actions continue to help police gain a better
understanding of our local community, to ensure an
active and engaging police service which strives to
meet community expectations.
The Tennant Creek team have been working closely
with Julalikari Council Aboriginal Corporation
Community Connectors who represent each of
the community living areas to enhance cultural
competence and engagement with Aboriginal
residents. In addition to participating and
supporting the Jurnkkurakurr Volunteers Program,
assistance and support is provided to help address
youth antisocial behaviours in and around the
Tennant Creek business precinct at night.
Barkly-based officers have been embracing local
decision making through attendance at local
authority meetings in order to foster greater cultural
understanding and empower residents to identify
their own community safety solutions.
Officers from Southern Command participated in a
range of community events including:
•

NAIDOC Week

•

Tennant Creek Primary School Concert

•

Anyinginyi Sport and Recreation Centre sporting
activities

•

Camooweal Rodeo and Races

•

Camooweal and Barkly Cricket Match (3 day event)

•

Avon Downs Cricket Day

•

Brunette Downs Races and Campdraft
(Operation Pepper)

•

Shit Box Rally – Barkly Homestead

•

Tennant Creek Races

•

Alpurrurulam Easter Festival and Christmas
Dinner

•

Anzac Day ceremonies

•

Australia Day ceremonies

•

Artali Arts Festival – Ali Curung

•

Ali Curung Film Festival

The Remote Interagency Tasking Coordination
Group (RITCG) for Southern Desert Division is
responsible for reviewing community safety action
plans developed in each remote community.
The objective of the RITCG is to enhance
remote area community safety service delivery
through shared responsibility, collaboration,
information sharing and accountability. The group
includes the Department of Territory Families,
Housing and Communities, MacDonnell Regional
Council, the Central Desert Regional Council,
the Department of Chief Minister and Cabinet,
National
Indigenous
Australians
Agency,
NT Emergency Service and Department of Health.
The RITCG is chaired by the NT Police Force.
The Southern Command continue to provide a
positive and effective leadership role in driving the
NT Government and community response to the
COVID-19 pandemic in the region. This engagement
includes preparation, planning and management
undertaken by the blended, multi-agency Southern
Incident Management Team. The team is led by the
NT Police Force and based in Alice Springs.
The NT Police Force provide ongoing resourcing
and operations at Alice Springs Airport
(Air Operations), as well as the Todd Quarantine
Facility. This capability continues to be enhanced
with the purchase of an additional 8 automatic
number plate recognition trailers to support border
control processes at remote border crossings.
Officers based at Yulara Police Station have provided
an ongoing COVID-19 Air Operations policing
presence and capability at the Yulara Airport.
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In 2020-21, there was a continued focus on cross
border cooperation between the NT Police Force and
the Queensland Police Service with shared policing
responsibilities on the NT and Queensland border.
Multi Agency Community and Child Safety Teams
In the Darwin and Road Policing Command,
police officers are actively engaged in Safe
Communities and Multi Agency Community
and Child Safety Teams (MACCST) community
engagement initiatives in both Darwin and
Palmerston, working collaboratively with an array
of community stakeholders developing and driving
community safety initiatives. The Safe Communities
forum addresses community safety considerations
from a broad perspective, whereas the MACCST
forum is specific to youth and family issues,
with representatives from a range of agencies
and non-government organisations including
the Department of the Chief Minister and
Cabinet, Department of Territory Families,
Housing and Communities, Department of
Education, Youth Outreach, Mission Australia,
YMCA and alcohol and other drugs treatment
providers. Each agency/organisation perspective
is considered and issues identified are collectively
addressed with all embracing the responsibility for
community safety.
The MACCST engagement occurs across a number
of Northern Command communities and provides
a coordinated approach to managing vulnerable
youth. Locations with current active meetings
and recent successes include Alyangula, Wadeye,
Borroloola, Maranboy, Maningrida, Nhulunbuy
and Wurrumiyanga. Wadeye and Borroloola,
in particular, have achieved meaningful reductions
in property offending and violent crime. Whilst still
in their infancy, additional MACCST are in the early
stages of development at additional locations such
as Timber Creek, Yarralin, Kalkarindji and Lajamanu.
Alice Springs Police, in partnership with Department
of Territory Families, Housing and Communities,
Department of Education and Department of
Health have initiated Operation Lunar, a MACCST
to intensively engage with youth who are at serious
high risk, particularly of entering the justice system.
Operation Lunar refers young people to appropriate
programs, encourages school attendance and
facilitates appropriate medical assessments being
conducted. This intensive case management
model is focused on registered youth, and their
32
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siblings and family units. The group’s objectives
are to reduce youth related antisocial behaviour
and crime through an intensive multi-agency
case management of high risk youth. There were
53 active youth clients registered under the
MACCST and 143 referrals were made to Operation
Lunar as at 30 June 2021.
Neighbourhood Watch NT
The NT Police Force continues its partnership
with Neighbourhood Watch NT (NHWNT) to help
Territorians stay secure, become more connected and
feel safer. NHWNT are committed to creating safer,
better connected and more inclusive communities
with a focus on the 2 key elements of connection
and education. Key successes for NHWNT during
2020‑21, include:
•

40% increase in NHWNT
(564 additional members).

membership

•

Launch of How Safe is My Place NT in collaboration
with Victims of Crime NT – a free online
assessment tool utilising crime prevention through
environmental design (September 2020).

•

Reached over 58,000 Territorians with the Stopping
Crime on Santa’s Time campaign (December 2020).

•

Development and launch of NHW 4 Kids,
which is an e-learning portal that aims to support
caregivers to improve children’s safety when
travelling independently in our community
(January 2021).

•

A national campaign entitled Physical distancing
shouldn’t be socially isolating commended
by Relationships Australia for the NHWNT
(March 2021).

•

Personal safety workshops delivered to over
220 Territorians.

•

An increase in NHWNT participation in the
Barkly region was realised with activity moving
from one event in the Barkly region during
the 2019-20 reporting period, to 7 in the
2020‑21 period. This is through the facilitation
of workshops, community engagement events
and a member increase of 26 new members in
the Barkly Region. A Barkly representative is
included on the NHWNT Board of Management.

•

Completed development of MyVault, a mobile
application to help store important information
about personal items and an interactive online
training modules for volunteers. Both are due to
launch in 2021-22.
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Crime prevention
Darwin and Road Policing Command
Community safety and crime prevention in the
Greater Darwin area is afforded the highest priority
across the command. Whilst COVID-19 has had an
impact, police operations have been maintained for
major events in Darwin throughout the reporting
period, including the V8 Supercars and major sporting
and entertainment events. Cyclic operations include
school holiday operations, our City Safe team and
regular policing presence at the Mindil Beach and
Palmerston Markets.
Northern Command
Remote officers, supported by specialist personnel
such as the Substance Abuse Intelligence Desk and
Northern Traffic Operations, frequently conduct
targeted operations to prevent the illegal incursion of
alcohol into alcohol protected areas. With the support
of Licensing NT, one such operation has recently
culminated with the imposition of licence variations
for hours of operation and upper limits to takeaway
liquor sales at the Larrimah Wayside Inn; a location
where it was identified a large portion of takeaway
sales was destined for vulnerable communities.
With a focus on community safety, local decision
making has seen licensees in the Borroloola region
drive liquor reform within their community setting.
Police have been instrumental in guiding and
supporting this process by bringing key community
leaders and agencies together to discuss the
development and implementation of a formalised
liquor accord. In Nhululnbuy, the Liquor Permit
Committee has been reinvigorated to better monitor
alcohol sales within the community and work in
conjunction with the Harmony Group to assess
permit restrictions.
Southern Command
The Alice Springs Division Alcohol Policing Unit
(APU) targets the secondary supply of alcohol
across Darwin and Alice Springs. This unit works
collaboratively with police auxiliary liquor inspectors.
The APU monitors and investigates unauthorised
supply of alcohol (licensees) to ensure compliance.
The APU, supported by locally based police
auxiliary liquor inspectors, continue to identify
problem drinkers and have collectively submitted
187 police referrals for the Banned Drinker Register
to the Banned Drinker Register Registrar which have
been successful, along with an additional 174 police
referrals being considered.
34
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The Banned Drinker Register is one of the tools
to tackle alcohol-related harm as a major driver of
crime and antisocial behaviour in our community.
The Banned Drinker Register aims to reduce
health-related harms associated with alcohol misuse
therapeutically by encouraging and supporting
people to access help.
SupportLink provides a centralised referral
management and early intervention service to
the NT Police Force. Police refer victims and
offenders to social support agencies as required.
During the reporting period Southern Command made
1,444 referrals.
In 2020-21, key Southern Command operations
included:
•

Several Tennant Creek operations focusing on
property crime, secondary alcohol supply and
road safety.

•

Secondary Alcohol Supply Operation conducted
in July 2020, jointly between Tennant Creek and
Alice Springs Division APU resources, utilising a
drone capability.

•

Operation Roland took place with Tennant
Creek and Barkly members participating in a
Territory-wide 3 week operation targeting road
safety during the Christmas school holiday
period.

•

Operation Jansen commenced in January 2021.
Tennant Creek and Barkly members participated
in a Territory-wide 5 week operation targeting
road safety.

•

Strike Force Viper Operation in March 2021
targeted youth property crime, resulting in the
arrest of 6 youth offenders for property related
crimes in and around Tennant Creek.

•

Operation Offberg took place in June 2021,
and targeted road safety across the division
including remote areas.

Territory Intelligence Division
The Territory Intelligence Division is responsible
for planning and directing the collection,
collation and analysis of information about potential
threats to community safety and organisational
security for the NTPFES. Intelligence is a crucial
element in supporting criminal investigations,
as well as the planning phases for both critical
incident response and emergency engagement.
Actionable intelligence provides guidance and advice

to investigators, incident controllers and operational
commanders through informing them of issues
that may affect an emergency service response or
criminal investigation. This can include, but is not
limited to, analysis of community atmospherics,
known or likely threats, personnel safety,
specific or overarching environmental hazards,
specific or emerging risks and target development
or criminal networking. Furthermore, as part
of the activities to support investigators,
incident controllers and operational commanders,
the Territory Intelligence Division provides
recommendations on how to counter or mitigate
threats to safety or the capacity and or capability
requirements to do so.
Territory Security Unit
The Territory Security Unit sits within the
Territory Intelligence Division and continues to
enhance community safety and preparedness
through
coordinating,
developing,
planning
and exercising both emergency management
and counter-terrorism response arrangements.
The unit has responsibility for security intelligence,
tactical intelligence support, major event planning
and the Territory Intelligence and Operations
Coordination Centre. The unit actively monitors
national and international indices to assess any
security risks or potential opportunities for criminal
activity that may affect the safety of our community
in the NT, providing regular demonstration
notifications and threat assessments, including the
provision of protective security advice and guidance
to stakeholders and owner/operators of crowded
places. The unit also provides support for the Web
Based Emergency Operations Centre (WebEOC)
across the NT. WebEOC is a web based system
that has been successfully integrated into the
NTPFES, the NT Government and non‑government
emergency management arrangements for critical
incidents, emergencies and natural disasters,
such as the NT response to COVID-19.
Territory Intelligence and Operations
Coordination Centre
The Territory Intelligence and Operations
Coordination Centre provides strategic intelligence
and coordinates information sharing amongst the
partner agencies, and responds to requests from the
NT Police Force executive, and can be designated for
specific incident/operation support.
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The Territory Intelligence
and
Operations
Coordination Centre, changed its name during
the reporting period from Territory Intelligence
Coordination Centre. This was done to better
reflect its future evolving operating model as a
whole‑of‑government approach to addressing
current and emerging community safety issues.
It remains a multi-agency intelligence unit
comprised of representatives from the Department
of Attorney‑General and Justice, Department of
Territory Families, Housing and Communities,
the Department of Education and NTPFES.
Along with the work on strategic products to assist
with the sale of liquor and alcohol floor pricing,
the centre commenced work on 24 community
profiles for the Department of Territory Families,
Housing and Communities MACCST initiative in late
2020, provided support for the setup and monitoring
of COVID-19 in the initial stages of the pandemic,
completed products relating to youth crime and
volatile substance abuse on school grounds, focusing
on declared volatile substance abuse management
areas, in conjunction with the Department of
Education.
Emergency Operations Centre
The Commissioner is the Territory Emergency
Controller responsible for controlling and directing
emergency operations in the NT. An emergency
operation refers to an activity to prevent, minimise,
prepare for and respond to an emergency event.
Under the leadership of the Territory Emergency
Controller, the Emergency Operations Centre (EOC)
continues to lead the NT emergency response to
the COVID-19 pandemic, ensuring the safety of our
community, as well as facilitating and supporting
the safe return of thousands of Australians stranded
overseas as a result of the pandemic.
The EOC manages, coordinates and reviews
taskings, critical decisions and objectives across a
24/7 response, supporting incident management
teams, functional groups, government and
non‑government agencies, businesses and industries.
There is continuous monitoring of the COVID-19
pandemic both nationally and internationally.
Any responses, changes or critical decisions are
evidence‑based according to expert medical advice
and best practises; which are recorded and reviewed
regularly.

36
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The EOC ensures government and non-government
agencies, businesses and industries are provided
the latest information to maintain understanding
and compliance requirements. The EOC manages
and coordinates the development of online systems and
forms, available to the public through the coronavirus
website for timely and effective communication.
Through the EOC, COVID-19 information is
communicated to Australian and international
audiencesintheformofmediaevents,publicstatements,
social media posts and NT Government websites.
The EOC, guided by the emergency management
principles of the Australasian Inter-Service Incident
Management System (AIIMS), has consistently
provided effective, efficient and timely outputs and
actions both at an operational and strategic level.
This has directly benefited Territorians and visitors to
the Territory, through the provision of a safe place
to work, live and visit. This has been the longest
ongoing emergency operation the Territory has ever
undertaken.
Through the coordination of this multi-agency
response to COVID-19, the EOC deployed a rapid
response team and activated the Remote Outbreak
Plan to control an outbreak of COVID-19 at a remote
mine site in June 2021. The EOC continued to
assist the Centre for Disease Control with contact
tracing, management at the pop-up testing clinic and
investigations into related matters.
Additional resources were deployed during the
declared lockdown of the Greater Darwin and Alice
Springs local government areas. The EOC’s collective
and coordinated efforts have seen the NT successfully
contain the effect of COVID-19 outbreak and saw
the Territory step out of the lockdowns after only
one week.
The depth and the breadth of EOC’s response
includes the implementation of projects, including:
•

COVID-19 vaccination rollout oversight

•

Seasonal Worker Program

•

planning for
repatriation

•

facilitating international pilots for the Asia Pacific
Aircraft Storage Facility in Alice Springs

•

continuous compliance with the Chief Health
Officer Directions and subsequent investigations
related to reported breaches

•

border control points at airports, highways,
sea/waterways and trains

Australian

Olympics

Team
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•

ongoing repatriation of Australians stranded
overseas as a result of pandemic

•

development
and
implementation
of
communication strategies and plans covering
topics such as the G2G Now application,
Stay Home Stay Safe, vaccination roll out,
contact tracing, Keeping Our Mob Safe and other
key events

•

development and maintenance of over
200 individual plans, ensuring contemporary
evidence-based practices are adopted across
the jurisdiction; this planning includes extensive
stakeholder engagement, ensuring plans are
robust, fit-for-purpose and well-practiced.

With overall management of operations at the
Howard Springs and Alice Springs quarantine
facilities, the EOC has been instrumental in the

38
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implementation of systems and procedures at
these facilities, recognised across the country
as the national benchmark for best practice.
Additionally, the EOC has overseen the safe
transfer of thousands of border arrivals by road,
air and sea to the quarantine facilities, ensuring the
safety of our community is maintained at all times.
Under the guidance of the EOC, the NT negotiated
with the Commonwealth Government to
establish the Provision of COVID-19 Quarantine
Arrangements at the NT Centre for National
Resilience for the Organised National Repatriation
of Australians Agreement (the Agreement).
The Agreement provides significant Commonwealth
funding to the NT (in excess of $500 million),
as well as ongoing employment for approximately
500 people at the Centre for National Resilience.

Regular engagement with regional and remote
communities through face-to-face preparedness
meetings, ensures strong collaborative contribution
and a better understanding of the actions to be
taken in the event of a community outbreak.
Over 50 communities have been visited across the
Territory, including the Tiwi Islands and Maningrida,
where personal protective equipment training
took place, as well as desktop exercises with local
emergency management committees.
A range of materials have been developed in
Aboriginal languages for effective communication,
animations, videos, posters delivered through
social media, radio, television, and on screens in
communities. Extensive liaison with local Aboriginal
peak organisations, councils, health organisations
and regional networks has ensured the effective
delivery of messaging and informed the appropriate
language process.

Liaison with the Office of Multicultural Affairs has
assisted us to deliver information about COVID-19
preparedness, travel requirements, Chief Health
Officer Directions, safety and vaccinations in more
than 10 languages appropriate to residents of the
NT. The EOC has developed videos and recordings
using key, respected spokespersons in the ethnic
communities to ensure high level uptake of our
messaging.
The deployment of technology across the jurisdiction
has enabled a contemporary response in an ever
changing environment, innovations have included
automatic number plate recognition trailers at NT
borders to capture all arrivals, and the G2G Now
application which has been developed and adapted
to NT conditions.
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Output group 2
General policing, crime detection,
investigation and prosecution

Output 2.1 response servicers
This output group reports against 2 performance
measures as outlined in Budget Paper No. 3,
which focus on our capacity to respond to requests
for assistance from our community, including:

•

increased capability and competence through
innovation and flexibility

•

call centre operations

•

response tasking and incident attendance

•

search and rescue operations.

Current Year

Previous Years

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2020-21
Budget

2020-21
Actual

2019-20
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2017-18
Actual

Proportion of 000 calls
answered within 10 seconds1

≥ 90%

89.3%

87.8%

90.6%

96.4%

Proportion of 131 444 calls
answered within 20 seconds1

≥ 80%

88.5%

88.5%

85.9%

92.2%

I

1
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Source: Data was extracted from Qmaster on 13 August 2021.
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Key achievements in 2020-21
Joint Emergency Services Communication Centre
In 2020-21, the Joint Emergency Services
Communication Centre (JESCC) was challenged
with an increase in calls for service, driven in part
by enquiries relating to the continuing COVID-19
pandemic. The JESCC received a total of 355,845
calls over the 12-month reporting period, an 11%
increase from the 2019-20 period. As part of
the NTPFES’ response to COVID-19, the JESCC
implemented its business continuity plan with the
establishment of a redundancy communications
centre at the old Nightcliff Police Station.
The successful establishment of this redundancy
minimised the risk to our frontline workers being
affected by COVID-19 and demonstrated the agility

and ability of the JESCC to adapt to demanding
circumstances. Over the past 12 months the
JESCC have embraced the key priorities of the
Technology Strategy and successfully implemented
and commenced a range of initiatives including
the integration of the Advanced Mobile Location
system. The Advanced Mobile Location system has
provided emergency call operators GPS coordinates
to the caller’s location when a triple zero call is made
from a mobile phone, enabling accurate and timely
responses in locating a person in distress.
To improve JESCC situational awareness and overall
member safety, there is now a dedicated Motorola
Universal Mapping monitor display set-up above the
JESCC Supervisor’s workstation, and a dedicated
monitor set-up for satellite push-to-talk mapping
display above the Remote Supervisor.
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Closed-circuit Television Unit
The Closed-circuit television (CCTV) system continues
to be an efficient and effective deterrent,
detection and investigative tool to prevent,
solve and reduce crime. There were 533 police
cameras across 219 sites, and 298 cameras across
91 sites from other agencies, totalling 831 cameras
across 310 sites. There are currently 20 mobile
CCTV units that are deployed across the NT,
at hotspot locations and major events to enhance
public safety, deter antisocial behaviour, identify and
assist in the prosecution of offenders, and enable
faster police response to developing incidents.

systems, counter remotely-piloted aircraft systems
and rural covert surveillance.
Water Police Unit
In 2020-21, the Water Police Unit responded to:
•

90 marine search and rescue operations which
included 42 beacon activations, 38 overdue
parties, 7 flare sightings and 3 life jacket proximity
alarms (life jacket alarms are used on commercial
vessels which activate when the jacket is too far
from the vessel)

•

53 marine incidents, including 4 marine accidents
that required investigation

In 2020-21, the CCTV Unit monitored and logged
7,576 incidents. Of these, 1,316 incidents were
proactively reported by the unit during live
monitoring of the cameras. The unit has received
and processed 1,205 requests to review footage for
investigation and prosecution purposes.

•

2 significant dive operations including a 2 day,
multiple dive body recovery from Ellery Big Hole.

Territory Response Group

Organisations include Canadian Holding Company
Helicopters (Royal Australian Air Force Base Tindal),
CareFlight, NT Emergency Service, Surf Life Saving
NT, Australian Volunteer Coast Guard and Charles
Darwin University.

The Territory Response Group provides specialist
capabilities to support frontline services and crime
investigation sections. This includes search and
rescue, bomb response, remotely-piloted aircraft
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Water Police Unit have continued to enhance
relationships with industry stakeholders through
training and engagement.

These organisations often provide search and rescue
assets of opportunity to assist when located close
to a vessel in distress, or assist in planned responses
when tasked by Water Police Unit.
Water Police Unit provided significant frontline
support in running both Minjilang and Warruwi
police stations. In addition, staff assisted with border
check point operations and support to Operation
Crown for international and interstate vessel arrivals.
Marine safety support was provided for a number
of public events including New Year’s Eve fireworks,
Darwin Harbour Clean-up, Splashfest and the
4x4 Camping and Boat Show. Several regular events
were cancelled due to the COVID-19 environment.
Continued support was provided to Junior Police
Rangers, NT Police Cadets, the Stars Foundation,
Clontarf, school groups and local fishing clubs,
as well as education and training in a reduced
capacity to the Sea Ranger Training Program.
In the COVID-19 environment, operational priorities
have reduced remote patrolling activities; however,
Water Police still provided patrol services to
Timber Creek, Daly River, Borroloola, King Ash Bay,

Wearyan River, Limmen Bight and numerous other
locations. While patrolling, members engage local
police officers, sea rangers, and school groups to
promote fisheries and marine safety compliance,
as well as conducting enforcement checks on both
the commercial and recreational sector.
NT Police Force Airwing
The NT Police Force Airwing is responsible for the
provision of aviation services in support of police
operation requirements. NT Police Force Airwing
assets include 3 Darwin based Pilatus PC-12 aircraft
and one Pilatus PC-12 aircraft based in Alice Springs.
The extended coverage of NT Police Force Airwing
to 24/7 in Darwin and 7 days in Alice Springs has
been used on many occassions to rapidly deploy
Police to meet operational requirements.
NT Police Force Airwing flew a total of
3,182 flight hours across the NT, which included the
transportation of 4,039 members, 878 prisoners,
705 passengers and 68 tonnes of freight.
The COVID-19 response portion of the total flight
hours saw 214 flights take place to various border
check points, 770 of the total flight hours. Airwing
has been one of the key assets providing extra
support in specific operations and the NT’s ongoing
COVID-19 response.

3,182

4,039

878

68 tonne

flight hours across the NT

members flown

prisioners flown

of freight flown
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Output group 2
General policing, crime detection,
investigation and prosecution

Output 2.2 investigations
This output group reports against one performance measure as outlined in Budget Paper No. 3,
which focuses on the policing activities undertaken to respond effectively to the crime environment, including:
•

partnering with stakeholders to provide the highest standard of service to victims

•

innovative and technology-led investigation services

•

effectively using intelligence to assist crime investigations

•

crime scene examination

•

crime investigations and forensics.
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Current Year
PERFORMANCE MEASURE
Proportion of people who
were satisfied with police in
their most recent contact1
I

1

Previous Years

2020-21
Budget

2020-21
Actual

2019-20
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2017-18
Actual

≥ 80%

82.7%

82.3%

81.5%

80.3%

Source: National Survey of Community Satisfaction with Policing commissioned through Australia New Zealand Policing
Advisory Agency.
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Key achievements in 2020-21
Crime Division
The Crime Division provides an investigative
response to serious and complex crimes across
the NT, and comprises a number of investigative
units often working together and in collaboration
with other internal and external stakeholders
to investigate crimes, apprehend and interview
offenders, support victims, prepare comprehensive
briefs of evidence for court, and work with the
Office of the Director for Public Prosecutions
through the court process.

Operation Grover is an investigation conducted
on behalf of the NT Coroner, examining the
circumstances of a death of a person who fled
from police in a vehicle which crashed during a
short pursuit by police. This is considered a death
in custody. The investigation involved detectives
experienced in homicide investigations and those
experienced in fatal crash investigations working
together with forensic specialists to analyse and
recreate the crash scene.

Detectives from the division are entrusted with
undertaking the most complex, sensitive and
significant investigations in the NT. Our detectives
have a high degree of capability to successfully
undertake criminal investigation referrals from the
NT Police Force Professional Standards Command
(PSC) and from the Independent Commissioner
Against Corruption.

Operation Giles was established in response to
the alleged stabbing death of a man in Karama and
the subsequent alleged serious assault of a woman
shortly after. The investigation resulted in the
prompt arrest of 2 men who were subsequently
charged with murder. The matter is currently before
the courts. The investigation involved a coordinated
approach of the management of a number of
large crime scenes. Major Crime Squad detectives
engaged with government departments to ensure
the community was supported, and in particular,
ensuring children were able to access schools
and bus services in a timely manner to minimise
disruption to the community. Media messaging also
assisted by promoting public safety and community
resilience.

Detectives
from
the
division
undertake
investigations into homicides, reportable deaths,
armed robberies, arson, serious assaults, crimes at
correctional facilities, life threatening incidents and
matters where there are threats to our community,
allegations of corruption, matters that are politically
sensitive, serious conflicts of interest and other
complex internal matters as referred by the
Commissioner.
Crime Division support the Coroner of the NT by
providing an investigative response to sudden or
unexpected deaths, and matters subject to coronial
inquest.
Crime Division operations
Operation Barker was commenced to investigate a
large scale violent dispute in the Nhulunbuy district
which resulted in the alleged stabbing death of a
17-year-old male. During the violent disturbance,
a number of other people were assaulted with
weapons resulting in serious injuries. A man was
charged with murder and several others with serious
offences. All matters remain before the courts.
In response, detectives travelled to and embedded
themselves into the community while undertaking
the investigation in collaboration with local police
and community members, as well as traditional
owners and elders. The relationships built during the
investigation continue to support the matter as it
progresses through the judicial process.
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Operation Belmont was initiated in response to an
alleged domestic homicide that occurred at the Jingili
Water Gardens in front of numerous bystanders.
Crime Division detectives took the lead working
alongside Forensic Pathology, the Department of
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics and multiple
police sections including Territory Response Group,
NTPFES College, Dog Operations Unit and general
duties. Detectives implemented a plan to maintain
the integrity of the scene, taking into consideration
the weather elements to ensure the quick arrest of
the offender who was initially still at large. A large
scale manhunt in the northern suburbs commenced
which successfully lead to the arrest of the
offender as he attempted to flee. The investigation
involved door-to-door community engagement,
a media communication strategy and engaging local
community leaders to assist. The matter remains
before the court.

Crime Division detectives led the response in
relation to a man exhibiting overt gratuitous racist
and violent ideology. His behaviour escalated
resulting in a number of serious and violent attacks
on members of our community. Detectives worked
with the Australian Federal Police and other partner
agencies to maintain community safety. The man
was subsequently arrested, charged and sentenced.
Detectives undertook an investigation into an
alleged serious assault of a man by a licensed
security officer at a Darwin nightclub. The injuries
sustained by the American serviceman were
life threatening and he continues to recover
from the incident. The resulting international
multi‑agency investigation between Naval Criminal
Investigation Service, Judge Advocate General’s
Corp, NT Licencing and NT Police Force resulted
in charges being laid against a club security
officer and a review of local licencing practices.
The matter is before the Supreme Court.
Detectives responded to and investigated an alleged
vicious assault in Darwin City, where a man was set
on by a group of people who assaulted him until he
was unconscious, stripped him naked and continued
to assault him until bystanders intervened.
Extensive avenues of enquiry were deployed to
identify all 6 offenders, who have subsequently
been charged and are currently before the court.
Special Reference Unit
The Special Reference Unit was created to
conduct investigations into complex matters
relating to allegations of high level corruption,
criminal offences, serious conflicts of interest and
internal matters that are of a sensitive nature.
The majority of investigations conducted by
the Special Reference Unit are matters referred
by government agencies, oversight bodies,
the Commissioner, Commissions including the
Independent Commissioner Against Corruption,
the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly or Cabinet
ministers.
Detectives from the unit have undertaken the:
•

ongoing investigation into the 2019 police
shooting death of Kumajayi Walker in Yuendumu
with the matter currently before the Supreme
Court

•

ongoing investigation into the alleged abuse
of office by the Children’s Commissioner;
the matter is currently before the court

•

investigation into an NT Police Force officer’s
alleged involvement in drug use and release of
confidential information resulting in the former
officer being charged and is currently before the
court.

Cold Case Taskforce
The Cold Case Taskforce operates in partnership
with the Australian Federal Police, other law
enforcement agencies and other stakeholders on
the National DNA Program for Unidentified and
Missing Persons. The NT has 161 long term missing
persons, including 66 unidentified human remains.
Recently the team successfully identified human
remains originally found in Darwin in March 1997.
Investigators were able to track familial DNA to
the family of the deceased confirming his identity.
The Cold Case Taskforce detectives have liaised
with family of the deceased and are returning the
remains to a place nominated by the family for
burial.
Major Crash Investigation Unit
The Major Crash Investigation Unit undertake
investigations into all complex or major crashes
in the NT such as those involving a fatality.
Detectives are specially trained in crash
investigations including scene examination and
crash reconstruction. Based in Darwin and Alice
Springs, officers provide a response across the NT.
In 2020-21, the team attended 76 crashes involving
fatalities or serious injuries. Most matters put before
the courts were resolved by way of plea with the
only contested matter resulting in a guilty verdict in
the Supreme Court. The Major Crash Investigation
Unit also provides technical support to other units
through the use of aerial drone photogrammetry,
terrestrial survey and CCTV analysis to calculate
variables including velocity, height and distance.
Regional Investigation Section operations
The Regional Investigation Section contributes
to the reduction of crime through its response to
serious and complex criminal matters across the
greater Alice Springs and remote service areas,
including Tennant Creek and Katherine. The section
includes investigative teams such as Serious Crime,
Domestic and Family Violence, the Joint Child Abuse
Taskforce, Drug Squad, Coronial Investigations and
the Fugitive Arrest Team.
Operation Poletti is an investigation into the
death of a woman who was standing outside the
NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21
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Alice Springs Hospital when she was allegedly
brutally run over by a motor vehicle causing her death.
The Regional Investigation Section took carriage
of the investigation, which resulted in the arrest of
the victim’s partner who was then charged with her
murder. Investigators obtained CCTV footage of the
victim and offender’s movements throughout the
hours leading up to the incident. Detectives from
the Major Crime Squad were then able to use the
CCTV footage to create a 3D crime scene video
depicting the incident. The case is currently before
the Supreme Court.
Operation Arion was initiated when Australia
Post contacted Tennant Creek Investigations and
reported that an unannounced audit of the Tennant
Creek Post Office had uncovered approximately
$107,000 in misappropriated funds. They reported
that based on a number of suspicious transactions
they suspected the licensee of the Tennant Creek
Post Office was involved in the misappropriation
of these funds. Through Operation Arion,
members obtained search warrants for information
from 27 bank accounts across 4 banking institutions.
Investigators identified several accounts into which
fraudulent transactions were receiving Australia Post
funds. Members conducted electronic surveillance
of the offender, who then made admissions.
Enquiries by members uncovered that the fraud was
more widespread than initially reported by Australia
Post and the total amount of money misappropriated
was over $445,700; most of this money has been
paid back.
Operation Whitney was established in April 2021,
in response to an alleged aggravated assault in Stuart,
where it was reported a 40-year-old man had hit a
50-year-old woman over the head with a metal pole
(baseball bat). After being transported to hospital
via St John Ambulance the woman’s condition
worsened and she was placed in a medically induced
coma and medivaced to Royal Adelaide Hospital.
The 40-year-old alleged offender was located,
arrested and charged, and remains on remand pending
the court case.
Northern Substance Abuse Intelligence Desk
In November 2020, the Northern Substance Abuse
Intelligence Desk initiated an investigation into a
man who had been trafficking commercial quantities
of cannabis to the NT from South Australia.
During the investigation, it was determined
that the man had been using a camper trailer
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with intricate concealment to transport cannabis between South Australia and the NT several times.
As the trailer was transported through Alice Springs, police narcotic detection dogs were deployed and
provided a conditioned response to the trailer, confirming the presence of prohibited drugs. The trailer
contained 151 pounds of cannabis with a street value of $906,000 in Darwin. A search warrant was
executed at an address in Darwin involving members from Northern Substance Abuse Intelligence Desk,
Drug and Organised Crime Squad, Dog Operations Unit and Australian Border Force. The man was arrested
and during the investigation, another man was placed before the courts for other drug offending.
In December 2020, the Northern Substance Abuse Intelligence Desk partnered with Northern Traffic
Operations, conducted target patrols to detect and deter illicit substances and alcohol being trafficked
into remote Indigenous communities in the vicinity of Mataranka and Larrimah. During these patrols,
police conducted a multitude of traffic apprehensions of vehicles travelling to and from licensed premises.
These apprehensions included:

1

3

23

13

arrest for

summons

traffic

liquor

drive high range/drive

including drive

infringement notices

infringement notices

unsafe motor

medium range and

were issued

were issued

vehicle/learner driver

driving disqualified

no licensed passenger

359 litres

total alcohol was seized and destroyed destined
for remote Indigenous communities

As a result of these patrols, police used powers under the Liquor Act 2019 and suspended the licensed
premises from trading for a period of 48 hours. An investigation was launched with Liquor Licensing,
which revealed the licensed premises had not been adhering to the Banned Drinker Register requirements
resulting in suspension from trading for an additional 3 days.
The NT Police Force and the Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade, worked cooperatively via Taskforce
Starlight on an enhanced response from police and stock inspectors, to pastoralists. In March 2021,
the NT Police Force and the Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade inspectors undertook a joint training
exercise involving members from both agencies, including detectives from across the NT. The future aim is
to enhance the recording of stock theft and killing, continue training opportunities, educate the workforce
and to develop joint operations. There has been an increase in incidents reported to the NT Police Force due
to stock inspectors encouraging the reporting of stock theft which has subsequently seen an increase of
service delivery to pastoralists. Since March 2021, there have been 10 cattle theft related incidents reported
to police, with 2 of these incidents involving the properties of Mistake Creek and Nenen Station, and have
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49

resulted in the recovery of hundreds of head of stolen
cattle and are currently being managed as serious
criminal investigations.
Operation Ronga was established in April 2021.
The Northern Substance Abuse Intelligence
Desk partnered with Dog Operations Unit and
were deployed to Nhulunbuy for a period of 6
weeks to detect and deter prohibited substances
being transported into the area. Screening
operations were carried out on all methods
of freight and transportation via air, land and
sea. During the operation, multiple search
warrants were executed with police disrupting
a hydroponic cannabis operation, illegal liquor
supply from a private residence (89 litres seized),
kava supply using Australia Post and multiple
cannabis seizures from passengers at the Nhulunbuy
Airport destined for surrounding communities.
Domestic Violence and Sex Crimes Division
The Domestic Violence and Sex Crimes Division
provides an integrated, victim-focused response
to serious and complex, domestic, family and
sexual violence. The division includes the
Domestic and Family Violence Section and
Sex Crimes Section, which is responsible for
investigating serious and complex sexual and
physical assaults, extortion, stalking or forms of
abuse enabled by technology where there may be
a serious criminal element. The police response is
victim-focused with the safety of victims and
children first and foremost in their response.
The Joint Child Abuse Taskforce is a
combination of personnel from NT Police Force,
Australian Federal Police and Department of
Territory Families, Housing and Communities,
who adopt a collaborative approach to advance
public safety objectives to minimise community
harm associated with child abuse. This strong
partnering undertakes investigations into child
abuse and associated criminality in our community.
The Australian Federal Police and NT Police
Force investigative response and capability also
includes the Joint Anti Child Exploitation Team,
which investigates the exploitation of children
online. At times the NT Police Force are also
involved in nationally coordinated operations.
The Domestic Violence and Sex Crimes Division
worked with Australia New Zealand Policing
Advisory Agency and other jurisdictions on the
development of the Policing Strategy to Prevent and
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Respond to the Abuse of Children and Young People,
through Operation Griffin. Jurisdictions exchanged
information on initiatives, legislation and operational
outcomes which focused on child protection.
Closer to home, the division has been active
with stakeholder engagement, working towards
Action Plan 1 of the NT Government’s Domestic,
Family and Sexual Violence Prevention Framework
2018-28.
Operation May is an NT Police Force-led,
joint investigation with Australian Federal Police
targeting offenders in the NT who use online accounts
and carriage services to commit Commonwealth
offences in relation to children. Intelligence from
the operation generated referrals to the Australian
Federal Police, Australian Centre to Counter Child
Exploitation and Queensland and Western Australia
Police. Operation May was initiated from a police
investigation where an offender was identified to be
distributing child abuse material. Intelligence gleaned
from examination of his online account identified
the offenders, with 18 search warrants executed,
11 offenders arrested and 39 charges laid.
Operation Gilbert involves police and community
engagement, focusing on sex offences against
children. A focus on engagement with health,
Night Patrol, schools, Indigenous elders and any other
parties who were identified as being able to assist
in the reduction of sex offending against children.
The operation improved community confidence in
police, increased reporting of sex crimes against
children to authorities, maintained observation of
convicted child sex offenders in communities and saw
greater intelligence gathering and sharing to identify
and prosecute child sex offenders.
The Family Safety Framework is operationally
coordinated by police to assist victims in high‑risk
domestic violence situations and is active in Darwin,
Katherine, Nhulunbuy, Tennant Creek, Alice Springs
and Yuendumu. The Family Safety Framework is
a partnership between multiple government and
non-government agencies with the primary role
to assist high-risk victims and their children in
need of support, and to reduce the risk of serious
harm. The Department of Territory Families,
Housing and Communities fund 4 positions to
support the coordination of the Family Safety
Framework. The NT Police Force is working closely
with government and community stakeholders to
develop a risk assessment framework which meets

the needs of Territorians. This includes a toolkit for
stakeholders, to assist them in helping clients make
appropriate safety plans for themselves and their
families. In some instances, this will link directly into
the Family Safety Framework and assist stakeholders
with victim-focused case management strategies.
The Yuendumu Family Safety Framework delivers
on the mandate of providing an action-based,
integrated service to families experiencing domestic
and family violence who are at high-risk of injury or
death.

Trident primarily targets youth offending and
property crime, which is achieved through a
combination of proactive, preventative and reactive
operations, focusing on developing resilience within
our community to prevent criminal offending,
and to respond to incidents through an
evidence-based investigations and prosecutions
model. Trident have forged partnerships with other
service providers including Department of Territory
Families, Housing and Communities and Youth
Outreach engagement officers.

Strike Force Trident

During 2020-21, a team of officers from Trident
spent several months in Alice Springs to assist in
the establishment of Strike Force Viper (Viper).
This team is modelled on the success of Trident.

Strike Force Trident (Trident) is an investigation
unit primarily targeting property offences,
including
unlawful
entries,
stolen
motor
vehicles
and robberies;
specifically those
committed by youth offenders. All reported
unlawful entries in the Greater Darwin region
are reviewed by Trident to ensure minimum
response standards have been met. The unit
is proactive in monitoring recidivist offenders,
including through engagement by checking bail
compliance and monitoring prison releases of
known targets.

In the past 12 months Trident have submitted
767 prosecution files, 62% of these relating to youth
offenders. A 3-month operation into an increase
in youth-related crime throughout the northern
suburbs of Darwin, resulted in identifying 37 youth
offenders, with 198 prosecution files submitted
(forms part of the 767 total mentioned above).
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Southern Command
Viper has responsibility for investigating volume
property crime within the Greater Alice Springs area,
including assisting the Tennant Creek and Barkly
Division. Viper was established on 14 October
2020 and has close working relationships with
Department of Territory Families, Housing and
Communities and non-government organisations,
and apply proactive and reactive policing with
covert methodologies to investigate property
crime. Members of Viper are highly trained
investigators with the majority of the unit being
detective qualified. Since it was established
Viper have recorded 307 arrests, 277 summons,
60 youth diversions, 35 warrant executions and
59 youth-related breach of bails.
Alice Springs Police continue to use an
intelligence-based approach to ensure offender
management through appropriate bail compliance.
This occurs with the Territory Intelligence Team
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reviewing all current bailees and mapping out
specific bail compliance timings known as triggered
events, which are then managed during the
shift via the southern watch commanders on a
shift-by-shift basis. This has not only seen an
increase in bail compliance checks, but also an
anecdotal decrease in reoffending whilst on bail.
Southern Desert Division Tasking and Coordination
Group weekly meetings are led by the provision of
timely intelligence from the Territory Intelligence
Division. This information readily identifies any
crime trends pertaining to property crime and
offences against the person.
Forensic Science Branch
The Forensic Science Branch works closely with
frontline services to provide scientific and technical
support to the NT Police Force. This was achieved
through the deployment of members located in
Darwin, Katherine and Alice Springs, with support
from the scientific facilities (biology, chemistry and

ballistics) located in Darwin. This financial year had
a strong focus on commencing the implementation
of the 2020 Forensic Review recommendations.
The review, which includes 41 recommendations,
provides a roadmap to strategically position the
Forensic Science Branch towards enhancing our
service capabilities and meet future forensic
demands. Implementation of a number of
recommendations relating to strategic direction and
performance metrics have been achieved.
The Katherine Crime Scene Unit achieved national
accreditation bringing it into line with the rest of the
Forensic Science Branch. The accreditation of this
unit represents a major step forward in the forensic
service provided to the Katherine and surrounding
community.
The triage approach for property crime with respect
to DNA continued to provide crucial leads to
investigators in the early stages of investigations
and halt recidivist offending. Fingerprint evidence
remains a critical element. A triage approach is likely
to be expanded to all crime types in the coming
financial year leading to additional operational
benefits.

A major project relating to the reconciliation of
skeletal remains to long term missing persons
utilising DNA profiling has resulted in the creation of
a large number of investigations. Familial and kinship
matching recently made available via the National
DNA Databases has been successfully used as part
of the identification process.
In 2020-21, the Digital Forensic Unit completed
339 forensic examination cases involving
the analysis of over 1,000 individual devices.
The analysis of the devices have assisted major
criminal investigations for Major Crime, Drug and
Organised Crime Squad, sexual crimes, major frauds
and domestic and family violence. The bulk of the
Digital Forensic Unit support is with the Joint Child
Abuse Taskforce and the Australian Federal Police
and NT Police Force Joint Anti Child Exploitation
Team involving the identification of child abuse
material. The Digital Forensic Unit continue to
support general duties police with other general
policing analysis requests. The Digital Forensic Unit
had a significant involvement during Operation May
in conjunction with the Joint Anti Child Exploitation
Team to identify and apprehend offenders operating
within a child sex ring.
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Joint Organised Crime Taskforce
The Joint Organised Crime Taskforce is an NT Police Force-led, joint-agency team comprised of investigators
and analysts from the Drug and Organised Crime Squad, Australian Federal Police, Australian Border Force,
Australian Criminal Intelligence Commission and Department of Home Affairs.
The Joint Organised Crime Taskforce focuses on criminal networks responsible for cross-border drug
importation. Operation Sturn, the investigation into a Darwin-based criminal network involved the seizure of
commercial quantities of cannabis sourced from interstate and sent to the Territory via Australia Post Express.
Investigators intercepted 45kg of cannabis in 3 different boxes. As part of the investigation a further
2 packages containing $261,850 in cash were also intercepted believed to be the proceeds of the
supply of drugs. As a result of the seizure a 32-year-old man was arrested.
Gangs Taskforce
The Gangs Taskforce focuses on identifying, engaging, disrupting and dismantling outlaw motorcycle gangs in
the NT. Operation Hossack was established to target Hells Angels associates distributing methamphetamine
to the Darwin community. This operation concluded with a national day of action involving law enforcement
agencies in each state and territory. The operation resulted in the arrest of 3 offenders and the seizure of
330gm of methamphetamine, 1kg of cannabis, 5 firearms and a vehicle.
Taskforce Nemesis
Taskforce Nemesis focuses on investigations into the manufacture, supply and distribution of drugs
throughout the Territory. The Taskforce Nemesis team conducted several operations in 2020-21,
targeting local and interstate criminal networks responsible for the supply of dangerous drugs primarily
throughout the Greater Darwin region.

Operation Medina
Operation Medina was a 12-month operation investigating a large criminal syndicate involved in the
distribution of large scale supply of cannabis throughout the NT. The cannabis was identified as being
transported to Darwin from interstate. At the conclusion of the operation, 14 people involved in the criminal
network were arrested and the following was seized:

131 kilograms

56 grams

$1,954,500

of cannabis

of cocaine

cash
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Asset Forfeiture Unit
The Asset Forfeiture Unit focuses on the investigation and forfeiture of unexplained wealth and
crime‑used, crime‑derived property. The total value for confiscated property in 2020-21 was:

approximately

approximately

$2 million

$2.5 million

forfeited to NT Government

in assets related to matters currently before the court
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Output group 2
General policing, crime detection,
investigation and prosecution

Output 2.3 services to the judicial process
This output group reports against 2 performance measure as outlined in Budget Paper No. 3, which focus on
a range of activities that address services to the judicial process, including:
•

providing and supporting prosecution services

•

court case and evidence presentation

•

bail processing and reporting

•

support to the Coroner

•

custody and transport of people

•

care and protection of victims and witnesses

•

diversion of juveniles from the criminal justice system.

56

NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21

Current Year

Previous Years

2020-21
Budget

2020-21
Actual

2019-20
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2017-18
Actual

Youth diversions as a proportion of
youth diversion considerations1,2,3,4

≥ 30%

33.4%

42.9%

44.8%

49.6%

Rate of reoffending after youth
justice conferences1,2,3,4,5,6,7

≤ 20%

31.0%6

40.8%6

40.8%

36.4%

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

I

1

Source: Data was extracted from the Police Real-time Online Management Information System (PROMIS) and the
Integrated Justice Information System (IJIS) on 16 August 2021.

2

Only youths aged 10-17 at the start of the youth diversion event were included in the analysis.

3

Data published in previous years has been updated due to changes in the selection criteria.

4

Youths diverted as a proportion of youth considerations was measured – the count is not of youth offenders.

5

Completions are counted as an instance of a youth completing all current conference requirements, without pending conferences.

6

Numbers for 2020-21 are preliminary, as individuals who completed conferences less than one year prior to the analysis date
(16 August 2021) were excluded from the analysis.

7

Reoffending is defined as being apprehended for a new offence that was committed within one year after completing conference
requirements.
NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21

57

Key achievements in 2020-21
The Youth Engagement and Judicial Services
Division is responsible for oversighting judicial
operations, facilitating diversion for eligible youths
and youth engagement through the School Based
Policing Program. The Youth Engagement and
Judicial Services Division has a strong focus on
prosecuting offenders and engagement with victims
of crime, witnesses and police officers required to
give evidence through the court process.
Judicial services
The Judicial Operations Section is responsible for
judicial services, prosecution policy and liaison with
the Office of the Director for Public Prosecutions.
Following regionalisation in 2020, the NT Police
Force teams in Alice Springs, Tennant Creek
and Katherine regions oversee their respective
prosecution functions.
The Judicial Operations Section provides advice,
support and direction between frontline members
and the Office of the Director for Public Prosecutions.
Regional police prosecution teams conduct bail and
arrest matters and liaise with other government and
non-government agencies involved in the judicial
process. The 2020-21, prosecution outcomes
include:
•

number of fresh prosecution files: 19,604

•

number of contested hearing matters: 2,654

•

total percentage of findings of guilt by courts for
prosecution matters: 93.30%

Significant Judicial Operations Section outcomes for
2020-21, include the:
•

signing of a service level agreement with the
Office of the Director for Public Prosecutions

•

electronic sharing of audio and visual files with
Office of the Director for Public Prosecutions

•

establishment of a committee comprising NT
Police Force and Office of the Director for
Public Prosecutions representatives to review
unsuccessful prosecutions. The committee
makes recommendations to the NT Police
Force and Office of the Director for Public
Prosecutions, with a view to improving business
practices and service delivery.
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Youth Diversion Unit
The youth diversion units manage and facilitate
diversion for eligible youths aged 10 or above
who are alleged to have offended. The youth
diversion units based in Darwin, Katherine and
Alice Springs work closely with government
agencies and non-government organisations.
In collaboration with Department of the
Attorney‑General and Justice, Department of
Territory Families, Housing and Communities,
the, and other stakeholders, the youth
diversion units ensures that all policies,
practice and procedures support the practical
application of legislative amendments to the
Youth Justice Act 2005. The legislative amendments
introduced in 2021 made significant changes
relating to the bail of youths in custody.
A rewrite of existing youth-related policies,
including diversion, and training packages
occurred
during
2020-21.
Key
systems,
processes and procedures were reviewed and
continue to be reviewed to ensure compliance with
the amendments. The agency continues to work in
partnership with Department of Territory Families,
Housing and Communities and the Department
of Education to maximise benefits of the Back on
Track Program for 8-17 year old youths. The youth
diversion units’ members continue to co-locate
with Department of Territory Families, Housing and
Communities ensuring a collaborative approach to
achieve the best outcomes for youth.
The youth diversion units work towards disrupting
the cycle of youth offending through early
intervention, reducing recidivism, ensuring victims’
experiences are heard through the restorative
justice process and a continued collaboration with
other service providers to provide an effective
response to youth offending. Youth diversion
achievements include:
•

In 2020-21 for youths aged 10-17 at the
time diversion began, there were 1,907 youth
diversion considerations involving 914 individual
youths.

•

Of these, 494 diversion considerations resulted
in activities (conferences, warnings and drug
diversions), which involved 437 individuals.

•

112 of the youth diversion considerations,
involving 51 individuals, were referrals from
court.

•

There were 401 individuals found ineligible for youth diversion on 1,226 occasions and referred to
court.

•

There were 143 youth event considerations, involving 134 individuals that were still current at the date
of preparation; these are either being dealt with by diversion but had not been finalised or were pending
assessment or referral to court.

•

There were 1,270 youth diversion considerations, involving 423 individuals that resulted in the youth
declining diversion or being denied diversion.

Youth justice conferences
There were 102 youth justice conferences completed in 2020-21. There were 137 youths that attended at
least one conference, 96 of which completed in 2020-21.
Completions, returns and reoffending rate
The below table shows the number of youths completing conferencing by financial year, the number of those
returning within 6 or 12 months of completion, and the rate of reoffending. The number of completions in
2020-21 only includes those who had completed conferencing requirements at least 6 months (n = 192)
or at least 12 months (n = 42) prior to the analysis date (25 August 2021). Hence, the reoffending rates for
2020-21 should be considered preliminary, as not all youths completing a conference in that year have been
included.
As mentioned above, there were 143 youth event considerations, involving 134 individuals that were still
current at the date of preparation, if this figure were added to the 192 completions (326) this would bring the
2020-21 figures more in line with previous years. Management of youth diversion service provider contracts
was taken over by the Department of Territory Families, Housing and Communities in April 2020, and the
new service provider, currently has a large waitlist due to staffing levels which has resulted in a significant
number of young people pending on waitlists. This has delayed the NT Police Force process for conferences.
Some of the young people currently on the waitlist were referred in previous financial years and are still
awaiting conference.
Within 6 Months of Completion
Financial Year

Within 12 Months of Completion

Completions

Returns

Rate

Completions

Returns

Rate

2016-17

388

93

24%

388

141

36%

2017-18

330

83

25%

330

120

36%

2018-19

277

82

30%

277

113

41%

2019-20

341

93

27%

341

139

41%

2020-21

1921

49

26%

42

13

31%

I

1

This year completion figure does not correspond with the total figure for 6-month follow up reoffending after conference as one youth
had 2 conference completions with only one 6-month follow up.

Number of unique individuals completing conferences and returning
Some individuals completed more than one instance of conferencing during a financial year. The following
table shows the number of unique individuals completing and the number returning in each financial year.
Numbers are not added across years as some individuals complete conferences in more than one year.
As outlined above there has been delays this reporting period with the NT Police Force’s ability to process
referred youth through to their conferences. As shown in the following table, while the completion figures
are lower, the reoffending rates for youths who have completed conferences remain relatively steady.
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Within 6 Months of Completion
Financial Year

Within 12 Months of Completion

Completions

Returns

Rate

Completions

Returns

Rate

2016-17

370

91

25%

370

138

37%

2017-18

321

80

25%

321

114

36%

2018-19

259

78

30%

259

109

42%

2019-20

335

91

27%

335

135

40%

2020-21

168

43

26%

39

12

31%

Number of youth justice conferences started in 2020-21
The below table shows the number of conferences started for youths aged 10-17 who began one or more
conference diversions in 2020-21.
Number of Conferences

Total Individuals

Total Conferences

1

127 (93%)

127 (80%)

2

6 (4%)

12 (8%)

3

1 (1%)

3 (2%)

4

2 (1%)

8 (5%)

9

1 (1%)

9 (6%)

137 (100%)

159 (100%)

Total

During 2020-21, there were 159 youth justice conferences started for 137 individual youths aged 10-17.
In some cases, multiple conferences were started for the same individual on the same or nearby dates,
so having multiple conferences is not necessarily indicative of reoffending.
There were 127 individuals with a single conference started (representing 93% of individuals and 80% of
conferences), 6 individuals with 2 conferences started (representing 4% of individuals and 8% of conferences),
one individual with 3 conferences started (1% of individuals and 2% of conferences), 2 individuals with
4 conferences started (1% of individuals and 5% of conferences) and one individual with 9 conferences
started (1% of individuals and 6% of conferences).
Reoffending after a conference
6 Month Follow Up

Percent

12 Month Follow Up

Percent

Did not reoffend

143

74%

29

69%

Reoffended once

4

2%

0

0%

Reoffended twice

21

11%

2

5%

Reoffended ≥3 times

23

12%

11

26%

191

100%

42

100%

Total
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Output group 3
Road safety services

Output 3.1 road safety services
This output group reports against 4 performance measure as outlined in Budget Paper No. 3, which focuses
on a range of activities that address road safety services, including:
•

providing education and enforcement activities to improve road user behaviour, safety and compliance
with road laws and reduce road trauma

•

responding to motor vehicle accidents

•

undertaking adequate investigations and reporting to the Coroner and other relevant stakeholders.
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Current Year

Previous Years

2020-21
Budget

2020-21
Actual

2019-20
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2017-18
Actual

≥ 159 000

97,948

139,850

142,948

164,646

Proportion of people who had
driven in the previous 6 months
when possibly over the alcohol limit2

≤ 10%

8.5%

9.1%

12.4%

11.0%

Proportion of people who had driven
in the previous 6 months more than
10km/h above the speed limit2

≤ 60%

67.3%

65.8%

64.8%

64.9%

Road deaths per 100,000
registered vehicles3

≤ 22.9

22.7

19.3

22.9

25.8

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
Drivers breath tested1

I

1

Source: Alcolizer Database, 2020-21 data was extracted on 12 August 2021.

2

Source: National Survey of Community Satisfaction with Policing commissioned through Australia New Zealand Policing
Advisory Agency.

3

Source: Australian Road Deaths Database
Motor Vehicle Census, Cat. No. 9309.0, Canberra.

at

www.bitre.gov.au;

Australian

Bureau

of

Statistics

(various
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Key achievements in 2020-21
The Darwin and Road Policing Command actively continued to deliver on the NT
Government partnership Towards Zero Road Safety Action Plan. During the reporting
period the command enacted strategies that aligned with the Towards Zero Road
Safety Action Plan and the Road Safety Strategy contained in Project 2030.
The concepts of safer road user behaviour, education, technology, partnerships,
as well as evaluation and innovation were used as pillars to support and direct
both operational and on-ground strategies to drive down numbers of lives lost
on NT roads. The causal factors of fatal and serious injury during the reporting
period remained constant, and are reflected in the Darwin and Road Policing
Command and NTPFES education platform focusing on the Fatal Five – speeding,
intoxication, distraction, fatigue and seat belts. Fatal and serious injury make up
70% of crashes which occurred on rural and remote roads. In response, the Darwin
and Road Policing Command (along with Northern and Southern Traffic Operations
in Katherine and Alice Springs) maintained an increased footprint in these areas of
the NT.
The road policing component of the Darwin and Road Policing Command
continued to be heavily invested in the whole-of-government COVID-19 response.
Its members significantly contributed to border policing services while
simultaneously achieving set-out objectives in line with their core functions
and concurrent with road safety education initiatives. Due to the COVID-19
restrictions being in place, large scale random breath testing did not occur for a
period of time and resources were utilised for the COVID-19 response during this
period.
Long-range, rural and remote traffic patrols on major highways in the NT were
conducted during the reporting period. Plans exist to increase the number and
extent of these patrols due to the positive reception of greater specialist road
policing presence in our communities, and of the educational benefits to all NT
motorists reported back through representatives of those communities across the
Territory.
During the previous reporting period, the Road Policing and Regional Support
Command was restructured. Resources not in the Greater Darwin area were placed
under the administration of Northern and Southern Command management,
but remain in alignment in terms of governance, policy and our organisational
goals.
Further key road policing achievements during the reporting period include:
•

response to large public events and community activities where specialist road
policing support was requested

•

continued partnership with the Northern Substance Abuse Intelligence Desk,
in recognition that a significant proportion of criminal activity in the NT
is facilitated by the use of motor vehicles; plans also exist to increase partner
activities with other specialist units including the Gangs Taskforce, as well as
other cross-border initiatives

•

investment in next generation technology to increase efficiency and
effectiveness in achieving the organisational outcomes listed in Project 2030.
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NT Fire and Rescue Service
NT Fire and Rescue Service overview
The Fire and Emergency Act 1996 establishes the NT Fire and Rescue Service to protect life, property and the
environment against fires and other emergency incidents. The operational and emergency response roles of
NT Fire and Rescue Service includes:
•

respond to all incidents in an emergency response area

•

respond to all hazardous material incidents and transport accident rescues, wherever occurring,
in the Territory

•

respond to other incidents outside an emergency response area when requested and the response
is within the resources and capabilities of the NT Fire and Rescue Service
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•

investigate the cause of a fire anywhere in the Territory

•

undertake hazard reduction activities

•

conduct training courses in relation to any aspect of fire safety

•

conduct community education and awareness programs relating to fire safety and prevention

•

develop and administer programs designed to promote safety in building structures.

In 2020-21, the NT Fire and Rescue Service responded to 8,977 fire and emergency incidents.
Operating from 27 locations, the NT Fire and Rescue Service provides a 24 hour emergency response
service. The major centres of Darwin, Palmerston and Alice Springs are serviced with career firefighters,
while fire stations located in the regional centres of Katherine, Tennant Creek, Nhulunbuy, Jabiru and Yulara
are serviced by career, auxiliary and volunteer firefighters. There are 8 fire and emergency response groups
and 7 volunteer fire brigades consisting of 297 registered volunteers, providing coverage to rural and remote
locations throughout the NT.
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NT Fire and Rescue Service organisation chart

JAMIE
CHALKER APM
Commissioner of Police
and CEO of Fire
and Emergency
Services

MARK
SPAIN AFSM
Chief Fire Officer
NT Fire and
Rescue Service

STEPHEN
SEWELL

Deputy
Chief Fire Officer
NT Fire and
Rescue Service
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JOSHUA
FISCHER

Assistant
Chief Fire Officer
NT Fire and
Rescue Service

NT Fire and Rescue Service localities

Wurrumiyanga

Nhulunbuy

DARWIN
Koolpinyah

Batchelor

Yirrkala

Jabiru

Adelaide River
Pine Creek
Katherine
Mataranka

Timber Creek

Wurrumiyanga
Borroloola

Career fire stations
Auxiliary/career stations

Elliott

Volunteer fire brigades
Fire and emergency
response groups
Marrara
Berrimah
Darwin

Tennant Creek

Palmerston
Howard Springs
Koolpinyah
Virgina
Bees
Creek

Humpty Doo

Darwin and region inset

Ti Tree

Alice Springs
Alice Springs Rural

Yulara
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Output group 4
Fire prevention and response management

Output 4.1 fire prevention and response management
This output group reports against 4 performance measure as outlined in Budget Paper No. 3, which focuses
on a range of fire and emergency management activities aimed at:
•

building community resilience through community partnerships, education and training

•

prevention and preparedness, with a focus on proactive hazard reduction

•

enhanced preparedness, response and recovery capability and capacity.
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Current Year

Previous Years

2020-21
Budget

2020-21
Actual

2019-20
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2017-18
Actual

≥ 500

408

281

428

1,584

≤ 8 mins

5.45 mins

6.00 mins

8.03 mins

8.07 mins

Structure fires contained to
room or object of origin3

≥ 90%

52.4%

76.6%

53.4%

92.3%

Building and fire safety inspections
conducted by operational crews1

≥ 350

502

491

467

1,129

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
Community resilience education
and awareness programs delivered1
Incident response time is within
interval benchmarks (average)2,3

I

1

Source: NT Fire and Rescue Service Station Management System, 2020-21 data was extracted in July 2021.

2

Includes turnout time and travel time at 24/7 stations.

3

Source: Australian Incident Reporting System NT, 2020-21 data was extracted in July 2021.

4

The performance against this community engagement measure decreased significantly from 2018-19 onwards due to 2 primary factors.
Firstly a refocus on skills consolidation of a high number of new recruits. In 2018-19, the NT Fire and Rescue Service delivered the
largest single recruit course in the history of the NT Fire and Rescue Service to date. The 4-month recruit program included 24 recruit
firefighters and utilised a number of operational firefighters as subject matter experts. As the recruits migrate to operations they have
a further 8-12 months of skills consolidation to complete as part of their qualification. Secondly, in 2018-19,
the NT Fire and Rescue Service ceased attending the NT community shows. The calculation for this measure included the
individual count of each person engaged with face-to-face at these shows. This contributed greatly to the steep reduction
between 2017-18 and 2018-19 onwards.
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Key achievements in 2020-21
On 1 July 2020, the NT Fire and Rescue Service
was reformed as a standalone service within the
NTPFES. Prior to this the NT Fire, Rescue and
Emergency Services had existed as an amalgamation
of the NT Fire and Rescue Service and the NT
Emergency Service.
This model was reviewed in early 2020 and the
decision was made to separate the 2 services.
After an extensive recruitment and selection process,
all members of the new NT Fire and Rescue Service
executive were appointed by January 2021.
On
27
August
2020,
catastrophic
fire
danger conditions were reached during the
2020-21 Top End fire season with a Grass Fire
Danger Index of 167 recorded in Batchelor.
Catastrophic is the highest fire danger rating.
High temperatures, strong winds and low humidity
were forecast, making conditions dangerous. If a
fire starts during catastrophic conditions, lives and
homes will be at risk.
The resources of NT Fire and Rescue Service and
Bushfires NT saw career and volunteer firefighters
from both services combined in a joint effort to
protect life, property and the environment against
fires. It was a timely reminder that the devastating
fire weather conditions seen on the east coast
of Australia in early 2020 can equally affect the
Territory.
In preparation for the 2021-22 Top End
fire season, the NT Fire and Rescue Service
received an additional 4 grassfire units (vehicles)
in 2020-21, which were allocated to volunteer
fire brigades and fire and emergency response
groups. These are vital assets that add to a fleet
used extensively by volunteer firefighters in
rural and remote parts of the NT. Additionally,
a new bulk water carrier was added to the
NT Fire and Rescue Service’s major appliance
fleet which provides 10,800 litres of water
for use during firefighting and emergency
operations. Stationed at Palmerston Fire Station,
it can be deployed throughout Darwin,
Palmerston and the rural area in support of
protracted bushfires or when limited water is
available for firefighting operations.
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The construction of the new Palmerston Regional Fire, Rescue and Emergency Services Complex
commenced during 2020-21. The $25 million complex is strategically located on Howard Springs Road
and it is anticipated it will become operational in March 2022. Taking over operational and emergency
responses from the current Palmerston Fire Station, the new complex will give the residents of Palmerston
and Litchfield’s Local Government Areas a modern facility to meet the growing communities’ needs.
Featuring more room for larger appliances, the new complex will have increased capacity for:
•

crew numbers on days of high fire danger conditions

•

space for operational planning and meetings

•

dedicated training areas

•

breathing apparatus cleaning, preparation and storage

•

enhanced communications.

The Palmerston Regional Fire, Rescue and Emergency Services Complex will be the first NT Fire and Rescue
Service facility built in support of the strategic priorities of the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy – Back to Basics to
Set our Future. This infrastructure represents the NT Fire and Rescue Service commitment achieving the
agency’s vision of A Safe and Resilient NT.
In 2020, the Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements recommended that state and
territory governments should deliver education to ensure that the public understands the new Australian
Fire Danger Rating System. The Australian Fire Danger Rating System introduces a significant change to
the forecasting of fire danger using the latest science and technology to better reflect environmental and
weather conditions.
The Territory will commence testing the Australian Fire Danger Rating System from the start of the
Top End fire season in July 2021. New community facing products and education programs will be rolled out
from February 2022. Territorians will see new Fire Danger Rating signs on the roadsides and be part of a
Territory-wide campaign to understand what actions they should take as the rating rises.
To further enhance our community’s ability to access information about incidents and emergencies,
in 2021-22 the NT Fire and Rescue Service will undertake upgrades to the NT Fire Incident Map,
increasing incident information sharing with the SecureNT website. These upgrades include standardising
icons to nationally recognised symbology in preparation for adopting a National Warning System;
another recommendation from the Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements.
This upgrade will also provide more information relating to each incident and be automatically updated
more regularly.

Strategic priorities
In 2021-22, the NT Fire and Rescue Service will continue to focus on minimising the incidence and impact
of fires and other emergencies, and protecting people, property and the environment. Through continuous
improvement and implementation of the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy, NT Fire and Rescue Service will provide a
range of fire prevention and emergency management response activities aimed at:
•

building our community resilience through partnering with stakeholders and local communities

•

focusing on community education and training to improve preparedness and expand awareness

•

prioritising proactive hazard reduction

•

ensuring capabilities and resources meet evolving community expectations for preventative
and responsive operational activities.
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NT Emergency Service
NT Emergency Service overview
The NT Emergency Service has broad ranging responsibilities under the Emergency Management Act 2013,
establishing an emergency management and volunteer management role for the NTPFES. It provides for
raising public awareness in emergency planning and providing a response capability for emergency events
through dedicated volunteers.
Servicing the community as the hazard management authority for cyclone, earthquake, flooding, storm surge,
storm and water damage and tsunami, this includes 4 hazard-specific capabilities (flood rescue, land search and
rescue, storm and water damage response, vertical rescue) as identified within the Territory Emergency Plan.
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As at 30 June 2021, our staffing contingent was 20 full time positions and 286 volunteer members,
operating with an office footprint in Darwin, Katherine and Alice Springs, and 22 established volunteer unit
locations across the 1.4M sq2 km of the Territory (17% of Australia’s land mass).
Our volunteer units provide specialist capability according to the specific risks identified in their locality,
ensuring the safety of their community in times of emergency and disaster. Emergency response equipment
is also located at local police stations, where equipment such as operational road rescue trailers are stored.
The equipment locations are Ali Curung, Avon Downs, Borroloola, Gunbalanya, Kalkarindji, Kulgera,
Maranboy, Ngukurr, Papunya and Yarralin.
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NT Emergency Service organisation chart

JAMIE
CHALKER APM
Commissioner of Police
and CEO of Fire
and Emergency
Services

FLEUR
O'CONNOR
Director
NT Emergency Service

ROBERT
EVANS

Assistant Director
NT Emergency Service

MARK
CUNNINGTON
Regional Manager
(Northern)
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IAN CARLTON
Regional Manager
(Southern)

MELISSA
HEFFERNAN
Manager
Planning and
Preparedness

MARK
FISHLOCK

Manager
Learning and Development
Command

NT Emergency Service localities

Pirlangimpi
Warruwi

Galiwinku

Maningrida

Nhulunbuy

Gunbalanya

DARWIN

Cox Peninsula

Ramingining

Palmerston

Gapuwiyak

Daly River

Wadeye

Maranboy

Katherine

Numbulwar

Ngukurr

Yarralin

Established units

Kalkarindji

Emergency reponse
groups

Lajamanu

Tennant Creek

Avon Downs

Ali Curung

Yuendumu

Papunya

Kintore

Ntaria

Harts Range

Alice Springs

Watarrka

Kulgera
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Output group 5
Emergency services

Output 5.1 Emergency services
This output group reports against 3 performance measure as outlined in Budget Paper No. 3,
which focuses on a range of emergency management activities aimed at:
•

prevention

•

preparedness

•

response and recovery

•

partnering with stakeholders to build community resilience through targeted risk awareness
and education programs.
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Current Year

Previous Years

2020-21
Budget

2020-21
Actual

2019-20
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2017-18
Actual

Members of the public participating
in community education, awareness
and prevention programs1

≥ 2,000

2,468

2,360

2,483

6,121

NTES recognised courses delivered
to emergency services personnel2

≥ 50

89

39

73

41

Emergency
plans
that
have
undergone an annual review (local,
regional and Territory-wide)3

100%

100%

98%

98%

100.0%

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

I

1

Programs includes hazard briefings (flood and cyclone) and Paddy Program. 2017-18 figure included crowd estimates from show circuit
organisers, 2018-19 onwards figures reflect actual people through NT Emergency Service displays.

2

Training includes operational training for NTPFES volunteers, cadets and staff. 2020-21 figure reflects a refocus on basic skills
and volunteer availability to participate in training activities.

3

Includes all local, regional and Territory-wide emergency plans.
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Key achievements in 2020-21
On 1 July 2020, the former NT Fire, Rescue and
Emergency Services was separated, with the NT
Emergency Service resuming as a standalone
agency reporting directly to the Commissioner.
A restructure took place to emphasise the
NTPFES Ten Year Strategy – Back to Basics to Set our
Future ethos, refocusing the priorities of the agency
to our core business. Four key commands were
created to ensure coordinated training, planning,
preparedness, and response through the following
areas:
1. Northern Operations
2. Southern Operations
3. Learning and Development
4. Planning and Preparedness.
The 2020-21 Wet Season Outlook provided by the
Bureau of Meteorology alerted NT Emergency
Service to a La Nina Season which highlighted the
possibility for an above average number of tropical
cyclones, earlier arrival of the monsoon and possible
activity in the Arafura or Timor Seas. A La Nina
Season was declared on 29 September 2020.
We saw an above average rainfall Territory-wide
over the wet season and flood events experienced
in the first few months of 2021. Most notably flood
warnings were issued for Jilkminggan, Daly River and
Beswick.
Some of the activities undertaken by
NT Emergency Service in 2020-21, include:

the

•

coordinated review of all 46 local emergency
plans, 2 regional emergency plans and
contemporised the Territory Emergency Plan

•

162 response tasks, with volunteers contributing
over 2,800 hours in response to requests for
assistance to the public and other agencies;
major tasks undertaken during this period
include 898 hours in flood response operations

•

•

82

delivered
96
training
courses
across
14 skill areas to volunteers; however, this does
not include the many hours spent by volunteers
in informal skills maintenance training
delivered
18
Introduction
to
AIIMS
training courses to 288 participants from
NT Government and non-government agencies,
and supporting groups that fill roles in incident
management teams across the NT
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•

delivered 111 public education sessions to
community members

•

premiered films from the Multi-Agency
Community Resilience Film Project to
219 residents of Wurrumiyanga, Pirlangimpi,
Angurugu, Umbakumba and Beswick.

The Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster
Arrangements was established on 20 February 2020
in response to the extreme bushfire season of
2019-20 and it examined the coordination,
preparedness for, response to and recovery
from natural disasters. The Final Report of
the Royal Commission into National Natural
Disaster Arrangements was handed down on
28 October 2020, with 80 recommendations
across matters such as coordination of all levels of
government during emergencies, consistency in
public warning systems and data collection and
reporting, assessment of firefighting resources
(including aerial firefighting arrangements), the role
of the Australian Defence Force and how charities
and other groups can best respond in the wake
of disasters. The Department of Environment,
Parks and Water Security was appointed the
lead agency for the management of the Royal
Commission into National Natural Disaster
Arrangements; however, with the implementation
of the recommendations being led by emergency
ministers across Australia, this was transferred to
NTPFES, with the NT Emergency Service taking
on the role to implement the recommendations
accepted by the NT Government.
The May Budget announcement by the
NT Government saw a $746,000 investment to
support the capability of the NT Emergency Service.
Our focus for the new financial year will be to
develop a fleet program to best meet the needs of
our volunteers and expand our staffing complement
to provide enhanced support within our commands.
The 2021-22 NT Emergency Service Business Plan
service statement is to ‘Prepare and respond to
the impacts of emergencies on our communities’
with 4 key priority areas:
•

enhance culture, capability and employee and
volunteer recruitment and retention

•

effective emergency and hazard management

•

safe and resilient communities through
partnership, prevention and engagement

•

robust governance.

An NT Emergency Service planning day was held in early May 2021 for all staff to consider and develop
action plans to complement the agency’s business plan, this also included contributing to the development
of a number of strategy implementation plans.
The past year has been unlike no other, with COVID-19 remaining a challenge for all states and territories.
It has reinforced the need for emergency management training for staff within NT Government that have
or will be exposed to working in the response to COVID-19. Introduction to AIIMS is delivered regularly
throughout the year; however, to further improve capability in the management of emergency incidents,
AIIMS Level 2 training was placed on the NTPFES Registered Training Organisation scope of registration for
NT Emergency Service to develop and deliver the accredited packages in the new financial year. A cohort of
selected NT Government staff will developed as instructors to form part of the AIIMS training team.
A capability assessment was undertaken by both the northern and southern operation commands to
identify current and future capability requirements for each unit and region. It adopted the principal
of a service standards of cover model to provide the tool for underpinning the capability requirements,
with a risk management approach so that NT Emergency Service can utilise the plans to identify areas for
consolidation and improvement.
The breakdown of volunteer numbers across the NT for the 2020-21 reporting period are:

278

193

85

registered volunteers

Northern Operations

Southern Operations
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Output group 6
Corporate and shared services
Improved organisational performance through strategic and governance leadership, the provision of
corporate services functions, and effective internal controls and improvements in managing public
resources.
Output 6.1 corporate and governance
This output group reports against a range of corporate and governance services to support the agency’s
functions.
Key achievements 2020-21
•

Ongoing implementation and revision of the NTPFES COVID-19 Operational Pandemic Plan to ensure
our people are well equipped for ongoing emergency response operations which serve and protect our
community, enhanced governance and internal flexibility as we move into 2021-22, enable business
continuity.

•

Launched the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy – Project 2030 – Back to Basics to Set our Future, articulating the
agency direction which will be in place until 2030.

•

Developed detailed strategy implementation plans, command/business plans and divisional action plans
aligned with the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy to operationalise the strategic intent.

•

Commenced an agency-wide policy review project, to ensure all policy, procedure, general orders,
forms and other corporate documents are contemporary, succinct and aligned with legislation and the
NTPFES Ten Year Strategy.

Priorities for 2021-22
•

Update Budget Paper No. 3 in consultation with Department of Treasury and Finance to enable improved
demonstration of value for public money.

•

Further embed the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy into business as usual functions across the agency and
commence internal reporting of progress toward achievement.

•

Complete the policy review project, ensuring a single source of truth for our members to utilise in the
provision of high quality services to the community.

•

Conduct process evaluations of selected agency programs and strategies, consistent with the NTPFES
Ten Year Strategy implementation timeline and Department of Treasury and Finance requirements.

•

Continue to streamline financial and business support processes across the agency.

Output 6.2 shared services received
This output reports against the corporate services received from the Department of Corporate and Digital
Development and the infrastructure services from the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics.
Key achievements 2020-21
•

Met all service obligations under the shared service arrangement.

Priorities for 2021-22
•

86

Continue to receive, meet and deliver the existing service obligations, and support the continued
improvement to service delivery and productivity of the Department of Corporate and Digital
Development and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics through engagement and
feedback.
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Legal and Strategic Policy
The Legal and Strategic Policy Division provides legal
and strategic policy advice to the Commissioner and
the executive management of the NTPFES on a
wide range of reform initiatives and service matters.
The division provides high quality advice relating
to legal, legislative and business reform issues.
Legal
services
include
representing
the
Commissioner on matters relating to alcohol harm
mitigation, disciplinary and inability appeals and
in-court proceedings.
The division provides high-level policy advice
for the Minister and the Commissioner for key
multi-jurisdictional forums including the National
Emergency
Management
Minister’s
Meeting,
the Australian Criminal Intelligence Commission and
Australia New Zealand Policing Advisory Agency Boards.
Key achievements for 2020-21:
•

improved processes ensuring governance
around advisory and reporting functions

•

progressed legislative amendments to agency
administered legislation and influenced national
and Territory legislation

•

continued to work closely with stakeholders
to achieve consistent outcomes and maximise
government and NTPFES strategic interests

•

advanced strong policy development addressing
illicit commodities, serious criminal activities
and organised crime, as well as managing
agency responses to matters such as the Royal
Commission into National Natural Disasters and
parliamentary inquiries

•

building our people through strong engagement
and development opportunities to lead agency
priorities.

Risk and internal audit
Internal audit
Internal audit is an independent, objective assurance
and consulting activity designed to add value and
improve an agency’s operations. It is an important
part of the internal control framework and helps
the NTPFES accomplish its objectives by bringing a
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating and
improving the effectiveness of risk management,
internal controls and governance processes.

88
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Internal audit is a cornerstone of good governance
and plays an important role in the agency's financial
and non-financial management and accountability,
and in continuous improvement.
Internal audit is a critical element in the assurance
environment and is a valuable tool for managing risk
more effectively. Internal audit adds the greatest
value when its activities support the agency to
achieve its goals. The internal audit plan is aligned
with the agency’s goals and risks to ensure audit
efforts are focused on providing assurance that the
risks to the achievement of the NTPFES goals are
effectively controlled.
All internal audit reports include overall ratings
and risk-rated findings. This supports the agency in
prioritising efforts to address areas of greatest risk.
Reports also include root cause of findings to enable
the agency to address the reason the issue occurred,
rather than just the result.
The Audit and Risk Committee actively reviews
audit findings and recommendation implementation,
as well as monitoring progress against the audit
plan. There are robust systems in place to ensure the
effective, efficient and economic operation of the
audit function.
From the 11 internal audits completed,
8 recommendations were made and accepted.
Two opportunities for improvement were
also identified. These recommendations have
resulted in improved management systems,
internal controls, compliance with legislation and
better accountability to help achieve corporate
objectives. The internal audits highlighted that
good governance, proactive engagement and
leadership from senior executives is embedding
a culture of performance and accountability.
Internal audits completed this reporting period
include:
•

Value for Territory, as part of the compliance
obligations under the Value for Territory
Assurance Program, the audit reviewed
compliance with the Buy Local Plan and
Procurement Rules.

•

Watch House and Court Cells – these are
independent audits to ensure conformity with
legislation and policy and assess existing internal
controls.

•

Tennant Creek Station Inspection – to review current processes and examine key aspects of internal
governance and reporting arrangements.

•

Cash Advance Account Review – to provide assurance that the governance and accountability
arrangements were adequate.

Internal audits completed in 2020-21
Internal Audit Type

2020-21

Compliance Audit

9

Management Initiated Review/Audit

2

Total Internal Audits

11

Risk management
The NTPFES is committed to the continuous embedding of the risk management processes across the agency,
enhancing decision making in all areas of business and operational goals and objectives in our approach to
good governance.
Having an effective Enterprise Risk Management Framework in place increases service delivery and community
safety outcomes. The risk assessment process enables a strong focus on the management of key risks,
allowing for a shared understanding in the prioritisation of internal controls and mitigation activities,
including the allocation of appropriate resources.
Operational risk register reviews are conducted bi-annually to ensure risks are current and/or influencing
strategy and operations. Linkages between strategic and operational risks are also constantly being
reviewed. The agency adopts the International Organisation for Standardisation 31000:2018 Risk Management
– Guidelines, an internationally accepted basis for best practice risk management.
In the 2020-21, the completion rate for Risk Management Awareness online training was 93.74%.

Insurance reporting
The total commercial insurance premium expenditure for 2020-21 and 2019-20 is listed below.
This expenditure relates to accident/public liability insurance for the Junior Police Ranger Program,
general insurance for the 2 NT owned aircraft and professional indemnity insurance for 3 in-house lawyers.
The cost decrease largely relates to better rates realised for the 2 NT owned aircraft, and the professional
indemnity insurance.

Financial Year

Amount

2019-20

$62,115

2020-21

$55,035
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The table below contains expenditure through NT Government self-insurance provisions for vehicle
accident damage relating to agency vehicles, workers’ compensation for employees and legal settlements.

Risk Category

Financial Year

Number of Claims

Value

Average Cost

2019-20

144

$266,651

$1,852

2020-21

115

$188,645

$1,640

Assets and
Inventories (Vehicles)
Workers
Compensation1
Public Liability2

I

2019-20

$13,720,000

2020-21

$13,720,000

2019-20

5

$203,600

$40,720

2020-21

7

$233,150

$33,307

1

Workers Compensation Reform has resulted in all NT Government agencies paying a premium into a centrally managed fund in the
Department of Treasury and Finance. From 2018-19, the NTPFES will report on the premiums paid into the Department of Treasury
and Finance fund as this aligns with what is reported in the agency’s financial statements.

2

The increase in public liability expense from the prior year is due to an increase in damages paid in the current year.
In 2019-20 there were 5 claims in total with one large claim being $175,000, in the current year there were 7 claims in total with
one large claim being $200,000.

In accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions, the NTPFES manages potential exposures through extensive
mitigation practices, including risk assessments in line with International Organisation for Standardisation
31000:2018 Risk Management – Guidelines. Where insurable risk events occur, the agency meets these costs
as they fall due.
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Professional Standards Command
The PSC aims to maintain integrity and ethics with a focus on a culture of fairness, responsibility and
accountability including developing our people through early intervention and self-reflection through strong
leadership.
PSC works in partnership with several statutory bodies and external stakeholders to ensure fulfilment
of the Commissioner’s legislative responsibility for taking timely action on complaints against police,
internal breaches of discipline, and providing support to local managers examining respect, equity and
diversity complaints.
PSC has three investigative arms:
1. Integrity, Governance and Custody Division: the administration, coordination, and investigation
of complaints against police pursuant to the legislative requirements of the Ombudsman Act 2009
and non-operational custody ownership and management.
2. Internal Investigations Division: the administration, coordination and investigation of internal
disciplinary matters against police members pursuant to the legislative requirements of the
Police Administration Act 1978.
3. NTPFES Investigations: the administration, coordination and investigation of internal disciplinary
matters involving employees pursuant to the Public Sector Employment Management Act 1993.
This investigation area also has oversight of internal complaints about respect, equity and diversity,
by providing guidance and recommendations to managers across NTPFES.
Refer to Appendix 1 for an overview of the complaints against police, investigations and outcomes carried
out by PSC during this reporting period.
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Information Management
The NTPFES operates under the accountabilities
of the Information Act 2002. The Information Act
2002 provides the public with the right to privacy,
access government information and to access or
correct personal information. It also stipulates how
government agencies must collect, store and use
information holdings.
The NTPFES is committed to complying with
the Information Act 2002, information privacy
principles and records management standards
and is continually reviewing and improving
business practices to enhance agency information
management responsibilities.
The NTPFES continues to review our business
practices and increasing awareness of information
management and record-keeping responsibilities
to further increase compliance and efficiencies.
The primary goal is continuous improvement to
better meet the needs of the community and other
government agencies.

Information requests
In accordance with the Information Act 2002,
the Information Access Team coordinates
the permissible release and management of
information to the community, other government
agencies and commercial entities. A copy of the
Information Act 2002 and information request forms
are available on the NTPFES website under Access
to Information at www.pfes.nt.gov.au. For statistics
on information requests processed in 2020-21,
refer to Appendix 2.

Privacy
In 2020-21, the Information Management Section
received one formal privacy complaint specifically
under the Information Act 2002. It should be noted
that complaints dealt with by the PSC may include
elements of breaches of the information privacy
principles.

Records Management
The Records Management Team is responsible
for the provision of advice regarding record
keeping, archiving and disposal practices ensuring
consistency and compliance in accordance with
Part 9 of the Information Act 2002, and under
the NT Public Sector Organisations Records and
Information Management Standards (the Standards).
92
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In 2020-21, a total of 111,066 documents were
individually captured, created and managed in
Territory Records Manager (TRM) compared
to 88,135 in 2019-20. There were a total of
35,435 files registered into the system, consisting
of physical and electronic records compared to
21,176 in 2019-20.
The Records Management team developed and
rolled out a TRM training package to the agency
consisting of ongoing and proactive training sessions
to provide further information on the agency’s
record keeping responsibilities.
The agency finalised a project of reviewing and
further developing 5 functional disposal schedules.
This was part of its commitment to contemporise
record keeping practices, improve overall business
efficiency and compliance with legislative
obligations under the Information Act 2002 and the
Standards.
In response to the TRM training package and
approval of the Policing and Crime Detection
Functional Disposal Schedule
the
Records
Management
Team
started
an
extensive
archiving project with remote community police
stations. Travel is undertaken throughout the NT,
assisting remote communities with the safe
destruction and archiving of NTPFES records.
The proactive work completed by the Records
Management team is the major contributing
factor in the increase of documents and files being
captured, created and managed in TRM.
Compliant and contemporary electronic document
records management will continue to be the focus
for records management in the NTPFES.

Screening assessment for
Employment NT
The Screening Assessment for Employment Section
(SAFE NT) supports operational police and the wider
community, and contributes to public safety through
effective capture, distribution and use of police
information. Responsibilities of the section include:
•

processing and release of national police checks

•

processing and assessment of working with
children checks and National Disability Insurance
Scheme (NDIS) worker screening checks

•

provisioning information on court outcomes,
warrants and infringements into the NT Police
Force data management systems

•

interrogation and release of police history information for various legislative and operational policing
purposes

•

operating a public shopfront and telephone enquiry service

•

providing ink and digital fingerprinting services for individuals seeking international police checks,
passports and visas

•

providing secretariat and policy development services to the Working with Children Screening Authority
and Committee for the Establishment of the NDIS Worker Screening.

On 1 February 2021, SAFE NT initiated new services to the NDIS scheme including information sharing to
jurisdictional screening units, and ongoing monitoring of new criminal record outcomes for all persons with
an NDIS check in Australia.
Through partnership with the Department of Health, Department of Territory Families, Housing and
Communities and the Department of Corporate and Digital Development, legislation, regulations and an
interim online application form and backend data management system were established and enacted for
the commencement of formal employer screening processes in the NT. Business processes, policy and
recruitment processes have been finalised, and community engagement activities such as free public
information sessions and targeted participation with peak bodies in the disability sector have been held.
Government funding for stage 1 of the interim information and communications technology development
allowed for a basic system development in order to meet implementation dates required by the
Commonwealth. Stage 2 and 3 of the build is advancing, subject to funding constraints, in order to establish
essential system standards into the future.
SAFE NT – Service outcome snapshot for 2020-21
National police checks – certificates issued (NT)

17,299

Fingerprint services to individuals

1,302

Record checks – eligibility for jury selection

8,900

Probity checks – administration of justice

1,595

Information release services to the Australian Criminal Intelligence Commission for
national police checks lodged in all Australian states and territories

62,699

Information release for operational police requests – to all Australian police services

8,127

Information release to other NT Government agencies for prosecution and law
enforcement purposes

3,815

Working with children clearances issued (total)

41,184

Case managed working with children applications

574

Persons denied an Ochre Card

22

Number of ochre cards revoked due to change in circumstance of holder

15

2nd tier circumstances and information release to Australian working with children and
vulnerable persons screening units
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Overview
The NTPFES is committed to developing, guiding and
valuing our people. This is achieved by demonstrating
a culture of ethics and integrity, focused on a
commitment to doing what is right. This principle is
guided by the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy which focuses
on our people and our community.
Diversity and Inclusion Strategy
A twofold strategy designed to encourage our
community to engage with our people and access the
services we provide, as well as supporting enhanced
diversity and inclusion within our workforce.
The 2 key priorities underpinning the strategy are:
•

our workforce reflects the diverse community
we serve

•

our culture fosters acceptance, access and
inclusion.

Subsequently, we will be better placed to deliver on
all remaining strategies. The 3 key priorities are:
•

attraction

•

recognition

•

culture and engagement.

Key achievements 2020-21
•

Continued delivery against the People Strategy
linked to the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy.

•

Streamlined approach to recruitment where
applicants are assessed across all employment
streams of the NT Police Force and incorporating
a contemporary approach to engagement
through social media platforms.

•

Establishment of the Diversity and Inclusion
Strategy Change Opportunities Steering
Committee to drive equity and diversity
outcomes for the agency.

•

Continuity of Taskforce Protect to assist with the
internal delivery and management of the NTPFES
COVID-19 response.

People Strategy
With people as the cornerstone of the NTPFES,
this strategy is designed to attract the right people,
have them working in the right areas and supporting
their needs. The focus is to attract the right people,
value their development and look after them.
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Workforce data
NT Police Force classifications1
CLASSIFICATION

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

Commissioner

1

1

1

Deputy Commissioner

2

2

2

4.48

4

4.5

Commander

11

12

12

Superintendent

33

34

35.78

Senior Sergeant

79.5

77

84

228.79

225.3

220.85

41

41

40

839.93

851.14

864.63

0

1.98

81

73.5

76.7

60.33

0

0

10

208.38

245.53

223.79

15

23.5

2

1,537.58

1,595.15

1,641.88

Assistant Commissioner

Sergeant
Remote Sergeant
Constable
Recruit Constable
ACPO
Recruit ACPO
Police Auxiliary
Auxiliary Recruit
Total
I

1

		

The figures reflect full time equivalent (FTE) paid staffing numbers, excluding casual employees.
Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development.

NT Fire and Rescue Service firefighters1
CLASSIFICATION

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

5.8

8

8

Senior Station Officer

16.84

13.84

11.84

Station Officer

38.68

35.03

42.29

19

21

17

47.41

49.92

49.74

80

75

77.83

2

12

12

209.73

214.79

218.7

District Officer

Leading Firefighter
Senior Firefighter
Firefighter
Recruit Firefighter
Total
I

1

The figures reflect FTE paid staffing numbers, excluding fire auxiliaries.

		 Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development.
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NT Fire and Rescue Service civilian employees1
CLASSIFICATION

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

Executive Contract Officer

3

2

3

Senior Administrative Officer

1

2

2

12.5

15.7

12

2.5

2.5

3

2

2

3

21

24.2

23

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

Executive Contract Officer

1

0

0

Senior Administrative Officer

1

1

2

Administrative Officer

7.6

8.84

14.8

Total

9.6

9.84

16.8

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

8

6

9.9

20.7

15

20.47

249.6

226.96

254.41

NTPS Apprentice

0

0

0

Senior Professional

5

6

7

Professional

26.5

26.3

28.03

Technical

32.8

31.75

31

Physical

10.5

10.51

10.21

Chief Pilot

1

1

2

Senior Pilot

5

8

6.5

359.1

331.52

369.52

Administrative Officer
Technical
Professional
Total
I

1

The figures reflect FTE paid staffing numbers, excluding casual employees.

		 Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development.

NT Emergency Service classifications1
CLASSIFICATION

I

1

The figures reflect FTE paid staffing numbers, excluding casual employees.

		 Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development..

Police civilian employment unit/tri-service classification1
CLASSIFICATION
Executive Contract Officer
Senior Administrative Officer
Administrative Officer

Total

I 1 The figures reflect FTE paid staffing numbers, excluding casual employees.
		 Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development.
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Attrition rate 3-year comparison1
CLASSIFICATION

2018-19

2019-20

2020-212

Overall police

4.66%

4.53%

8.51%

Constables and above

4.19%

4.17%

6.98%

ACPOs

3.88%

2.65%

10.3%

Auxiliaries

8.53%

6.89%

10.66%

Firefighters

5.93%

2.7%

3.28%

NT Emergency Service

21.95%

10.53%

12.08%

NT Public Sector

12.16%

8.21%

12.1%

I

1

Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development on 1 September 2021.

		

Note: Department of Corporate and Digital Development advised that the attrition rate is calculated using the figures for resignation,
termination, retirement and dismissal. Department of Corporate and Digital Development advised that the counting rules may change
next reporting period, once a whole-of-government decision has been made in the formula for calculating agency separation figures
and corresponding attrition rates.

2

A major contributing factor to the increase in separations relates directly to heavy recruitment activity in other policing jurisdictions.
Other factors identified have remained fairly consistent and include family/work-life balance, personal reasons/relocation interstate for
family, aged retirement and pursue their career.
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Recruitment
Public sector
Public sector recruitment was undertaken for administration,
technical and professional streams as required. Of the public
sector position recruitment processes 86% had the NTPFES
ATSI Special Measures applied, with a total of 16 ATSI applicants
successfully selected for positions.
NT Police Force
In 2020-21, a total of 304 sworn employees were recruited.
In total, 88 females were recruited, comprising 29% of all new
recruits. Of the sworn employees, 17 identified as being of ATSI
descent.
Recruitment activity for the financial year resulted in one ACPO
squad (12), 5 police auxiliary (frontline and communications)
squads (61), one accelerated recruitment program squad (15)
and 7 constable squads that comprised of 216 participants.
Despite COVID-19 restrictions affecting some recruitment
activity, the agency trained its first all Territorian squad (all recruits
residing in the NT at the time of application and recruitment),
as well as additional squads.
Our recruitment process have been reviewed and streamlined
to achieve these results, as well as a more prominent presence
on social media, meaning greater engagement and exposure
on multiple platforms over traditional media marketing.
Enterprise bargaining
Negotiations have commenced for the NT Public Sector Fire and
Rescue Service Enterprise Agreement. It is expected negotiations
will continue until late into 2021, as the current agreement is in
force until 7 November 2021.
The NT Police Force Consent Agreement 2019 is in operation until
30 June 2022. Planning is now underway with the intention
for negotiations to commence in early 2022 for a replacement
agreement.
The NT Public Sector Bargaining Policy 2021-2024 (the Policy)
sets out a bargaining framework for enterprise agreements in
the NT public sector and consent agreements under Part III
of the Police Administration Act 1978. The Policy prescribes,
but is not limited to, agreement outcomes limited to a
$1,000 lump sum payment per employee and no net increases
to salaries and allowances for the 2021-24 period. However,
cost savings that arise through negotiations may be used to offset
additional costs or new provisions so long as they are approved
by government. These parameters limit room for movement for
negotiations and bargaining parameters will need to focus on
identifying efficiencies in order to be cost neutral to the agency.
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Diversity and inclusion

•

Senior representation by the CREC at
whole-of-government working groups and
committees including continued collaboration
with the Senior Aboriginal Reference Group
(operated by the Office of the Commissioner
for Public Employment) providing valuable
insights into whole of government approach to
recruitment, retention and development of ATSI
employees.

•

Contributed to the Regional and Remote Policing
Strategy.

•

Undertaking cultural brokering on behalf
of police to support operational requirements
across a number of remote communities. This
includes providing intensive cultural support
and advice to sworn members and assisting to
navigate culturally complex scenarios.

The CREC was established in late 2020 and with
the ATSIDU, continues to provide developmental
pathways and effective mentoring and support
frameworks for the ATSI staff across the tri-service.
The NTPFES Ten Year Strategy has a strategic priority
of diversity and inclusion. Over the past 12 months
the CREC focused on ways that the NTPFES can
provide a high quality service to our communities
to ensure we are able to serve effectively,
and be accessible and supportive to all people in
order to provide the best possible outcomes.
The CREC have undertaken core activities:
•

The recruitment, employment and training
of 30 ALOs throughout the regional centres
and remote communities across the NT.
Communities include Yarralin, Kintore, Elliott,
Daly River, Galiwinku, Maranboy, Timber Creek,
Ti Tree, Gunbalanya, Wadeye, Wurrumiyanga,
Santa Teresa, Lajamanu, Maningrida, Galiwinku,
Tennant Creek and Alice Springs.

•

The work of the ALOs is focused on providing
culturally appropriate advice and undertaking
community engagement activities, working
side by side with police and the tri-service as a
conduit to and from our community.

•

Delivering culturally appropriate training to new
policing recruits, including ACPOs, auxiliaries
and cadets through the NTPFES College.

•

Assisting with the creation of a course for those
ACPOs who wish to transition to constables.

•

Commencement of a NTPFES ATSI Mentoring
Framework.

•

Commencement of a culturally appropriate
Induction package for our remote tri-service
staff as part of a whole-of-agency Cultural
Responsiveness Framework.

•

Ongoing mentoring, coaching and development
for our ATSI employees, including our ALOs.

•

Further development of the ALO Program to
ensure staff are developed, and capability and
resilience within our remote communities is a
priority.
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Diversity and Inclusion Strategy Change
Opportunities Steering Committee
In April 2021, the Diversity and Inclusion Strategy
Change
Opportunities
Steering
Committee,
chaired by the Commissioner, was established to
provide high quality service to our community,
aiming to reflect the community we serve and be
accessible and supportive to all people to provide
the best possible outcomes. The steering committee
aligns to the Diversity and Inclusion Strategy’s key
priorities outlined in our NTPFES Ten Year Strategy.
Diversity and inclusion encompasses a wide
range of factors including gender, disability,
mental
health,
neurodiversity,
ethnicity,
sexual orientation, socio-economic status, age,
religious beliefs, political beliefs, diversity of
thought and more. A number of change agents have
been identified to form part of the membership
including 21 employees across the tri-service.
The focus of this steering committee is to ensure
key projects and priorities are achieved for the
agency, that diversity and inclusion is everyone’s
responsibility, and that one person can make change.
Although in infancy, the Diversity and Inclusion
Strategy Change Opportunities Steering Committee
is committed to driving the diversity and inclusion
agenda as a strategic priority for the tri-service over
the next 12 months.

Diversity and inclusion1
HEADCOUNT

ATSI Identified

2020-21
I

Proportion Not ATSI Identified

256

10.79%

Total

2,117

2,373

Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development, as at Pay 26, 2021.

1

NTPFES 4-year gender comparison1
FINANCIAL YEAR

Male

Female

2017-18

64.22%

35.78%

100%

2018-19

65.20%

34.80%

100%

2019-20

64.34%

35.66%

100%

2020-21

64.10%

35.69%

I

Self-specify

Total

0.21%

100%

Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development, as at Pay 26, 2021.

1

NTPFES Staff by group and gender1
2020-21 Headcount

Proportion

Self- Total
Male Female specify
NT Emergency Service

9

8

198

19

NT Fire and Rescue
Service civilians

12

12

Civilian employees

137

260

1,165

548

Firefighters

NT Police Force
I

Self- Total
Male Female specify

17 NT Emergency Service 52.94% 47.06%
4

221 Firefighters
24

89.59%

8.6%

1.81% 100%

50%

50%

100%

34.51% 65.49%

100%

67.97% 31.97%

0.06% 100%

NT Fire and Rescue
Service civilians

397 Civilian employees
1 1,714 NT Police Force

100%

Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development, as at Pay 26, 2021.

1

NTPFES females by rank1
RANK

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

Commissioned

11

12

13

Non-commissioned3

62

56

57

Constables4

247

264

288

Total

320

332

358

2

I

1

Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development, as at Pay 26, 2021.

2

Commissioned refers to superintendent and above.

3

Non-commissioned refers to sergeant, remote sergeant and senior sergeant.

4

Constables refers to all probationary constable, constable, constable first class, senior constable, senior constable first class.

NTPFES staff by age and gender1
GENDER
Female
Male
Self-specify
I

1

<=19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70+
10

49

105

135

131

111

122

88

64

25

6

1

4

71

139

218

210

208

252

224

127

50

13

5

2

2

1

Source: Data was provided by Department of Corporate and Digital Development, as at Pay 26, 2021.
Note: The average age of a NTPFES staff member remains at 41 years old.
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Health, safety and wellbeing
Safety, Health and Recovery Section
The agency provided primary education and
prevention activities through the delivery of
inductions to NTPFES personnel, support and
guidance to health and safety committees,
assistance with hazard identification and risk
management and the provision of performance data
to the tri-service.
Taskforce Protect
The WHS of members responding to COVID-19
has been a major focus of Taskforce Protect
throughout 2020-21. This involved the design and
implementation of a range of data collection tools
and activities, daily contact with affected personnel
who were required to isolate or quarantine,
as well as the provision of information such as
standard operating procedures and day-to-day
guidance to personnel via the taskforce mail box.
The provision of support and services to
Taskforce Protect resulted in a reduction in the
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day‑to-day service delivery of the WHS Section,
with a number of strategic education and prevention
activities put on hold due to resource limitations.

Health and recovery
The tri-service has been supported through the
delivery of the workplace injury early intervention,
workers compensation and personal injury
management programs.
In 2020-21, 102 cases were managed under the
workplace injury early intervention program and
86 new claims for workers compensation were
lodged.

Support and Wellbeing Section
The NTPFES Ten Year Strategy – Project 2030
– Back to Basics to Set Our Future identifies
a specific people strategy. A priority under
this strategy is to encourage a shared
responsibility to support the physical health,
mental health and wellbeing of our people.

To support our employees and volunteers,
we provide a range of services to promote the
mental health and wellbeing of all employees,
volunteers and their families through Support
and Wellbeing Section, and the Chaplaincy Unit.
The Support and Wellbeing Section of the NTPFES
is a multidisciplinary team of 3 psychologists,
3 wellbeing and health officers, 65 peer supporters and
an occupational rehabilitation advisor who provide a
range of support and treatment services through a
stepped-care model.
An external counselling program is also available
and is coordinated by the NTPFES psychologists.
In 2020-21, over 1,300 counselling sessions were
provided to NTPFES employees, volunteers and their
immediate family members through this program.
Chaplains provide a range of pastoral and spiritual care
services, which include emotional and spiritual support
for staff, volunteers and their families in times of crisis,
outreach to staff and volunteers through worksite visits
and ceremonial roles at official NTPFES functions.

To date, Support and Wellbeing Section intake data
demonstrates an increase in referral and help-seeking
behaviour. This is an extremely positive outcome as
it indicates an increase in member familiarity and
comfortability with the unit and services provided.
It highlights a reduction in the stigma associated with
mental health and help-seeking behaviour.
A number of preventative actions promoting
employee mental wellbeing have been undertaken.
This includes well-checks involving clinicians
travelling to regional offices and remote stations,
and the delivery of the accredited Mental Health
First Aid courses (including a specific Aboriginal,
peer support and refresher programs) in Darwin and
Alice Springs.
These measures all assist in the education and
prevention of mental health issues across the
tri-service. The aim is to build a proactive and
preventative approach towards mental health and
wellbeing at all levels within the agency, rather than
continue to fund resources at the recovery end of
the continuum (e.g., worker injury compensation).

Reported incidents (accidents/injuries) by mechanism 3-year comparison1
PRIMARY MECHANISM OF INJURY/INCIDENT

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

0

2

1

23

9

20

4

6

6

Vehicle incidents and other

34

9

15

Biological factors

34

39

35

Chemicals and substances

47

23

14

Hitting objects with a part of the body

41

40

52

Falls, trips and slips of a person

89

81

75

Body stressing

136

112

137

Being hit by moving objects

119

154

143

Total reported incidents2

527

475

498

Sound and pressure
Heat, electricity and other environmental factors
Mental stress

I

1

Current and previous annual reporting figures are subject to change due to delayed reporting of accidents/injuries and/or form
submission occurring at the time of Workplace Injury Early Intervention Program case/workers compensation claim lodgement.

2

Excluding incident type near miss and hazard reports.

		

Source: Data was provided by WHS and extracted on 19 July 2021.
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Training and education
NTPFES College
The NTPFES College is the central training area of the NTPFES, responsible for the training and delivery
of high-quality education and professional development programs across the NT. The NTPFES College is
committed to providing high-quality, contemporary and relevant training and educational programs and
courses to an array of stakeholders, including recruit induction, promotion and development, operational
safety, driver training, criminal investigation, youth development and probation management.
The NTPFES College is a registered training organisation, committed to providing quality training and
assessment services that maximise workplace productivity and effectives, promoting professional
development through competency based training and assessment. The NTPFES College training and
education programs are further enhanced by the NTPFES College working in partnership and sharing
training resources with various other government and non-government stakeholders, especially within the
wider emergency services industry.
The NTPFES College maintains a high-level of governance and accountability, ensuring the training and
educational programs delivered meet legislative, organisational and community expectations, while being
delivered through face-to-face and online methods across the NT, in support of our people and our community.
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NT Police Force – recruit training
In 2020-21, a total of 176 new recruits graduated from 8 recruit squads (142 sworn officers and 34 ALOs).
Graduates included 109 constables, 9 police communications auxiliaries and 24 frontline police auxiliaries.
Additionally, 34 ALOs graduated across 3 squads during the reporting period. The graduated recruits were
posted to various locations within the Territory including Darwin, Katherine, Alice Springs, Tennant Creek
and Nhulunbuy1.
CLASSIFICATION

Darwin

Katherine

Alice Springs

Tennant Creek

Remote

0

44

53

7

5

11

9

12

1

0

ALO

0

0

6

2

26

Total

11

53

71

10

31

Constable
Police auxiliary

I

1

Data was provided by the Education Support Team, and extracted on 22 July 2021

NT Police Force – capability
Investigative Interviewing Level 1 continues to be delivered to both recruit squads and in-service members
by the Capability Development Division, enhancing evidence collection skills from day one on the job and
fast tracking development. The Investigative Interviewing Level 1 in-service courses were held in Darwin
and Alice Springs, with future in-service courses planned across the NT.
Command Training, which ceased at the commencement of the COVID-19 pandemic, is under review to
ensure a contemporary and fit-for-purpose product is used for ongoing training of frontline personnel.
The Capability Development Division are in the process of creating a training week package, incorporating
defensive tactics and firearms requalification, with remaining training days targeting leadership and
development.
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Probation
The Probation Unit came under the umbrella
of the Capability Development Division in late
2020. Due to the increase of recruit constables,
ACPOs and auxiliaries progressing through the
NTPFES College, and the resultant increase in
probationaries, the Probation Unit was expanded
from having one Probation Coordinator in Darwin,
to having a Probation Supervisor in Alice Springs and
Katherine. There are currently over 300 members
on probation. These new roles were created to
assist/mentor probationaries through their probation
period until their confirmation.
Driver Training Unit
The Driver Training Unit, originally within the
Induction and Operational Safety Division,
was transferred to the Capability Development
Division in late 2020. The Driver Training
Unit provides ongoing training to recruit
constables, ACPOs and auxiliaries, with qualified
instructors seconded to assist with training
capabilities, ensuring training delivered is
contemporary for both instructors and students.
A Driver Training Instructor Course is scheduled
to be conducted in the first quarter of 2022,
to increase the number of qualified instructors.
Criminal Investigation Development Unit
The Criminal Investigation Development Unit
delivered 3 Investigator Course courses, one in
Darwin and 2 in Alice Springs, 2 Investigative
Interviewing Level 2 courses, 2 Investigative
Interviewing Vulnerable Persons (Child Forensic
Interviewing) courses, and a Detective Training
Course. Courses provided by Criminal Investigation
Development Unit have increased from previous
years and will continue to be provided across the
NT, to ensure all relevant personnel are trained
within the areas of investigations and interviewing,
in support of our community.
Promotional development
The new General Order – Rank Qualification and
Development Pathway was promulgated in
September 2020. The intent of the general order is to
recognise and reward regional and remote service and
to focus on performance, leadership and continuous
professional development. This new pathway
includes all ranks of police officers from recruits to
superintendents, police auxiliaries and ACPOs.
The Capability Development Division is responsible
for reviewing rank application files for all streams
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up to and including senior constable, senior ACPO
and senior auxiliary, and work closely with Workforce
Development regarding promotional qualifications
and applications.
Specialist, online and other training and assessment
The NTPFES College in partnership with other
areas in the agency, provides a number of specialist,
online and other primary courses to develop
members
to
undertake
required
duties.
These courses include Coxswain Grade 1 training
conducted by the Seafood Maritime Industry
Training and Australian Maritime Fisheries
Academy, Project Management training conducted
in conjunction with Charles Darwin University,
and Unconscious Bias Training through the NT
Government Anti-Discrimination Commission.
There are a number of mandatory annual
requalification requirements for staff members in the
areas of firearms, defensive tactics, first aid, custody,
emergency vehicle and pursuit driving, and respect,
equity and diversity. Furthermore, members are
required to undertake various dynamic online courses
as required, ensuring all personnel are equipped to
provide our community with the highest level of skills
and knowledge possible within the circumstances.
College Education Services
The College Education Services team designs
training programs and provides educational advice
and support for NTPFES capability and induction
development, including the organisation’s online
development platform, College Online. The NTPFES
College has introduced a Police Instructor Course,
partially aligning national training requirements with
Australia New Zealand Policing Advisory Agency
training and assessment guidelines.
The College Education Services team provides
administrative support managing the Peter
McAulay Centre accommodation, training facilities
and equipment, timetabling, enrolments and
significant events including the swearing-in and
graduation ceremonies of all squads. Part of the
College Education Services team, the NTPFES
Library provides educational and study support and
evidence-based research services across the NT for all
staff to assist, develop and improve their knowledge.
The College Education Services team adopts a best
practice and continuous improvement approach to
ensure the NTPFES College activities are designed,
developed, implemented, reviewed and evaluated in
line with best practice, standards and the strategic
priorities of the NTPFES Ten Year Strategy.

Youth training

Junior Police Rangers 2020-21

NTPFES Cadet Program 2020-21

As the Junior Police Rangers (JPRs) enter their
36th year of operation, the program continues to
develop strong and confident youth to lead the NT
into the future. The program has 20 youth in each of
the 3 groups that are required to complete certain
tasks to successfully complete the program. All
tasks are aimed at improving self-confidence, selfawareness, teamwork and leadership.

The NTPFES Cadet Program continues its successful
partnership with the Department of Education and
more recently with Charles Darwin University. The
NTPFES College delivered training to 2 Darwin-based
cadet squads and 3 Alice Springs‑based cadet squads.
In 2020-21, 40 cadets graduated from the program,
including 24 from Darwin and 16 from Alice Springs.
The cadets completed a total of 600 hours of training
and volunteer work throughout the 2-year program,
which included each cadet obtaining a Certificate
Ill in Business and a Certificate II in Community
Engagement.
There are currently 3 active squads being Squad 10 in
Darwin and Squads 11 and 12 (Yirara) in Alice Springs.

The JPRs’ completed the Kokoda Trek in 2018 and
the organisers were so impressed with how they
presented, that they were invited to complete a trek in
2021. The JPRs Program was the recipient of the Duke
of Edinburgh Overland Track Sponsorship in 2021,
and due to the previous success, have been invited to
undertake a fully sponsored Overland Trek of Tasmania
from 2 to 10 December 2021. The sponsorship covers
16 participants and 4 supervisors.
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NT Fire and Rescue Service
The NT Fire and Rescue Service, Training and Development Command delivered accredited and
organisational training to; career, recruit and volunteer/auxiliary firefighters.
•

Recruit Squad 45 commenced their development training on 6 April 2021 and will graduate on 12 August 2021.

•

Training and Development Command assessed 5 members of the Leading Firefighter Course as they
completed their theoretical and practical training in leadership and operational incident control.
These members are now eligible to act as station officers in an operational capacity. The program was
deferred from 2020, due to COVID-19 restrictions.

•

The updated Public Safety Training Package was released and Training and Development Command are
currently working towards transitioning to the most current versions of the qualifications and these are
being developed and delivered to meet career (rank) progression requirements.

•

The Training and Development Command began work on redrafting the Career Progression Pathway
in partnership with members across various ranks and the union. This essential body of work should be
finalised by the 4th quarter of 2021.

•

The Volunteer Training Unit continued to provide training to both volunteer and auxiliary firefighters
across the NT Fire and Rescue Service response areas. This included a trial of the revised
Wildfire Package that will eventually be rolled-out across the Territory to enhance operational response
to bushfires in regional and remotes areas.

•

2 major aerial appliance courses were conducted, which sees 6 additional firefighters now qualified
to operate the 45m Bronto appliance, enhancing the NT Fire and Rescue Service’s ability to respond
to and effect firefighting and observation application in reference to high-rise and industrial building
incident, along with the capability to perform rescues from above and below ground level.

There were 48 enrolments in the various qualifications and units focused on firefighting and emergency
operations:

12

enrolments

1

enrolment

23

12

enrolments

enrolments

PUA20619:

PUA30613:

PUA30619:

Operational Elective:

Certificate II

Certificate III

Certificate III

Participate in a

in Public Safety

in Public Safety

in Public Safety

First Response

(Firefighting and

(Firefighting and

(Firefighting and

Urban Search and

Emergency Operations)

Emergency Operations)

Emergency Operations)

Rescue Category 1
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NT Emergency Service
The NT Emergency Service, Learning and Development Command delivered accredited and organisational
training to NTPFES cadets, NT Fire and Rescue Service and NT Emergency Service volunteers,
NTPFES staff and other government agencies.
•

NT Emergency Service volunteers attended 81 courses offered across the NT.

•

There were 66 emergency management courses delivered face-to-face across the Territory.

•

These
included
Introduction
and Introduction to AIIMS.

•

168 NT Government personnel completed the online Introduction to Emergency Management course.

•

138 NT Government personnel completed the online Introduction to WebEOC course.

•

Learning and Development Command are in the process of updating the online programs Introduction
to Emergency Management and Introduction to WebEOC, providing an alternate delivery method for
agencies that are not able to attend the face-to-face sessions. The online courses will be a prerequisite
to the face-to-face session of Introduction to AIIMS later this year, reducing the release time
for the face-to-face training from 3 days down to 2.

•

Learning and Development Command continue to develop AIIMS Level 2 courses with the
assistance of NTPFES College for delivery in the new financial year.
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to

Emergency

Management,

Introduction

to

WebEOC

Qualifications issued 2020-211
Statement of
attainment issued

Full qualification
Issued

Qualification/unit code

Qualification/unit name

22459VIC

Course in the Australasian
Inter-service Incident
Management System (AIIMS)

-

371

POL21115

Certificate II in Community
Engagement

-

33

POL30119

Certificate III in Aboriginal
Community Policing

-

10

POL50118

Diploma of Policing

-

36

PUA20619

Certificate II in Public
Safety ( Firefighting and
Emergency Operations)

1

-

PUA30613

Certificate III in Public
Safety (Firefighting and
Emergency Operations)

12

41

PUA30619

Certificate III in Public
Safety (Firefighting and
Emergency Operations)

1

-

PUA40313

Certificate IV in Public Safety
(Firefighting Supervision)

14

7

PUA40319

Certificate IV in Public Safety
(Firefighting Supervision)

-

1

Operate Aerial Appliance

-

19

12

11

Check Installed Fire Safety Systems

-

23

Undertake Community
Safety Activities

-

22

Volunteer Firefighter Level 1

-

58

Volunteer Firefighter - Wildfire

-

8

40

640

Participate in a First Response Urban
Search and Rescue Category 1
NTFRS Organisational
Electives

Total
I

1

Source: Data was extracted from VETtrak on 22 July 2021.
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Honours and awards
Whilst serving and protecting the NT community, staff and volunteers of NTPFES are recognised for
their continued dedication, service excellence and professional achievements occurring in the workplace
environment.
For inclusion in this report all members listed met the criteria to be awarded a medal or an award in the last
financial year; however, some recipients may not have been presented their medal or award prior to the
release of this report.

Awards administered under the Australian
system of honours and awards
Australian Police Medal

Australian Fire Service Medal

Emergency Service Medal

The Australian Police Medal
is awarded for distinguished
service by a member of
an Australian police force.
Recipients are entitled to the
post nominal APM.

The Australian Fire Service
Medal recognises distinguished
service by members of an
Australian fire service. It may
be awarded to both paid
and
volunteer
members.
Recipients are entitled to the
post nominal AFSM.

The
Emergency
Service
Medal recognises distinguished
service by members of an
Australian emergency service.
It may be awarded to both
paid and volunteer members.
Recipients are entitled to the
post nominal ESM.

Wilson, Mathew

Hawkes, David

Burnell, Bindi-Jane
Kilian, Christopher
Hill, Lauren
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National Police Service Medal
The National Police Service Medal is awarded in recognition of the special status that sworn police officers
have because of their role protecting the community. It represents a police officer’s past and future
commitment to give ethical and diligent service.

Ackerley, Todd

Jones, Gaylene

Ryan, Jamie

Anthony, Billy

Kean, Gregory

Scott, Warren

Berlin, Brenden

Kirk, Darren

Slater, Darryl

Bolger, Glenn

Liebelt, Benjamin

Summerville, Lee-anne

Cram, Mathew

Lisson, Maxwell

Thompson, Matthew

Dickson, Laurise

Magree, Richard

Waddell, Tristan

Drury, Charles

McGrath, Lynette

Wheaton, Kathleen

Everingham, Jason

Milde, Michael

Wrigglesworth, David

Gray-Spence, James

Nash, Donna

Wake, Rowan

Hayman, Nicole

Overall, Robert

Weller, Kieron

Hogan, Brendon

Riesenweber, Damian

Winter, Stuart

1,618

33

12

34

NT Police Force

NT Fire and Rescue Service

NT Emergency Service

Tri-service

medals awarded

medals awarded

medals awarded

medals awarded
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National Medal
The National Medal recognises 15 years diligent service by members of recognised government and voluntary
organisations that risk their lives or safety to protect or assist the community in enforcement of the law or in
times of emergency or natural disaster.

Ackerley, Todd

Jones, Gaylene

Ryan, Jaime

Anthony, Billy

Kirk, Darren

Rowley, Brent

Bolger, Glenn

Kean, Gregory

Slater, Darryl

Brennan, Andrew

Liebelt, Benjamin

Stone, Patrick

Berlin, Brenden

Lisson, Maxwell

Summerville, Lee-anne

Cram, Mathew

Milde, Michael

Thompson, Matthew

Dickson, Laurise

Magree, Richard

Wheaton, Kathleen

Everingham, Jason

McDonald, Shelley

Waddell, Tristan

Griffiths, Robert

Nash, Donna

Winter, Stuart

Gray-Spence, James

O'Riordan, David

Wrigglesworth, David

Hayman, Nicole

Overall, Robert

Weller, Kieron

Hogan, Brendon

Riesenweber, Damian

Yates, Leigh

First Clasp to the National Medal (25 Years of Service)
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Burrows, Cameron

Kennedy, Gavin

Spilsbury, Ian

Butler, Mark

Minnett, Warren

Shaw, Damien

Beaumont, Christopher

Mitson, Lisa

Tennosaar, Siiri-Kai

Delaine, Robert

Newell, Wayne

Worrall, John

Hand, Christopher

O'Brien, J, James

Wurst, Travis

Heath, Katrina

Ordelman, Michael

White, Christopher

Hunt, Gary

Patterson, Bruce

Innes, Andrew

Rothe, Jason
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Second Clasp to the National Medal (35 Years of Service)
Delaine, Robert

Keightley, Paul

Hollamby, Matthew

Parnell, Sean

Kerr, Darrell

Sandry, Timothy

Taylor, Alistair

Third Clasp to the National Medal (45 Years of Service)
Casey, Garry

Delaine, Robert

Oates, Allan

Credit: NT News

Awards administered by the NTPFES

Commissioner/CEO’s
Outstanding Leadership Medal
Awarded in recognition of
consistent performance to a high
standard during the member’s
policing career and projecting an
excellent example of leadership at
the supervisory level.
Coonan, Glen
Maclean, Michael

Police Auxiliary of the Year

Patricia Anne Brennan Award

This award recognises individual
police auxiliaries who have
undertaken their duties with
diligence and dedication through
the effective and efficient
delivery of police services to the
community or who have, through
those duties, enhanced the
standing of the NT Police Force.

Awarded in recognition of a
significant contribution made
to women in the NTPFES by an
individual employee either sworn
or unsworn.
Cooper, Annette

Ducat, Sheree
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NT Police Service Medal
The NT Police Service Medal is awarded in recognition of the ethical and diligent service by sworn members
of the NT Police Force. Ten years eligible service is necessary to qualify for the medal and clasps are available
for each additional 10 years of service.
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Archibald, Lavinia

Hansen, Peter

Peart, Benjamin

Bellis, Cameron

Horton, Lesley

Pedrotti, Fredy

Bennett, Matthew

Humphries, Christopher

Peterken, Stephen

Bennett, Elle

Hutchinson, Sarah

Raeburn, Ashleigh

Berry, Trent

Hutchinson-Goncz, Alana

Schaefe-Lee, Tony

Bond, Mark

Jolejole, Shane

Schmidt, Robyn

Bryden, Amena

Keenan, Darren

Schultz, Daniel

Butcher, Stuart

Kershaw, Janice

Scott, Amelia

Clarke, Damien

Livingstone, Kelly

Scott, Maree

Coulson, Matilda

Lymbery, Todd

Smith, Joel

Crossan, Carla

Masters, Christopher

Stephens, Mitchell

Curriez, Eric

Mayo, Nathan

Studders, Rhys

Danganbarr, Bettina

Mawhinney, Jamie

Swain, Michael

Davey, Adam

McCue, Paul

Waghorn, Damon

Davies, Ian

Millar, Rosemary

Warfield, Christopher

Douglas, Helen

Miller, Taryn

Whitehead, Andrew

Ewin, Kelly

Moore, Ellen

Wilson, Craig

Farley, Phillip

Morrissey, Paul

Williams, Jarrod

Freer, Jane

Nicholls, Joshua

Young, David

George, Timothy

O’Keefe, David

Zeitz, Daranee

Gregory, David

Pardon, Brodie
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20 Year Clasp to the NT Police Service Medal
Anderson, Kylie

Jackson, Warren

Russell, Scott

Bentley, Justin

Kennon, Ian

Seears, Suzanne

Bradshaw, Kenneth

King, Meacham

Shervill, Brendon

Butler, Kerry

Maccioni, Paul

Shewring, Shane

Cabunsol, Rosario

Magrath, Andrew

Siebert, Alexander

Carmody, Paul

Malley, Peter

Smith, Robert

Clarke, Anthony

Morgan, William

Tilley, Wayne

Curtiss, Michael

Nalder, Stephen

Valladares, Kylie

Dalrymple, Steven

O’Brien, Christopher

Wedding, Stephen

Dwyer, Justene

O’Neil, Julie

Wells, Kieran

Dye, Kim

O’Neil, Wayne

Whiting, Michael

Fermin, Erwin

Payne, Bruce

Wilson, Brett

Grace, Michelle

Pethick, Karen

Young, Ivana

Gregory, John

Rankine, Steven

Hulm, Warwick

Rigby, Kerry

30 Year Clasp to the NT Police Service Medal
Heath, Andrew

Martin, Richard

Teague, Allan

Henderson, Mark

Pusterla, Gregory

Turner, Edmund

James, Robert

Short, Richard

40 Year Clasp to the NT Police Service Medal
Davie, Ian

Kilian, Christopher

Poore, Roderick
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Remote Service Ribbon
The Remote Service Ribbon recognises the meritorious service of members who have served in remote
areas for 24 months of continuous service or longer. All sworn members including police auxiliaries
and ACPOs are eligible to apply.
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Birch, Peter

Hughes, Jason

Sanderson, Melissa

Bravos, Andrew

Kamiko, Vincent

Sariago, Jason

Cameron, Sharon

Keenan, Danielle

Schrader, Dean

Cooper, Annette

Martin, Barbara

Smith, Tania

Eckhoff, Tristan

Metcalfe, Martin

Thornton, Ryan

Gerbicz-Fisher, Jason

Nankivell, Ian

Watts, Natalie

Hamer, Anna-Louisa

O’Connor, Luke

Wellstead, Alisia

Hansen, Peter

Pieniacki, Debra

Woldseth, Matthew

Hertman, Adrian

Ragg, Colin

VanOosten, Adam

Hillen, George

Richards, Renee
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NTPFES College – Benefactor's awards 2020-21
Recruit Constable Course

The Commissioner’s Trophy
The Commissioner’s Trophy is awarded for overall performance in all areas of the recruit training course
including academic, practical and physical training.
Squad 137 - Jarvis, Nicki

Squad 140 - Familari, Jomerson

Squad 138 - Cockatoo-Collins, Donald

Squad 141 - Trow, Jack

Squad 139 - Black, Terence

The Rod Evans Memorial Trophy
The Rod Evans Memorial Trophy is awarded for the highest academic achievement in the recruit
training course.
Squad 137 - Jones, Stacey

Squad 140 - Snook, Nicholas

Squad 138 - Lammon, Jetheth

Squad 141 - Gray, Jenna

Squad 139 - Curiez, Hailey

The Physical Training Trophy
The Physical Training Trophy is awarded for outstanding ability in the physical training component of the
recruit training course.
Squad 137 - Tuilia, Joseph

Squad 140 - Oliver, Matthew

Squad 138 - Angove, Robert

Squad 141 - Morris, Ashley

Squad 139 - Lohse, Carlton

The Glen Huitson Medal
The Glen Huitson Medal is an award presented by the NT Police Association for the most consistent
application in all areas of training throughout the recruit training course.
Squad 137 - Wallace, Brad

Squad 139 - Smith, Christopher

Squad 138 - Richards, Shannon

Squad 140 - McGuire, Sienna

Squad 139 - Barbour, Deborah

Squad 141 - Moss, Bradley
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NTPFES College – Benefactor's awards 2020-21
Aboriginal Liaison Officer Course

The Commissioner’s Trophy
The Commissioner’s Trophy is awarded to the ALO who has displayed outstanding dedication throughout
the training program.
Squad 1 - Matthews, Montana

Squad 3 - Franey, Shane

Squad 2 - Dandy, Jezebel

The Most Consistent and Improved
The Most Consistent and Improved Award is awarded to the ALO who is recognised by the coordinators
and ATSIDU for their commitment to the training program and continuous improvement throughout
the course.
Squad 1 - Briscoe, Derek

Squad 2 - Kennedy, Deanna

Squad 2 - Dunn, Kyle

Squad 3 - Patrick, Charmaine

NTPFES College – Benefactor's awards 2020-21
Auxiliary Recruit Course

The Commissioner’s Trophy
The Commissioner’s Trophy is awarded for outstanding performance in all areas of the training course
including academic, practical and physical training.
Squad 66 - Julicher, Romney

Squad 67 - Brar, Ajaypal

The Most Dedicated Student
The Most Dedicated Student Award is awarded to the most dedicated student on each auxiliary
induction course.
Squad 66 - Weber, Allison
Squad 67 - Vargas, John
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Squad 68 - Cielens, Catherine

NT Fire and Rescue Service
NT Fire and Rescue Service Medal
Awarded in recognition of ethical and diligent service by officers of the NT Fire and Rescue Service.
Ten years eligible service is necessary to qualify for the medal and clasps are available for each additional
10 years of service.

Barker, William

O'Mahony, Jason

Waterbury, Leith

Casey, Garry

Pitkin, Malcolm

Wharam, James

Charteris, Mark

Rowe, Clayton

Wilson, Liam

Green, Ronald

Russell, Steven

Wilson, Tracey-anne

Hamilton, Michael

Schlabsz, Shawn

Young, Russell

Harley, Andrew

Thompson, Andrew

Hutton, Keith

Walters, Rachael

20 Year Clasp to the NT Fire and Rescue Service Medal
Burt, Simon

Malseed, Steven

Slack, Craig

Cucchiaro, Luigi

Roth, Karl

Wilson, Owen

Ferguson, Nathan

Roth, Roberta

Whittaker, Jeffrey

Letheby, David

Sgarbossa, Adrian

Whilst serving and protecting the NT
community, staff and volunteers of
NTPFES are recognised for their continued
dedication, service excellence and
professional achievements occurring in the
workplace environment.
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NT Emergency Service
NT Emergency Service Volunteer Service Medal
Awarded in recognition of meritorious service by NT Emergency Service volunteers. Five years eligible
service is necessary to qualify for the medal.

Driver, Catherine

Hakanson, Christopher

Odgaard, Grace

Green, Janet

Nicholls, Alison

Perry, Rhys

Greene, John

Kupke, Christopher

Chief Minister’s NT Emergency Service 10 Year Certificate of Appreciation
Button, Paul

Chapman, Leon

Mariano, Randy

NTPFES
NTPFES Public Sector Medal
Awarded in recognition of ethical and diligent service by NTPFES public sector personnel.
Ten years of eligible service is necessary to qualify for the medal, and clasps are available for each
additional 5 years of service.

Bellenger, Gemma

Keogh, Patricia

Perry, Margaret

Benaim, Pauline

Laws, Katelyn

Pritchard, Brett

Blyton, Sally

Laws, Sara

Rivera, Hazel

Elgar, Megan

MacDonald, Lachlan

Sherley, Geoffrey

Hau, Felizarda

Miller, Kane

Sarib, Fiona

Jordan, Caitlyn

O’Connor, Fleur

Turner, Daniel

15 Year Clasp to the NTPFES Public Sector Medal
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Benaim, Pauline

Kelly, Paul

Lewis, Keith

Duncan, Christopher

Lawler, Martin

Morrison, Wendy
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20 Year Clasp to the NTPFES Public Sector Medal
Andreasen, Heidi

Benaim, Pauline

Stitfold, Julie

25 Year Clasp to the NTPFES Public Sector Medal
Krishnan, Radha

Pullen, Darren

40 Year Clasp to the NTPFES Public Sector Medal
Fong, Bonita

Administrator’s Medal for the Aboriginal Community Police Officer of the Year – 2020
Ostrofski, Jermaine

Rotary NT Police Officer of the Year – 2020
Nicholson, Jacqui

Rotary Eric Simmons Career Firefighter of the Year – 2020
Salt, Royle

Rotary Eric Simmons Volunteer Firefighter of the Year – 2020
Burrows, Cameron

Rotary Damian Clifton Award for NT SES Member of the Year – 2021
Cunnington, Marie
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Commissioner’s letter of recognition
Awarded in recognition of the effective management and leadership in extraordinary circumstances
to coordinate the agency’s largest squad of recruit constables. Along with the arising difficulties of the
recently announced COVID-19 pandemic, the coordinators, using initiative and best practice policing,
recalibrated the training calendar for 60 constable recruits from Squad 136 to ensure that all necessary
training functions and essential competencies were successfully and simultaneously delivered and assessed
within a shortened time-frame.
Stewart, Clinton

Barton, Vanessa

Awarded in recognition of the outstanding dedication and efforts to successfully detect and prosecute a taxi
driver who was charged with 149 counts of unauthorised sale of liquor, under the Liquor Act 2019. The results
of the culminated efforts from each member has in the first instance, resulted in a sentence of imprisonment
for the offender and prevented further alcohol related harm to vulnerable Territorians.
Appo, Jacqueline

Keating, Jessica

Skene, Benjamin

Arnell, Blake

Lynch, Bradley

Slater, Jessica

Boiteau, Lachlan

McCormack, Shane

Tait, Samuel

Hunt, Jason

Munro, Alexander

Thompson, Jared

Joseph, Sam

Nolan, Beth

Wilkinson, Rachel

Justice, Molly

Selvakumar, Siddarth

Awarded in recognition for their nominations for the Rotary Damian Clifton Award 2020 in response to
the exemplary service within the NT Emergency Service and the contributions they have served to the
community. These members have been nominated for showcasing the 5 core Rotary values of service,
fellowship, diversity, integrity and leadership whilst upholding the values of the NTPFES.
Fishlock, Mark

Green, Ron

Follett, Mark

Herzog, Karl

Travers, David

Awarded in recognition of the Police Recruitment Unit for the commitment and dedication to the continued
recruiting processes throughout the challenges presented in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Despite these challenges, and the high demand for recruits during these trying times, the Police Recruitment
Unit has seen the first all Territorian squad and processed additional squads in dramatically reduced
timeframes whilst maintaining the quality and integrity of the recruitment process.
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Agnew, Kevin

Ducat, Sheree

Bouma, Serge

Hayes, Neil

Craven, Andrew

Laws, Katelyn
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Paterson, Erin
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Financial statement overview
For the year ended 30 June 2021
This section of the report provides an analysis of the financial outcome of NTPFES for the year ended
30 June 2021.
The NTPFES’ financial performance is reported in three financial statements: the operating statement,
balance sheet and cash flow statement. These statements are enhanced by the inclusion of the statement
of changes in equity. The statements and accompanying notes have been prepared on an accrual basis and
in accordance with the relevant Australian Accounting Standards. The financial statements include financial
data from the 2020-21 financial year and comparative data from 2019-20.
Budgets and performance are reported by output. Details of the NTPFES’ financial performance by output
group are provided at Note 3 to the financial statements.

Synopsis of key movements
Understanding business drivers that framed the 2020-21 budget and key movements since that time improves
the understanding of the community and the following commentary is provided, reinforcing commentary
throughout the financial statements and supporting notes:
•

COVID-19 response – The NT Government provided $26.6 million to operate the Emergency Operations
Centre, biosecurity and border controls. Additionally, the Commonwealth paid $4.7 million on a
reimbursement basis for the work related to the Howard Springs Quarantine Facility

•

Treasurer’s Advance for a police investigation, Humpty Doo fire and the Northern region flooding
($0.63 million)

•

Equity injection ($3 million) at end of financial year to maintain cash balances.
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Operating statement
The operating statement provides information on the NTPFES’ income and expenses during the year.
The net surplus or deficit is derived by subtracting expenses from income.
NT Government agencies are generally budgeted to record a deficit. This is mainly due to the recording of
depreciation as an operating expense for which there is no corresponding revenue line; approvals to expend
revenues received in a different financial year will also produce an operating deficit.
For the year ended 30 June 2021, NTPFES recorded a deficit of $34.2 million, a deterioration of $7.9 million
on the final estimate deficit of $26.3 million due to increased police recruitment and additional frontline
resourcing pressures contributing to the operating result.

Compared to the 2020-21 final estimate, an
increase in operating income of $3 million
(1%) was recorded consisting of increased
grants and subsidies revenues for specific
Commonwealth funded programs.
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Operating statement as at 30 June 2021
INCOME

Final Estimate $000

Actual $000

Variance $000

Variance %

5,056

8,938

3,882

77%

392,827

392,827

Commonwealth

26,379

26,095

-284

-1%

Other revenue

42,346

41,751

-595

-1%

466,608

469,611

3,003

1%

Employee expenses

342,540

354,044

11,504

3%

Administrative expenses

149,837

149,197

-640

0%

Grants and subsidies expenses

245

245

Interest expenses

276

305

29

11%

TOTAL EXPENSES

492,898

503,791

10,893

2%

NET SURPLUS (+) / DEFICIT (-)

-26 290

-34,180

-7,890

Grants and subsidies revenue
Appropriation
Output

TOTAL INCOME

0%

EXPENSES

Operating income

Composition of operating income for 2020-21

Income is received from a variety of sources with
the primary funding source being Parliamentary
Appropriation (Output Appropriation) at 84%,
other revenue at 9%, followed by Commonwealth
payments for National Partnership Agreements at
6% outlined in the graph below.
Compared to the 2020-21 final estimate, an increase
in operating income of $3 million (1%) was recorded
consisting of increased grants and subsidies revenues
for specific Commonwealth funded programs –
Cross Border Family Violence Intelligence Model ($2.5
million) and COVID-19 reimbursement ($1.09 million).
This was offset by lower indexation applied to the
NT Remote Aboriginal Investment Commonwealth
Program and $0.6 million lower goods and services
fees - free of charge (non-cash) applied by other
NT Government agencies than forecast.

0%

6%

1%

9%

84%



Output appropriation



Other revenue



Commonwealth appropriation



Grants and subsidies
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Operating expenses
Compared to the 2020-21 final estimate, an operating expenses overspend of $10.9 million or 2% was
recorded due to increased police recruitment and additional frontline resourcing pressures.
Composition of operating expenses for 2020-21

0%

0%

30%


Employee



Administration



Grants and subsidies



Interest

70%

Balance sheet
The balance sheet provides information about the NTPFES’ equity or net worth at the end of each reporting
period. It is the net effect of assets minus liabilities. Equity increased by $23.5 million from the prior year to
$373 million in 2020-21.
Current assets increased by $3.2 million largely due to the increased receivables for Commonwealth
reimbursement for COVID-19 expenses at the Howard Springs Quarantine Facility.
Non-current assets increased by $32.9 million mainly due to the recognition of the new Palmerston Police
Station and the revaluation of buildings and land in the Darwin region resulting in an increase of $2 million.
Total liabilities for the NTPFES increased by $12.7 million as a result of increased deposits held – accountable
officer's trust account, which is money held on behalf of third parties, largely drug seizure monies awaiting
court outcomes. Additionally, an increase in provisions for employee entitlements such as recreation leave,
leave loading and leave fares as the agency has deferred approved leave to manage resources for COVID-19
requirements and the recognition under the accounting standard of Australian Accounting Standards Board
16 (AASB 16) of leased right-of-use assets for police housing and remote police station leases.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows the flows of cash receipts and payments for the year. The final cash balance
at the end of the year increased reflecting changes to cash based on business activity outlined in the
Operating Statement and additional output appropriation and Commonwealth contribution later in the year
for unforeseen, unbudgeted events such as COVID-19 related activities and additional frontline resourcing
pressures. It is the total of all receipts plus cash held at the beginning of the year, minus all outgoings.
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Certification of the financial statement
We certify that the attached financial statements for the NTPFES have been prepared based on proper
accounts and records in accordance with the prescribed format, the Financial Management Act 1995
and Treasurer’s Directions.
We further state that the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet,
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement, and notes to and forming part of the financial statements,
presents fairly the financial performance and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2021 and the financial
position on that date.
At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in
the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Jamie Chalker APM

Sally Blyton

Commissioner of Police and CEO

Acting Chief Financial Officer

of Fire and Emergency Services

NTPFES

27 August 2021

26 August 2021
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Comprehensive operating statement for the year ended 30 June 2021
INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue

Note

2021 $000

2020 $000

8,138

3,522

4a

Current
Capital

800

Appropriation

4b

Output

392,827

370,373

26,095

25,016

4c

5,445

4,788

Goods and services received free of charge1

5

33,883

32,065

Gain on disposal of assets

6

902

391

4d

1,521

2,306

3

469,611

438,461

354,044

328,290

13,527

12,084

73,321

68,125

0

8

28,198

28,371

34,151

32,260

245

358

Commonwealth
Sales of goods and services

Other income
TOTAL INCOME
EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses
Property management
Purchases of goods and services

8

Repairs and maintenance
Depreciation and amortisation

14, 15, 16

Other administrative expenses1
Grants and subsidies expenses
Current
Interest expenses

8

305

331

TOTAL EXPENSES

3

503,791

469,828

-34,180

-31,367

Changes in asset revaluation surplus

615

0

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

615

0

-33,565

-31,367

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT
I

1
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Includes Department of Corporate and Digital Development service charges and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics
repairs and maintenance service charges.
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Balance sheet as at 30 June 2021
ASSETS

Note

2021 $000

2020 $000

Cash and deposits

10

8,549

7,427

Receivables

12

4,308

1,896

Inventories

13

3,514

3,861

16,371

13,184

14, 15, 23

448,075

414,510

16A, 23

412

1,049

Total non-current assets

448,487

415,559

TOTAL ASSETS

464,858

428,743

6,908

5,697

Current assets

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Deposits held
Payables

17

8,444

7,985

Borrowings and advances

18

183

183

Provisions

19

61,708

53,760

Other liabilities

20

720

626

77,963

68,251

13,926

10,977

Total non-current liabilities

13,926

10,977

TOTAL LIABILITIES

91,889

79,228

372,969

349,515

615,862

558,843

124,687

124,072

-367,580

-333,400

372,969

349,515

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings and advances

18

NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Capital
Reserves

22

Accumulated funds
TOTAL EQUITY

Note: The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2021

2020-21

Note

Accumulated funds
Changes in accounting policy
Transfers from reserves
Reserves

22

Equity at
1 July $000

Comprehensive
result $000

-327,283

-34,180

Transactions
with owners in
their capacity as
owners $000

Equity at
30 June $000
-361,463

-604

-604

-5,513

-5,513

-333,400

-34,180

-367,580

124,072

615

124,687

Capital – transactions with owners
Equity injections
Capital appropriation

192,074

12,735

204,809

Equity transfers in

340,109

41,507

381,617

69,981

3,000

72,981

Other equity injections
National partnership payments

15,249

15,249

Capital withdrawal

-44,765

-44,765

Equity transfers out

-13,806

-223

-14,029

558,843

57,019

615,862

57,019

372,969

Equity withdrawals

Total equity at end
of financial year

349,515

-33,565

-295,917

-31,367

2019-20
Accumulated funds
Adjustment on adoption
of AASB 1059
Transfers from reserves

-604

-604

-5,513

-5,513

-302,034
Reserves

22

-327,283

-31,367

-333,400

124,072

124,072

Capital – transactions with owners
Equity injections
Capital appropriation

182,952

9,122

192,074

Equity transfers in

324,190

15,919

340,109

Other equity injections

69,927

54

69,981

15,249

0

15,249

Capital withdrawal

-44,765

0

-44,765

Equity transfers out

-5,630

-8,177

-13,807

541,924

16,918

558,843

16,918

349,515

National partnership payments
Equity withdrawals

Total equity at end
of financial year

363,962

-31,367

Note: The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 30 June 2021
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Note

2021 $000

2020 $000

8 138

3 522

Operating receipts
Grants and subsidies received
Current
Capital

800

Appropriation
Output

392 827

370 373

26 095

25 016

10 863

12 138

438 723

411 050

-344 669

-321 306

-93 683

-83 877

Current

-245

-358

Interest paid

-305

-331

-438 903

-405 872

11

-180

5 178

6

3 651

3 304

3 651

3 304

Purchases of assets

-15 420

-10 754

Total investing payments

-15 420

-10 754

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

-11 769

-7 450

1 212

735

12 735

9 122

Commonwealth
Receipts from sales of goods and services
Total operating receipts
Operating payments
Payments to employees
Payments for goods and services
Grants and subsidies paid

Total operating payments
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing receipts
Proceeds from asset sales
Total investing receipts
Investing payments

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing receipts
Deposits received
Equity injections
Capital appropriation
Other equity injections
Total financing receipts

3 000

54

16 947

9 911

-3 876

-4 084

Financing payments
Lease liabilities payments
Equity withdrawals

0

Total financing payments

-3 876

-4 084

13 071

5 827

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

1 122

3 555

Cash at beginning of financial year

7 427

3 871

8 549

7 427

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

11

10

Note: The cash flow statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Index to notes to the financial statements
NOTE

NOTE

1

Objectives and funding

15

Agency as lessee

2

Statement of significant
accounting policies

16

Intangibles

3

Comprehensive operating
statement by output group
INCOME

4a

Grants and subsidies revenue

17

Payables

4b

Appropriation

18

Borrowings and advances

4c

Sale of goods and service

19

Provisions

4d

Other income

20

Other liabilities

5

Goods and services received
free of charge

21

Commitments

6

Gain on disposal of assets
EXPENSES

138

LIABILITIES

EQUITY
22

Reserves
OTHER DISCLOSURES

7

Purchases of goods and services

8

Interest expenses

23

Fair value measurement

9

Write-offs, postponements, waivers,
gifts and ex gratia payments

24

Financial instruments

ASSETS

25

Related parties

10

Cash and deposits

26

Contingent liabilities and
contingent assets

11

Cash flow reconciliation

27

Events subsequent to balance data

12

Receivables

28

Accountable officer's trust account

13

Inventories

29

Schedule of administered Territory items

14

Property, plant and equipment

30

Budgetary information

31

Budgetary information:
Administered Territory items
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1. Objectives and funding
The agency’s mission is to serve and protect our
community to achieve our vision of a safe and
resilient NT.
The agency is predominantly funded by and
therefore dependent on, the receipt of parliamentary
appropriations. The financial statements encompass
all funds through which the agency controls resources
to carry on its functions and deliver outputs.
For reporting purposes, outputs delivered by the
agency are summarised into several output groups.
Note 3 provides summarised financial information in
the form of a comprehensive operating statement by
the output group.

2. Statement of significant
accounting policies
a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Financial
Management Act 1995 and related Treasurer’s
Directions. The Financial Management Act 1995
requires the agency to prepare financial statements
for the year ended 30 June based on the form
determined by the Treasurer. The form of agency
financial statements should include:
(i) a certification of the financial statements
(ii) a comprehensive operating statement
(iii) a balance sheet
(iv) a statement of changes in equity
(v) a cash flow statement
(vi) applicable explanatory notes to the financial
statements.

b) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared using
the accrual basis of accounting, which recognises the
effect of financial transactions and events when they
occur, rather than when cash is paid out or received.
As part of the preparation of the financial statements,
all intra agency transactions and balances have been
eliminated.
Except where stated, the financial statements have
also been prepared in accordance with the historical
cost convention. The form of the agency financial
statements is also consistent with the requirements

of Australian accounting standards. The effects
of all relevant new and revised standards and
interpretations issued by the AASB that are effective
for the current annual reporting period have been
evaluated.
Standards and interpretations effective from 2020-21
Several amending standards and AASB interpretations
have been issued that apply to the current reporting
periods, but are considered to have no impact on
public sector reporting.
Standards and interpretations issued but not yet
effective
No Australian accounting standards have been
early adopted for 2020-21. Several other amending
standards and AASB interpretations have been
issued that apply to future reporting periods but are
considered to have limited impact on public sector
reporting.

c) Reporting entity
The financial statements cover the agency as an
individual reporting entity.
The agency is a NT department established under
the Interpretation Act 1978 and Administrative
Arrangements Order.
The principal place of business of the department is:
NAB House, 71 Smith Street, Darwin, NT 0800.

d) Agency and territory Items
The financial statements of agency include income,
expenses, assets, liabilities and equity over which
the agency has control (agency items). Certain items,
while managed by the agency, are controlled and
recorded by the Territory rather than the agency
(Territory items). Territory items are recognised
and recorded in the Central Holding Authority as
discussed below.
Central holding authority
The Central Holding Authority is the ‘parent body’
that represents the government’s ownership interest
in government-controlled entities.
The Central Holding Authority also records all
Territory items, such as income, expenses, assets
and liabilities controlled by the government and
managed by agencies on behalf of the government.
The main Territory item is Territory income,
which includes taxation and royalty revenue,
Commonwealth general purpose funding (such as
GST revenue), fines, and statutory fees and charges.
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The Central Holding Authority also holds certain
Territory assets not assigned to agencies as well as
certain Territory liabilities that are not practical or
effective to assign to individual agencies such as
unfunded superannuation and long service leave.
The Central Holding Authority recognises and
records all Territory items, and as such, these items
are not included in the agency’s financial statements.
However, as the agency is accountable for certain
Territory items managed on behalf of government,
these items have been separately disclosed in
Note 29 – Schedule of administered Territory items.

e) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information for
the 2019-20 financial year has been reclassified to
provide consistency with current year disclosures.

f) Presentation and rounding of amounts
Amounts in the financial statements and notes to
the financial statements are presented in Australian
dollars and have been rounded to the nearest
thousand dollars, with amounts of $500 or less
being rounded down to zero. Figures in the financial
statements and notes may not equate due to
rounding.

g) Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes to accounting policies
adopted in 2020-21 as a result of management
decisions. Changes in policies relating to COVID-19
are disclosed in k) below.

h) Accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of the financial report requires
the making of judgments and estimates that
affect the recognised amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
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affects both current and future periods.
Judgments and estimates that have significant effects
on the financial statements are disclosed in the
relevant notes to the financial statements.

i) Goods and services tax
Income, expenses and assets are recognised
net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred on a purchase of goods
and services is not recoverable from the ATO.
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part
of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount
of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the ATO is included as part of
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement
on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities, which
are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are
classified as operating cash flows. Commitments and
contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST
recoverable or payable unless otherwise specified.

j) Contributions by and distributions to
government
The agency may receive contributions from
government where the government is acting as
owner of the agency. Conversely, the agency may
make distributions to government. In accordance
with the Financial Management Act 1995 and
Treasurer’s Directions, certain types of contributions
and distributions, including those relating to
administrative restructures, have been designated as
contributions by, and distributions to, government.
These designated contributions and distributions
are treated by the agency as adjustments to equity.
The statement of changes in equity provides
additional information in relation to contributions
by, and distributions to, government.

k) Impact of COVID-19
The agency maintained the EOC and continued
enforcing biosercurity, border controls and the
Quarantine Facility at Howard Springs throughout
2020-21. Additional output appropriation received
from the Territory and expenditure offset by
Commonwealth reimbursement meant there was
minimal impact on the overall budget.

I

3
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1

-9,984

-8,598

0

0

-8,598

122,579

93

318

1

-18,179

0

0

-18,179

129,457

155

125

137

14,369

0

44,256

180,415

221,278

899

460

0

1

2,654

14,054

198,246

473

4,491

2021 $000

-15,073

0

0

-15,073

222,620

168

0

3

14,446

4

40,841

167,158

207,547

1 360

199

0

5

2,234

13,462

188,586

0

1,701

2020 $000

General policing, crime
detection investigation
and prosecution

Includes Department of Corporate and Digital Development and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics service charges.

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

0
0

Changes in asset revaluation surplus

-9,984

131,507

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

TOTAL EXPENSES

85

Interest expenses

75

7,934

0
7,891

22,429

91,801

113,981

747

109

24,305

99,084

121,523

494

69
8

14, 15, 16

7

4d

252

Current

Grants and subsidies expenses

Other administrative expenses1

Depreciation and amortisation

Repairs and maintenance

Purchases of goods and services

Administrative expenses

Employee expenses

EXPENSES

TOTAL INCOME

Other income

6

Gain on disposal of assets

0

0

2

0
5

Interest revenue

Goods and services received free of charge1

7,393

103,569
1,227

7,718

108,874

0

934

2020 $000

1,458

4c

4b

Sales of goods and services

Commonwealth

Output

Appropriation

260

Capital

2021 $000
2,467

4a

NOTE

Current

Grants and subsidies revenue

INCOME

Community safety and
crime prevention

-2,569

0

0

-2,569

33,827

22

18

19

2,030

0

6,652

25,486

31,258

126

65

0

0

375

1,985

28,005

67

634

2021 $000

-2,128

0

0

-2,128

31,447

24

0

0

2,040

1

5,769

23,613

29,319

192

28

0

1

316

1,902

26,640

0

240

2020 $000

Road safety services

-2,350

0

0

-2,250

46,401

30

24

26

2,785

0

8,576

34,960

44,051

0

89

0

0

958

2,338

40,277

0

389

2021 $000

-3,260

0

0

-3,260

44,146

33

0

1

2,865

0

8,099

33,148

40,886

0

40

0

0

1,011

2,259

37,397

0

179

2020 $000

Fire prevention and
response management

3. Comprehensive operating statement by output group – Outputs 1 – 4
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I

1

-566

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

1

-59

0

0

-59

2,880

2

40

0

184

0

521

2,133

2,821

0

3

0

0

0

0

2,406

0

412

2020 $000

-531

0

0

-531

13,829

9

7

8

830

0

2,556

10,419

13,298

0

27

0

0

0

0

13,155

0

116

2021 $000

-2,057

0

0

-2,057

13,900

11

0

0

902

0

2,550

10,437

11,843

0

12

0

0

0

0

11,775

0

56

2020 $000

Corporate and
governance

Includes Department of Corporate and Digital Development and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics service charges.

-566

0

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

0

Changes in asset revaluation surplus

Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

4,886

TOTAL EXPENSES

3

Interest expenses

3

293

0

903

3,681

4,320

0

9

0

0

0

0

4,270

3
8

14, 15, 16

7

4d

6

5

4c

4b

Current

Grants and subsidies expenses

Other administrative expenses1

Depreciation and amortisation

Repairs and maintenance

Purchases of goods and services

Administrative expenses

Employee expenses

EXPENSES

TOTAL INCOME

Other income

Gain on disposal of assets

Goods and services received free of charge

Interest revenue

Sales of goods and services

Commonwealth

Output

Appropriation

0

Capital

2021 $000
41

4a

NOTE

Current

Grants and subsidies revenue

INCOME

Emergency services

0

0

0

0

33,883

0

0

33,883

0

0

0

0

33,883

0

0

33,883

0

0

0

0

0

0

2021 $000

-190

0

0

-190

32,255

0

0

32,255

0

0

0

0

32,065

0

0

32,065

0

0

0

0

0

0

2020 $000

Shared services

-34,180

0

0

-34,180

503,790

305

245

34,151

28,198

0

86,848

354,044

469,611

1,520

902

33,883

1

5,445

26,095

392,827

800

8,138

2021 $000

-31,367

0

0

-31,367

469,428

332

358

32,260

28,371

8

80,209

328,290

438,461

2,298

391

32,065

8

4,788

25,016

370,373

0

3,522

2020 $000

Total

3. Comprehensive operating statement by output group – Outputs 5 – 6

Income
Income encompasses both revenue and gains.
Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, exclusive of the amount of GST.
Exchanges of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash consideration being exchanged
are not recognised as income.

4. Revenue
a) Grants and subsidies revenue
2021

Current grants
Capital grants
Total grants and
subsidies revenue

2020

Total $000

Revenue from
contracts with
customers
$000

Other $000

Total $000

8,232

8,938

946

2,576

3,522

0

0

0

0

0

0

706

8,232

8,938

946

2,576

3,522

Revenue from
contracts with
customers
$000

Other $000

706

Grants revenue is recognised at fair value exclusive
of the amount of GST.
Where a grant agreement is enforceable and has
sufficiently specific performance obligations for the
agency to transfer goods or services to the grantor or
a third party beneficiary, the transaction is accounted
for under AASB 15. In this case, revenue is initially
deferred as a contract liability when received in
advance and recognised as or when the performance
obligations are satisfied. The agency has adopted a
low value contract threshold of $50,000 excluding
GST and recognises revenue from contracts with a
low value, upfront on receipt of income.
The agency’s applicable agreement is for the delivery
of community safety and crime prevention to the
Groote Eylandt community through three police and
drug dogs. Funding is generally received 6-monthly,
and the agency typically satisfies obligations and
recognises revenue as services are being delivered
as specified in the agreement.
A financing component for consideration is only
recognised if it is significant to the contract and the
period between the transfer of goods and services
and receipt of consideration is more than one year.
For the 2020-21 and 2019-20 reporting periods,
there were no adjustments for the effects of a
significant financing component

Where grant agreements do not meet criteria
above, it is accounted for under AASB 1058
and income is recognised on receipt of funding
except for capital grants revenue received for the
purchase or construction of non-financial assets
to be controlled by the agency. Capital grants with
enforceable contracts and sufficiently specific
obligations are recognised as an unearned revenue
liability when received and subsequently recognised
progressively as revenue as or when the agency
satisfies its obligations under the agreement.
Where a non-financial asset is purchased, revenue
is recognised at the point in time the asset is
acquired and control transfers to the agency.
Grant revenue, passed on from a Territory
Government-controlled entity with the exception of
the Central Holding Authority, is recognised upfront
on receipt, irrespective of which revenue accounting
standard it may fall under in accordance with the
Treasurer’s Direction on income
Revenue from contracts with customers have been
disaggregated below into categories to enable
users of these financial statements to understand
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
income and cash flows. These categories include a
description of the type of product or service line,
type of customer and timing of transfer of goods
and services.
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Grant agreements that satisfy recognition requirements under AASB 15 are disaggregated below.
TYPE OF GOOD AND SERVICE

2021 $000

2020 $000

706

946

706

946

706

946

706

946

706

946

706

946

Regulatory services
Service delivery
Construction services
Sales of inventory
Research services
Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service
TYPE OF CUSTOMER
Australian Government entities
State and territory governments
Non-government entities
Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer
TIMING OF TRANSFER OF GOODS AND SERVICES
Overtime
Point in time
Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer

b) Appropriation
2021

2020

Total $000

Revenue from
contracts with
customers
$000

Other $000

Total $000

392,827

392,827

0

370,373

370,373

0

26,095

26,095

0

25,016

25,016

0

418,922

418,922

0

395,389

395,389

Revenue from
contracts with
customers
$000

Other $000

Output

0

Commonwealth
Total appropriation

Output appropriation is the operating payment to each agency for the outputs they provide as specified
in the Appropriation Act 1999-2000. It does not include any allowance for major non-cash costs such
as depreciation. Output appropriations do not have sufficiently specific performance obligations and
recognised on receipt of funds.
Commonwealth appropriation follows from the intergovernmental agreement on federal financial
relations, resulting in specific purpose payments and national partnership payments being made by
the Commonwealth Treasury to state treasuries, in a manner similar to arrangements for GST payments.
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These payments are received by the Department of Treasury and Finance on behalf of the Central Holding
Authority and then passed on to the relevant agencies as Commonwealth appropriation.
Where appropriation received has an enforceable contract with sufficiently specific performance obligations
as defined in AASB 15, revenue is recognised as and when goods and or services are transferred to the
customer or third party beneficiary. Otherwise revenue is recognised when the agency gains control of
the funds.

c) Sales of Goods and Services
2021

2020

Total $000

Revenue from
contracts with
customers
$000

Other $000

Total $000

5,445

5,445

0

4,788

4,788

5,445

5,445

0

4,788

4,788

Revenue from
contracts with
customers
$000

Other $000

Sales of goods
and services

0

Total sales of goods
and services

0

Revenue from regulatory fees is recognised when the agency satisfies its performance obligations.
These include fees for the issue of licences. The agency’s sole performance obligations for the issue of a
non-intellectual property licence is the issue of the licence, as such revenue is recognised upfront on issue
of the licence. For intellectual property licences, revenue is recognised at a point in time or overtime as
or when the performance obligation is satisfied. The agency recognises licenses with a term less than
12 months or a low value of $10,000 or less, upfront on receipt of cash.
Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the agency satisfies the performance obligation
by transferring the promised services. The agency typically satisfies its performance obligations when
the services have been provided to the community. Such performance obligation is generally satisfied
and revenue is recognised at the point in time when the service/goods (e.g., license fees) have been
issued/provided to the customer.

d) Other income
2021

2020

Total $000

Revenue from
contracts with
customers
$000

Other $000

Total $000

2,422

2,422

0

2,698

2,698

2,422

2,422

0

2,698

2,698

Revenue from
contracts with
customers
$000

Other $000

Other income

0

Total other income

0

Donated assets include assets received at below fair value or for nil consideration that can be measured
reliably. These are recognised as revenue at their fair value when control over the assets is obtained,
normally either on receipt of the assets or on notification the assets have been secured, unless received
from another government entity as a consequence of a restructuring of administrative arrangements.
The agency’s other income relates mainly to operational revenue that is typically recognised at the point in
time when an invoice has been raised and/or when revenue has been received.
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5. Goods and services received free of charge

DCDD services
DIPL services
Total

2021 $000

2020 $000

26,954

25,361

6,929

6,704

33,883

32,065

Resources received free of charge are recognised as revenue when, and only when, a fair value can be
reliably determined and the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Use of those
resources is recognised as an expense. Resources received free of charge are recorded as either revenue or
gains depending on their nature.
Repairs and maintenance expenses and associated employee costs are centralised and provided by the
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics and forms part of goods and services free of charge of
the agency.
In addition, corporate services staff and functions are centralised and provided by Department of Corporate
and Digital Development and forms part of goods and services free of charge of the agency.

6. Gain on disposal of assets

Net proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets
Less: Carrying value of non-current assets disposed
Gain on the disposal of non-current assets
Proceeds from sale of minor assets
Total
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2021 $000

2020 $000

3,655

3,304

(2,770)

(2,945)

885

359

17

32

902

391

7. Purchases of goods and services
The net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at
after charging the following expenses

2021 $000

2020 $000

Consultants1

261

85

Advertising2

20

31

Marketing and promotion3

108

206

Document production

189

101

Legal expenses4

397

1,427

Recruitment5

754

466

Training and study

870

778

Official duty fares

940

1,262

2,984

2,766

Information technology charges and communications

13,294

13,190

Insurance premiums

13,775

13,785

Motor vehicle expenses

6,396

6 ,258

Other equipment expenses

5,844

4,450

Transport equipment expenses

5,824

3,905

Other

21,757

19,415

Total

73,321

68,125

GOODS AND SERVICES EXPENSES:

Travelling allowance

I

1
2
3

4
5

Includes marketing, promotion and information technology consultants.
Includes marketing, promotion and information technology consultants.
Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing and promotion consultants’ expenses,
which are incorporated in the consultants’ category.
Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs.
Includes recruitment-related advertising costs.

Purchases of goods and services generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal
operations, including supplies and service costs recognised in the reporting period in which they
are incurred.
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8. Interest expenses
2021 $000

2020 $000

Interest from lease liabilities

305

331

Total

305

331

Interest expenses consist of interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.
It includes interest on lease liabilities.

9. Write-offs, postponements, waiver, gifts and ex gratia payments
Write-offs, postponements and waIivers under the
Financial Management Act 1995 represented by:

Agency

Territory items

2021
$000

No of
trans

Irrecoverable amounts payable to the
Territory or an agency written off

0

0

6

6

Losses or deficiencies of money written off

0

0

0

0

15

12

40

15

0

0

0

0

15

12

46

21

Amounts written off, postponed
and waived by delegates

Public property written off
Waiver or postponement of right to
receive or recover money or property
Total written off, postponed and waived by delegates

2020
$000

No of
trans

2021
$000

AMOUNTS WRITTEN OFF, POSTPONED AND WAIVED BY THE TREASURER
Write-offs, postponements and
waivers due to COVID-19
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the
Territory or an agency written off

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Losses or deficiencies of money written off
Public property written off
Waiver or postponement of right to
receive or recover money or property
Total written off, postponed and
waived by the Treasurer

WRITE-OFFS, POSTPONEMENTS AND WAIVERS AUTHORISED UNDER OTHER LEGISLATION
Gifts under the Financial Management Act 1995
Gifts by delegates
Office furniture
Computer and other electronic equipment
Other
Total gifts by delegate

2

3

19

98

Gifts by Treasurer

2

3

19

98

Gifts authorised under other legislation

0

0

0

0

Ex gratia payments under the
Financial Management Act 1995

0

0

0

0
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No of
trans

2020
$000

No of
trans

10. Cash and deposits
2021 $000

2020 $000

22

18

Cash at bank

8,527

7,409

Total

8,549

7,427

Cash on hand

For the purposes of the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand, cash at bank
and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are highly liquid short-term investments that are readily convertible
to cash. Cash at bank includes monies held in the accountable officer's trust account that are ultimately
payable to the beneficial owner – refer also to Note 28.

11. Cash flow reconciliation
a) Reconciliations of cash
The total of agency ‘cash and deposits’ of $8.549 million recorded in the balance sheet is consistent with that
recorded as ‘cash’ in the cash flow statement.
Reconciliation of net surplus/deficit to net cash from operating activities

2021 $000

2020 $000

-34,180

-31,367

28,198

28,371

Asset write-offs/write-downs

268

190

Gain/loss on disposal of assets

-901

-865

Decrease/increase in receivables

-980

-140

Decrease/increase in inventories

347

-71

Decrease/increase in payables

462

2,771

6,984

4,690

Decrease/increase in other provisions

964

1,580

Decrease/increase in deferred income

-1,342

22

0

0

-180

5,178

Net surplus/deficit
NON-CASH ITEMS
Depreciation and amortisation

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Decrease/increase in provision for employee benefits

Decrease/increase in other liabilities
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities
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b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities
Cash Flows

2020-21

Loans
and
1 July
$000 advances

Deposits held

5,697

Finance lease

11,160

Equity inj/
withdraw

558,843

Total

575,700

Deposits
received
$000

Other
Total
cash
flows
$000

Equity inj/ Finance
lease
Approp withdraw
$000
$000
$000

1,212

1,212
-3,876

1,212

12,735

3,000

12,735

3,000

-3,876

6,908

-3,876

6,825

6,825

14,109

15,735

41,284

41,284

615,862

13,071

48,109

48,109

636,879

Cash Flows
Recognised
on
AASB16
1 July
adoption
$000

2019-20
Deposits
held

4,961

Finance
lease

4,376

Equity
inj /
withdraw

541,924

Total

551,261

Adjusted
1 July
$000

Deposits
received
$000

4,961

735

7,795

Approp
$000

559,056

735

Other

Equity inj/ Finance
lease
withdraw
$000
$000

Total
cash
flows
$000

Other
$000

Total
other
$000

735

12,171
541,924

7,795

30
June
$000

Total
other
$000

Other
$000

9,122

54

9,122

54

30
June
$000
5,697

-4,084 -4,084

3,073

3,073

11,160

9,176

7,743

7,743

558,843

5,827

10,816

10,816

575,700

-4,084

c) Non-cash financing and investing activities
Lease transactions
During the financial year, the agency recorded right-of-use asset for the lease of housing and remote land
leases with an aggregate value of $14.109 million (2020: $11.160 million)..

12. Receivables
Current

2021 $000

2020 $000

Accounts receivable

455

540

Less: Loss allowance

(0)

(0)

1,215

1,238

56

69

Other receivables

2,583

48

Total receivables

4,308

1,896

GST receivables
Prepayments
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Receivables are initially recognised when the agency becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument and are measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Receivables include
contract receivables, accounts receivable, accrued contract revenue and other receivables. Receivables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairments.
Accounts receivable and contract receivables are generally settled within 30 days and other receivables
within 30 days. The loss allowance reflects lifetime expected credit losses and represents the amount of
receivables the agency estimates are likely to be uncollectible and are considered doubtful.
Credit risk exposure of receivables
Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure exposure to bad debts is not significant.
The entity applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. This approach recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses for all accounts receivables, contracts receivables
and accrued contract revenue. To measure expected credit losses, receivables have been grouped based on
shared risk characteristics and days past due.
The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates, adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information.
Apart from (statutory) GST Receivables of $.215 million (2020: $1.238 million), the majority of the agency
receivables relate to the reimbursement from the Commonwealth government for the Howard Springs
Quarantine Facility of $2.445 million (2020: NIL). The credit risk exposure for this amount is low.
In accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 1995, receivables are written-off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery includes a failure to make contractual payments for a period greater than 60 days past due.
Prepayments
Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods and services or that part of expenditure
made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

13. Inventories
Inventories held for distribution
At cost
At current replacement cost
Total inventories

2021 $000

2020 $000

3,514

3,861

0

0

3,514

3,861

Inventories include assets held either for sale (general inventories) or distribution at no or nominal
consideration in the ordinary course of business operations.
General inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, while those held for distribution
are carried at the lower of cost and current replacement cost. Cost of inventories includes all costs
associated with bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. When inventories are
acquired at no or nominal consideration, the cost will be the current replacement cost at date of acquisition.
The cost of inventories are assigned using a mixture of first in, first out or weighted average cost formula,
or using specific identification of their individual costs.
Inventory held for distribution is regularly assessed for obsolescence and loss.
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14. Property, plant and equipment
a) Total property, plant and equipment
LAND

2021 $000

2020 $000

At fair value

37,046

40,170

Less: Accumulated Amortisation – Right of Use Asset

(1,194)

(238)

35,852

39,932

602,952

554,384

(248,375)

(236,219)

354,577

318,165

42

252

(14)

(43)

28

209

0

200

At fair value

133,764

128,057

Less: Accumulated depreciation

(76,145)

(72,054)

57,619

56,003

448,075

414,510

BUILDINGS
At fair value
Less: Accumulated depreciation

INFRASTRUCTURE
At fair value
Less: Accumulated depreciation

CONSTRUCTION (WORK IN PROGRESS)
At capitalised cost
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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2021 property, plant and equipment reconciliations
Property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases. Further information on
right-of-use assets is disclosed in Note 15. A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment at the beginning and end year is set out below.

Land $000
Carrying amount as
at 1 July 2020

39,932

Additions

Buildings Infrastructure
$000
$000
318,165

209

Construction
(work in
progress)
$000

Plant and
equipment
$000

Total $000

200

56,003

414,510

15,459

22,203

-2,766

-2,766

-10,859

-27,561

-219

41,033

6,744

Disposals
Depreciation/
amortisation expense

-239

Additions/disposals
from asset transfers

-16,452

-12

41,621

-170

Revaluation increments/
decrements

-3,841

4,498

Carrying amount as
at 30 June 2021

35,852

354,577

-200

657
28

0

57,619

448 075
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2020 property, plant and equipment reconciliations
Property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases. Further information on
right-of-use assets is disclosed in Note 15. A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment at the beginning and end year is set out below.

Land
$000
Carrying amount as
at 1 July 2019

32,105

Construction
Plant and
(work in
progress) equipment
Buildings Infrastructure
$000
$000
$000
$000
315,326

Reclassification 1

4,128

Recognition of service
concession assets on initial
adoption of AASB 16

1,217

5,563

Adjusted carrying amount
as at 1 July 2019

37,450

320,889

Additions
Additions of Right
of Use assets

221

200

Amortisation expense
– Right of Use asset

221

200

Carrying amount as
at 30 June 2020
I

1

63,997

0

12,358

422,756
27,319
5,736

-12

-8,608

-8,608

-11,743

-23,547

-3,918

-4,156

-3,389

-3,389

488

-2,090

-1,602

39,932

318,165

Additions/disposals
from asset transfers
Revaluation increments/
decrements

415,976

3,504

-11,792
-238

4,128

6,780

Disposals
Depreciation expense
– asset owned

Total
$000

-4,128

14,961
2,232

63,997

Leased,
property,
plant and
equipment1
$000

209

200

56,003

0

414,510

Existing finance leases under AASB 117 have been reclassified and presented under the corresponding underlying asset from 1 July 2019

Acquisitions
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair
value of the other consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction
or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the
requirements of other accounting standards.
All items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value, equal to or greater than
$10,000 are recognised in the year of acquisition and depreciated as outlined below. Items of property,
plant and equipment below the $10,000 threshold are expensed in the year of acquisition.
The construction cost of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials and direct labour,
and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.
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Complex assets
Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number of components that have different useful lives,
are accounted for as separate assets. The components may be replaced during the useful life of the complex
asset.
Subsequent additional costs
Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is
probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow
to the agency in future years. Where these costs represent separate components of a complex asset, they are
accounted for as separate assets and separately depreciated over their expected useful lives.
Construction (work in progress)
As part of the financial management framework, the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics
is responsible for managing general government capital works projects on a whole-of-government basis.
Therefore, appropriation for the agency capital works is provided directly to the Department of Infrastructure,
Planning and Logistics and the cost of construction work in progress is recognised as an asset of that
department. Once completed, capital works assets are transferred to the agency.
Revaluations and impairment
Revaluation of assets
Subsequent to initial recognition, assets belonging to the following classes of non-current assets are revalued
with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount of these assets does not differ materially from their
fair value at reporting date:
•

land

•

buildings.

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation, which is deemed to equate to fair value.
For right-of-use assets, the net present value of the remaining lease payments is often an appropriate proxy
for the fair value of relevant right-of-use assets at the time of initial recognition. Subsequently, right-of-use
assets are stated at cost less amortisation, which is deemed to equate to fair value.
For right-of-use assets under leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally
to enable the agency to further its objectives, the agency has elected to measure the asset at cost.
These right-of-use assets are not subject to revaluation.
Impairment of assets
An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Non-current physical and intangible agency assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis
or whenever there is indication of impairment. If an indicator of impairment exists, the agency determines the
asset’s recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset’s current
replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell. Any amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss.
Impairment losses are recognised in the comprehensive operating statement. They are disclosed as an
expense unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. Where the asset is measured at a revalued amount,
the impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus for that class of asset to the extent an
available balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus.
In certain situations, an impairment loss may subsequently be reversed. Where an impairment loss is subsequently
reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as income, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment reversal results in an increase in the asset
revaluation surplus. Note 22 provides additional information in relation to the asset revaluation surplus.
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Agency property, plant and equipment assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2021.
No impairment adjustments were required as a result of this review.
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding land, have limited useful lives and
are depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation applies in relation to intangible non-current assets with limited useful lives and is calculated
and accounted for in a similar manner to depreciation.
The estimated useful lives for each class of asset are in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions and are
determined as follows:

2021

2020

Buildings

20-50 years

20-50 years

Infrastructure assets

10-15 years

10-15 years

Plant and equipment

1-10 years

1-10 years

Right of use assets

1-40 years

1-40 years

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or from the time an asset is completed and
held ready for use.
The estimated useful lives disclosed above includes the useful lives of right-of-use assets under AASB 16.
For further detail, refer to Note 15.

15. Agency as a lessee
The agency leases buildings and remote land. Lease contracts are typically made for fixed periods of one to
40 years, but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants.
The agency does not provide residual value guarantees in relation to leases.
The agency has elected to recognise payments for short-term leases and low value leases as expenses on a
straight-line basis, instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less with no purchase option. Low value assets are assets with a fair value
of $10,000 or less when new and not subject to a sublease arrangement comprise mainly building leases.
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Right-of-use asset
The following table presents right-of-use assets included in the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment at Note 14.

Land $000
Balance as at 1 July 2020

Infrastructure
Buildings $000
$000

7,827

Plant and
equipment
$000

Total
$000

3,059

10,886

6,744

6,744

-239

-3,825

-4,064

Revaluation increments/decrements
including remeasurement

99

-57

42

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2021

7,687

5,921

Balance as at 1 July 2019

4,128

0

4,128

Additions

3,449

9,067

12,516

-238

-3,918

-4,156

Revaluation increments/decrements
including remeasurement

488

-2,090

-1,602

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2020

7,827

3,059

Additions
Disposals
Amortisation expense

0

0

13,608

Disposals
Amortisation expense

0

0

10,886

The following amounts were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year in respect of
leases where the agency is the lessee.
2021 $000

2020 $000

4,064

4,156

305

331

Expense relating to short-term leases

3,279

730

Total amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement

7,648

5,217

Amortisation expense of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
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Recognition and measurement
The agency assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The agency recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right
to use the underlying assets, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The agency recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of initial measurement
of the lease liability, adjusted by any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and lease
incentives, any initial direct costs incurred, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset or
restoring the site.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the
estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Land
Building

2021

2020

40 years

40 years

1 to 5 years

1 to 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the agency at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
The right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at fair value which approximates costs except for those
arising from leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the agency
to further its objectives and are also subject to impairment.
The right-of-use assets are subject to remeasurement principles consistent with the lease liability including
indexation and market rent review that approximates fair value and only revalued where a trigger or event
may indicate their carrying amount does not equal fair value.
Inter-governmental leases
The agency applies the inter-governmental leases recognition exemption as per the Treasurer’s Direction
– Leases and recognise these as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. These largely relate
to the lease of motor vehicles from NT Fleet. Leases of commercial properties for office accommodation are
centralised with the Department of Corporate and Digital Development. Consequently, all lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets relating to these arrangements are recognised by Department of Corporate and Digital
Development and not disclosed within these financial statements.
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16. Intangibles
OTHER INTANGIBLES

2021 $000

2020 $000

2,327

2,327

(1,915)

(1,278)

Written down value – 30 June

412

1,049

Total intangibles

412

1,049

At cost
Less: accumulated amortisation

Impairment of Intangibles
Agency intangible assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2021. No impairment adjustments
were required as a result of this review.

17. Payables
2021 $000

2020 $000

Accounts payable

1,735

2,508

Accrued expenses

6,709

5,477

Total payables

8,444

7,985

Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the
consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the agency.
Accounts payable are normally settled within 20 days from receipt of valid of invoices under $1 million
or 30 days for invoices over $1 million.

18. Borrowings and advances
CURRENT
Lease liabilities

2021 $000

2020 $000

183

183

183

183

13 926

10 977

13 926

10 977

14 109

11 160

NON CURRENT
Lease liabilities

Total borrowings and advances
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Borrowings and advances are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognised in net result when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease where the agency is the lessee, the agency recognises lease liabilities
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. Lease payments include:
•

fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable

•

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate

•

amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees

•

exercise price of a purchase options reasonably certain to be exercised by the agency

•

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the agency exercising the option
to terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they
are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for the agency’s leases, the NT Treasury Corporation’s institutional
bond rate is used as the incremental borrowing rate.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (such as changes to future
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in
the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
The following table presents liabilities under leases.
2021 $000

2020 $000

11,160

4,376

0

7,795

11,160

12,171

6,825

3,073

-305

-331

Payments

-3,571

-3,753

Balance at 30 June

14,109

11,160

Balance at 1 July
Recognition of lease liabilities on initial adoption of AASB 16
Adjusted balance
Additions/remeasurements
Interest expenses
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The agency had total cash outflows for leases of $3.876 million in 2021 ($4.084 million in 2020).
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases not recorded as liability are as follows:

2021
Internal
Within one year

2020
External

Internal

External

4 144

1 744

Later than one year and not later than 5 years

0

0

Later than 5 years

0

0

4 144

1 744

Total

19. Provisions
CURRENT

2021 $000

2020 $000

52,534

45,683

712

654

191

117

8,270

7,306

61,708

56,760

Employee benefits
Recreation leave
Leave loading
Other employee benefits - recreational leave fares

OTHER CURRENT PROVISIONS
Other current provisions
Other provisions - fringe benefit tax/payroll tax/superannuation

Total provisions
The agency employed 2,284.07 FTE employees
as at 30 June 2021 (2,175.5 FTE employees as at
30 June 2020).
Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated
as a result of employees rendering services up to
the reporting date. These benefits include wages
and salaries and recreation leave. Liabilities arising
in respect of wages and salaries, recreation leave
and other employee benefit liabilities that fall due
within twelve months of reporting date are classified
as current liabilities and are measured at amounts
expected to be paid. Non-current employee benefit
liabilities that fall due after twelve months of the
reporting date are measured at present value,
calculated using the government long-term bond rate.

No provision is made for sick leave, which is
non-vesting, as the anticipated pattern of future sick
leave to be taken is less than the entitlement accruing
in each reporting period.
Employee benefit expenses are recognised on a net
basis in respect of the following categories:
•

wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits,
recreation leave and other leave entitlements

•

other types of employee benefits.

As part of the financial management framework,
the Central Holding Authority assumes the long service
leave liabilities of government agencies, including the
agency, and therefore no long service leave liability is
recognised in agency financial statements.
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20. Other liabilities
CURRENT
Unearned contract revenue
Accountable officer's trust account
Clearing account
Total other liabilities

2021 $000

2020 $000

720

626

6,908

5,473

0

224

7,628

6,323

Superannuation
Employees' superannuation entitlements are provided through the:
•

NT Government and Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme

•

Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme

•

or non-government employee nominated schemes for those employees commencing on or after
10 August 1999.

The agency makes superannuation contributions on behalf of its employees to the Central Holding Authority
or non-government employee-nominated schemes. Superannuation liabilities related to government
superannuation schemes are held by the Central Holding Authority and therefore not recognised in agency
financial statements.
Unearned contract revenue
Unearned contract revenue relate to consideration received in advance from customers in respect of services
for community safety and crime prevention. Unearned contract revenue balances as at 30 June 2021
is $0.720 million (balance at 1 July 2020 was $0.626 million). The unearned revenue is unwound over time
as the services are provided.
Of the amount included in the unearned contract revenue balance as at 1 July 2020, $0.022 million has been
recognised as revenue in 2020-21. The balance of $0.604 million still remains unwound as the Commonwealth
decision to retain revenue for the Groote Eylandt Dogs Program remains outstanding.
Revenue recognised in 2020-21 from performance obligations satisfied or partially satisfied in previous
period is $0.022 million.
The agency anticipates to recognise as revenue, any liabilities for unsatisfied obligations as at the end of the
reporting period in accordance with the time bands below.
CURRENT

2021 $000

2020 $000

Not later than one year

116

22

Later than one year and not later than 5 years

604

604

0

0

720

626

Later than five years
Total
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21. Commitments
Commitments are those contracted as at 30 June where the amount of the future commitment can be
reliably measured. Disclosures in relation to capital and other commitments are detailed below.
(i) CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

2021
Internal

2020
Eternal

Internal

External

Capital expenditure commitments primarily related to the construction of buildings and the purchase of equipment.
Capital expenditure commitments contracted for at balance date but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:
Within one year
Purchase order

5 520

9 080

5 520

9 080

Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total

(i) CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Other non-cancellable expenditure commitments not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:
Within one year
Housing leases

4 144

1 744

Accountable officer's trust account

6 908

5 473

11 052

7 217

Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total
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22. Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
(i) Nature and purpose of the asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus includes the net revaluation increments and decrements arising from the
revaluation of non-current assets. Impairment adjustments may also be recognised in the asset revaluation
surplus.
Land
(ii) MOVEMENTS IN THE
ASSET REVALUATION
SURPLUS
Balance as at 1 July

Buildings

2021
$000

2020
$000

14,460

14,460

2021
$000

Infrastructure

Total

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

109,612 109,612

0

0

124,072

124,072

Changes in accounting
policies
Correction of prior
period errors
Increment/decrement

-3,940

Balance as at 30 June

10,520

4,555
14,460

114,167 109,612

615
0

0

124,687

124,072

23. Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use. The highest and best use takes into account the use of
the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible.
When measuring fair value, the valuation techniques used maximise the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient
relevant and reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities.
Observable inputs are publicly available data relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being
valued. Observable inputs used by the agency include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land
and general office buildings.
Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgments not available publicly but relevant to the
characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. Such inputs include internal agency adjustments
to observable data to take account of particular and potentially unique characteristics/functionality of
assets/liabilities and assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the following fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used:
Level 1 –

inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 –
		

inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 –

inputs are unobservable.
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The fair value of financial instruments is determined on the following basis:
•

the fair value of cash, deposits, advances, receivables and payables approximates their carrying amount,
which is also their amortised cost

•

the fair value of derivative financial instruments are derived using current market yields and exchange
rates appropriate to the instrument

•

the fair value of other monetary financial assets and liabilities is based on discounting to present value the
expected future cash flows by applying current market interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar
risk profiles.

a) Fair value hierarchy
The agency does not recognise any financial assets or liabilities at fair value as these are recognised at
amortised cost. The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities approximates their fair value.
The table below presents non-financial assets recognised at fair value in the balance sheet categorised by
levels of inputs used to compute fair value.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Levels 2 or 3 during 2020-21.
Level 1

2020-21
$000

2019-20
$000

35,852

39,932

35,852

39,932

354,577

318,165

354,577

318,165

Infrastructure
(Note 14)

28

209

28

209

Construction
WIP (Note 14)

0

200

0

200

Plant and equipment
(Note 14)

57,620

56,003

57,620

56,003

Intangibles (Note 16)

412

1,049

412

1,049

448,487

415,559

448,487

415,559

Buildings (Note 14)

Total assets

2020-21
$000

2019-20
$000

Total Fair Value

2019-20
$000

Land (Note 14)

2019-20
$000

Level 3
2020-21
$000

ASSETS

2020-21
$000

Level 2
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b) Valuation techniques and inputs
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value in 2020-21 are:
ASSET CLASSES

Level 2 Techniques

Level 2 Techniques

Land

Cost approach

Buildings

Cost approach

Infrastructure

Cost approach

Construction WIP

Cost approach

Plant and equipment

Cost approach

Intangibles

Cost approach

There were no changes in valuation techniques from 2019-20 to 2020-21.
In 2020-21, Colliers International provided valuations for the land and buildings in the Darwin Region.
Level 3 Fair Values of specialised buildings and infrastructure were determined by computing their
depreciated replacement costs because an active market does not exist for such facilities.
The depreciated replacement cost was based on a combination of internal records of the historical cost of
the facilities, adjusted for contemporary technology and construction approaches.
Significant judgement was also used in assessing the remaining service potential of the facilities, given local
environmental conditions, projected usage and records of the current condition of the facilities.
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2020-21
Fair value as at 1 July 2020

Land $
000
39,32

Buildings Infrastructure
$000
$000

Plant and
equipment
$000

Intangible Construction
Assets $000
WIP $000

318,165

209

56,003

6,744

0

15,459

41,621

-170

-2,985

-239

-16,452

-12

-10,859

-637

99

-56

Gains/losses recognised in
other comprehensive income

-3,940

4,555

Fair value as at 30 June 2021

35,852

354,577

28

57,619

412

0

32,105

315,326

221

63,997

1,210

200

Recognition of right of use assets
on initial adoption of AASB 16

5,345

5,563

Adjusted fair value at 1 July 2019

37,450

320,889

221

63,997

1,210

200

2,232

18,465

12,358

508

-11,743

-669

Additions
Disposals/asset transfers

1,049

200

-200

Transfers from Level 2
Transfers to Level 2
Depreciation
Gains/losses recognised
in net surplus/deficit

2019-20
Fair value as at 1 July 2019

Additions
Disposals
Depreciation/amortisation

-3,389
-238

-15,710

-12

Gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit
Gains/losses recognised in
other comprehensive income

488

-2 090

Fair value as at 30 June 2020

39,932

318,165

-8 608
209

56,003

1,049

200

Level 3 fair values of specialised buildings and infrastructure were determined by computing their depreciated
replacement costs because an active market does not exist for such facilities. The depreciated replacement
cost was based on a combination of internal records of the historical cost of the facilities, adjusted for
contemporary technology and construction approaches. Significant judgement was also used in assessing
the remaining service potential of the facilities, given local environmental conditions, projected usage,
and records of the current condition of the facilities.

24. Financial instruments
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity.
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when the agency becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The agency’s financial instruments include
cash and deposits, receivables, advances paid, investment in shares, payables, advances received,
borrowings and derivatives.
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Due to the nature of operating activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statutory
obligations rather than a contract. Such financial assets and liabilities do not meet the definition of financial
instruments as per AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. These include statutory receivables arising
from taxes including GST and penalties.
The agency has limited exposure to financial risks as discussed below.
Exposure to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk, price risk and liquidity risk arise in the
normal course of activities. The NT Government’s investments, loans and placements, and borrowings are
predominantly managed through the NT Treasury Corporation adopting strategies to minimise the risk.
Derivative financial arrangements are also utilised to manage financial risks inherent in the management of
these financial instruments. These arrangements include swaps, forward interest rate agreements and other
hedging instruments to manage fluctuations in interest or exchange rates.

a) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the agency’s financial assets and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table below.
Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

2020-21

Mandatorily at
fair value $000

Cash and deposits

Designated at
fair value $000

Amortised
cost $000

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
income $000

8,549

Receivables1

Total $000
8,549

3,038

3,038

3,038

11,497

Deposits held1

6,908

6,908

Payables1

8,444

8,444

Lease liabilities

14,109

14,109

Total financial
liabilities

29,461

29,461

Total financial assets

8,549

2019-20
Cash and deposits

7,427

Receivables1

7,427
588

588

588

8,015

Deposits held1

5,697

5,697

Payables1

7,985

7,985

Lease liabilities

11,160

11,160

Total financial
liabilities

24,842

24,842

Total financial assets

I

1
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7,427

Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts, prepaid expenses and accrued contract revenue.
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Categories of financial instruments
The agency’s financial instruments are classified in
accordance with AASB 9.
Financial assets are classified under the following
categories:
•

amortised cost

•

fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI)

•

fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).

Financial liabilities are classified under the following
categories:
•

amortised cost

•

FVTPL.

These classification are based on the agency’s
business model for managing the financial assets and
the contractual terms of the cash flows. Where assets
are measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss, or other comprehensive
income.
Financial instruments are reclassified when and only
when the agency’s business model for managing
those assets changes.
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are classified at amortised cost when
they are held by the agency to collect the contractual
cash flows and the contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest.
These assets are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less impairment.
The agency’s financial assets categorised at amortised
cost include receivables.
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Financial assets are classified at fair value through
other comprehensive income when they are held
by the agency to both collect contractual cash flows
and sell the financial assets, and the contractual cash
flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

These assets are initially and subsequently
recognised at fair value. Changes in the fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses and interest income which are recognised in
the operating result in the comprehensive operating
statement. When financial assets are derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to the comprehensive operating statement.
For equity instruments elected to be categorised
at FVOCI, changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income are not reclassified
to profit or loss on derecognition of the asset.
Dividends from such instruments continue to
be recognised in the comprehensive operating
statement as other income when the agency’s right
to receive payments is established.
The agency does not have any financial assets under
this category.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at FVTPL where they
do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI.
These assets are initially and subsequently recognised
at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the net
result for the year.
The agency does not have any financial assets under
this category.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
transaction costs. These are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. The agency’s financial liabilities categorised
at amortised cost include all accounts payable,
deposits held, and lease liabilities.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified at FVTPL where they
do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI.
These assets are initially and subsequently recognised
at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the net
result for the year.
The agency does not have any financial assets under
this category.
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Derivatives
The agency may enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest
rate risk. The agency does not speculate on trading of derivatives.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered in to and are
subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
the comprehensive operating statement immediately unless the derivative is designated and qualifies as an
effective hedging instrument, in which event, the timing of the recognition in the comprehensive operating
statement depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. Application of hedge accounting will only be
available where specific designation and effectiveness criteria are satisfied.
Netting of swap transactions
The agency, from time to time, may facilitate certain structured finance arrangements, where a legally
recognised right to set-off financial assets and liabilities exists, and the Territory intends to settle on a
net basis. Where these arrangements occur, the revenues and expenses are offset and the net amount is
recognised in the comprehensive operating statement.
b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation
The agency has limited credit risk exposure (risk of default). In respect of any dealings with organisations
external to government, the agency has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit worthy organisations
and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of
financial loss from defaults.
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for
losses, represents the agency’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any
collateral or other security obtained.
Credit risk relating to receivables is disclosed in Note 12.
c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk the agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The agency’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure it will always have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities
when they fall due. This is achieved by ensuring minimum levels of cash are held in the agency bank account
to meet various current employee and supplier liabilities. The agency’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal.
Cash injections are available from the Central Holding Authority in the event of one-off extraordinary expenditure
items arise that deplete cash to levels that compromise the agency’s ability to meet its financial obligations.
The following tables detail the agency’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities,
calculated based on undiscounted cash flows at reporting date. The undiscounted cash flows in these tables
differ from the amounts included in the balance sheet, which are based on discounted cash flows.
2021 maturity analysis for financial liabilities
Carrying
amount $000

Less than a
year $000

1 to 5 years
$000

Deposits held

6,908

1,306

5,602

Payables

8,444

8,444

Lease liabilities

19,035

1,109

6,930

10,996

19,035

Total financial liabilities

34,387

10,859

12,532

10,996

34,387

LIABILITIES
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More than 5
years $000

Total
$000
6,908
8,444

2020 maturity analysis for financial liabilities

Carrying
amount $000

Less than a
year $000

1 to 5 years
$000

Deposits held

6,908

1,306

5,602

Payables

8,444

8,444

Lease liabilities

19,035

1,109

6,930

10,996

19,035

Total financial liabilities

34,387

10,859

12,532

10,996

34,387

LIABILITIES

More than 5
years $000

Total
$000
6,908
8,444

d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. It comprises interest rate risk, price risk and currency risk
(i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rate.
The agency is not exposed to interest rate risk as agency financial assets and financial liabilities, with the
exception of finance leases are non-interest bearing. Lease arrangements are established on a fixed interest
rate and therefore do not expose the agency to interest rate risk.
(ii) Price risk
The agency is not exposed to price risk as the agency does not hold units in unit trusts.
(iii) Currency risk
The agency is not exposed to currency risk as the agency does not hold borrowings denominated in foreign
currencies or transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in a foreign currency.

25. Related parties
(i) Related parties
The agency is a government administrative entity and is wholly owned and controlled by the NT Government.
Related parties of the department include:
•

the portfolio minister and key management personnel (KMP) because they have authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the department directly

•

close family members of the portfolio minister or KMP including spouses, children and dependants

•

all public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole-of-government financial
statements

•

any entities controlled or jointly controlled by KMPs or the portfolio minister, or controlled or jointly
controlled by their close family members.

(ii) KMP
The KMP of the agency are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the agency. These include the Minister for Police, Fire and Emergency
Services, the Commissioner and the 10 members of the executive team/the board directors of the agency
(2020: 11 members).
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(iii) Remuneration of KMP
The details below excludes the salaries and other benefits of the Minister for Police, Fire and Emergency
Services as the Minister's remunerations and allowances are payable by the Department of the Legislative
Assembly and consequently disclosed within the Treasurer’s annual financial statements.
The aggregate compensation of KMP of the agency is set out below:
2021 $000

2020 $000

2,347

1,678

231

151

Long-term benefits

0

0

Termination benefits

0

0

2,578

1,829

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

Total

The agency has been unable to obtain the Related Party Declaration forms for one KMP for 2020-21 due to an
ongoing health leave of absence. However, their compensation has been counted for the time served as KMP.
(iv) Related party transactions
Transactions with NT Government-controlled entities
The agency’s primary ongoing source of funding is received from the Central Holding Authority in the form of
output and capital appropriation and on-passed Commonwealth national partnership and specific-purpose
payments.
The following table provides quantitative information about related party transactions entered into during
the year with all other NT Government-controlled entities.

2021

Revenue from
related parties
$000

Payments to
related parties
$000

Amounts owed
by related
parties $000

Amounts owed
to related
parties $000

39 937

66 118

2 714

500

34 925

64 186

32

1 131

Related party
All NT Government departments
Associates
Subsidiaries
2020
Related party
All Territory Government
departments
Associates
Subsidiaries
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The agency’s transactions with other government entities are not individually significant.
Other related party transactions are as follows:
Given the breadth and depth of Territory Government activities, related parties will transact with the Territory
public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public including paying stamp duty and other
government fees and charges and therefore these transactions have not been disclosed.
The agency did not have any other significant related party transactions during the year ended 30 June 2021.

26. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
a) Contingent liabilities
The agency has contingent liabilities that are not quantified. As at 30 June 2021, no claim has been made on
any of these contingent liabilities.
Litigation matters are not disclosed on the basis that disclosure may adversely affect the outcome of any
current or future litigation.

b) Contingent assets
The agency had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2021 (nil as at 30 June 2020).

27. Events subsequent to balance date
No events have arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report that require
adjustment to, or disclosure in these financial statements.

28. Accountable officer’s trust account
In accordance with section 7 of the Financial Management Act 1995, an accountable officer’s trust account has
been established for the receipt of money to be held in trust. A summary of activity is shown below:

NATURE OF TRUST MONEY
Warrant and apprehension
Drug cash seizures
Other
Total

Opening balance
1 July 2020 $000

Receipts
$000

Payments
$000

Closing balance
30 June 2021
$000

-3

-0

3

0

-5,311

-3,013

1,577

-6,747

-158

-35

32

-161

-5,473

-3,048

1,612

-6,908
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29. Schedule of administered Territory items
The following territory items are managed by the agency on behalf of the government and are recorded
in the Central Holding Authority (refer Note 2(d)).
TERRITORY INCOME AND EXPENSES

2021 $000

2020 $000

1,436

244

Fees from regulatory services

5,307

5,167

Other income

1,538

72

Total income

8,281

5,483

Other administrative expenses

8,281

5,483

Total expenses

8,281

5,483

0

0

Other receivables

0

1,432

Total assets

0

1,432

Central Holding Authority income payable

0

4

Central Holding Authority income payable

0

-1,436

Total liabilities

0

1,432

Net assets

0

0

Income
Grants and subsidies
Capital

Expenses

Territory income less expenses
TERRITORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Assets

Liabilities
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30. Budgetary information
Comprehensive operating statement

INCOME

200-21
actual

2020-21 original
budget $000

Variance
$000

Note

8,138

1,613

6,525

1

800

2

3

Grants and subsidies revenue
Current
Capital

800

Appropriation
Output

392,827

391,573

1,254

26,095

26,379

-284

5,445

4,792

653

4

33,883

36,872

-2,989

5

902

100

802

6

1,521

900

621

7

469,611

462,229

7,382

354,044

339,087

14,957

8

Purchases of goods and services

86,848

84,447

2,401

9

Depreciation and amortisation

28,198

26,668

1,530

10

Other administrative expenses

34,151

36,872

-2,721

11

245

245

0

305

276

29

TOTAL EXPENSES

503,790

487,595

16,195

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

-34,180

-25,366

-8,814

Changes in asset revaluation surplus

615

̶

615

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

615

̶

615

-33,565

-25,366

8,199

Commonwealth
Sales of goods and services
Goods and services received free of charge
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets
Other income
TOTAL INCOME
EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses

Grants and subsidies expenses
Current
Interest expenses

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT
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Comprehensive operating statement notes
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than 10 per cent or $0.5 million.
1. The agency received several grant monies during the year, for COVID-19 reimbursement
($3.9 million from Commonwealth through Department of Health), Cross Border Family Intelligence
Model ($2.45 million), User Choice funding to deliver training to apprentices and trainees
($0.08 million) and National Anti-Gangs Squad funding ($0.03 million).
2

COVID-19 reimbursement from Commonwealth through Department of Health for building works.

3

Result of budget adjustments related to transfers of staff between agencies, transfer of capital
appropriation to output and reimbursement of natural disaster expenses.

4

Increased revenue related to working with children checks as it was a renewal year.

5

Reflects decrease in shared services from budgeted level.

6

Gain related to vehicles disposed at auction higher than residual value.

7

Miscellaneous revenue higher than budgeted.

8 Budget increases related to COVID-19 reimbursements, staff transfers and reimbursement from
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics for fire control on Crown lands ($3.5 million).
Along with additional frontline resourcing pressures.
9

Budget increases related to COVID-19 reimbursements ($1.6 million) and additional frontline resourcing
pressures.

10 Amortisation of leased assets in line with AASB16.
11 See Note 5.
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Balance sheet
2020-21
actual $000

2020-21 original
budget $000

Variance $000

Note

Cash and deposits

8,549

7,275

1,274

1

Receivables

4,308

1,827

2,481

2

Inventories

3,514

3,861

-347

0

68

-68

16,371

13,031

3,340

448,075

401,079

46,996

3

412

1,047

-635

4

Total non-current assets

448,487

402,126

46,361

TOTAL ASSETS

464,858

415,157

49,701

Deposits held

6,908

5,697

1,211

Payables

8,444

7,986

458

183

0

183

61,708

53,759

7,949

720

626

94

77,963

68,068

9,895

Borrowings and advances

13,926

9,805

4,121

Total non-current liabilities

13,926

9,805

4,121

TOTAL LIABILITIES

91,889

77,873

14,016

372,969

337,284

35,685

Capital

615,862

571,978

43,884

8

Reserves

124,687

124,072

615

9

-367,580

-358,766

-8,814

10

372,969

337,284

35,685

ASSETS
Current assets

Prepayments
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Borrowings and advances
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

5

6

Non-current liabilities

NET ASSETS

7

EQUITY

Accumulated funds
TOTAL EQUITY
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Balance sheet notes
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than 10 per cent or $0.5 million.
1

The final cash balance at the end of the year increased reflecting changes to cash based on business
activity outlined in the operating statement and additional output appropriation.

2

Increase in receivables mainly due to timing of business activity and timing of invoices paid.

3

Increase mainly due to the recognition of the new Palmerston Police Station.

4

Decrease due to depreciation.

5

Increased money held on behalf of third parties, largely drug seizure monies awaiting court outcomes.

6

An increase in provisions for employee entitlements such as recreation leave, leave loading and leave
fares that will be paid in the future as the agency deferred approved leave to manage resources for
COVID-19 requirements.

7

Recognition of housing and land lease commitments in line with AASB 16.

8

See Note 3.

9

Increase in reserves due to revaluation of land and buildings (Darwin region) in 2020-21.

10 Accumulated funds – driven by operational result during the year – refer to the operating statement for
more details.

178

NTPFES - ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21

Cash flow statement
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2020-21
actual $000

2020-21 original
budget $000

Variance $000

Note

8,138

1,613

6,525

1

800

2
3

Operating receipts
Grants and subsidies received
Current
Capital

800

Appropriation
Output

392,827

391,573

1,254

Commonwealth

26,095

26,379

-284

Receipts from sales of goods and services

10,863

5,692

5,171

438,723

425,257

13,466

344,669

339,087

5,582

5

93,683

84,447

9,236

6

Current

245

245

Interest paid

305

276

29

438,903

424,055

14,848

-180

1 202

-1,382

Proceeds from asset sales

3,651

4,692

-1,041

Total investing receipts

3,651

4,692

-1,041

Purchases of assets

15,420

17,827

-2,407

Total investing payments

15,420

17,827

-2,407

-11,769

-13,135

1,366

Total operating receipts

4

Operating payments
Payments to employees
Payments for goods and services
Grants and subsidies paid

Total operating payments
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing receipts

7

Investing payments

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

8

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing receipts
Deposits received

1,212

1,212

9

Equity injections
Capital appropriation

12,735

13,135

-400

Other equity injections

3,000

3,000

Total financing receipts

16,947

13,135

3,812

Lease liabilities payments

3,876

1,354

2,522

Total financing payments

3,876

1,354

2,522

13,071

11,781

1,290

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

1,122

-152

1,274

Cash at beginning of financial year

7,427

7,427

0

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

8,549

7,275

1,184

10

Financing payments

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities
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Cash flow statement notes
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than 10 per cent or $0.5 million.
1

The agency received several grant monies during the year, for COVID-19 reimbursement
($3.9 million from Commonwealth through Department of Health), Cross Border Family Intelligence
Model ($2.45 million), User Choice funding to deliver training to apprentices and trainees
($0.08 million) and National Anti-Gangs Squad funding ($0.03 million).

2

COVID-19 reimbursement from Commonwealth through Department of Health for building works.

3

Result of budget adjustments related to transfers of staff between agencies, transfer of capital
appropriation to output and reimbursement of natural disaster expenses.

4

Miscellaneous revenue higher than budgeted and GST receipts ($6.3 million) that is customarily not
incorporated into budget calculations.

5

Additional frontline resourcing pressures.

6

GST payments ($6.2 million) that is customarily not incorporated into budget calculations.

7

Lower vehicle auction revenues due to manufacturing delays due to pandemic.

8

Variation related to manufacturing delays due to pandemic.

9

Deposits received during the year on behalf of third parties, largely drug seizure monies awaiting court
outcomes.

10 Equity injection to maintain cash balances.
11 Housing and land lease payments in line with AASB 16.
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31. Budgetary information: Administered Territory items
In addition to the specific departmental operations that are included in the financial statements,
the department administers or manages other activities and resources on behalf of the Territory such as false
fire alarms in buildings and firearms controls. The agency does not gain control over assets arising from these
collections, consequently no income is recognised in the agency’s financial statements. The transactions
relating to these activities are reported as administered items in this note.
2020-21
actual $000

2020-21 original
budget $000

Capital

1,436

1,436

Fees from regulatory services

5,307

5,351

Other income

1,538

Total income

8,281

6,787

1,494

Other administrative expenses

8,281

6,787

1,494

Total expenses

8,281

6,787

1,494

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total liabilities

0

0

0

Net assets

0

0

0

ADMINISTERED TERRITORY ITEMS

Variance $000

Note

TERRITORY INCOME AND EXPENSES
Income
Grants and subsidies revenue

-44
1,538

1

Expenses

Territory income less expenses
TERRITORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Assets
Taxes receivable
Grants and subsidies receivable
Royalties and rent receivable
Other receivables
Total assets
Liabilities
Central Holding Authority income payable
Unearned Central Holding Authority income

Administered Territory item notes
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than 10 per cent or $0.5 million.
1

Forfeited/seized monies transferred to the Territory from the agency’s Accountable Trust Account in
accordance with the required statutory timeframe.
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Methodology
The NTPFES person and property offence counting rules are aligned with the current Australian Bureau of
Statistics victim-based counting methodologies.
Offences against the person are counted by determining the most serious offences within each Australian
and New Zealand Standard Offence Classification 2011 (ANZSOC) division (first 2 ANZSOC digits)
per incident per victim and includes subdivision 049 (other dangerous or negligent acts endagering person),
which is excluded in the ABS Recorded Crime – Victims publication. Offences against property are counted
by determining the most serious offence within each ANZSOC sub-division (the first three digits of the
ANZSOC) per incident.
The counting rules for the statistics in this section therefore, differ from the counting rules applied in the
monthly crime statistics publicly released and some operational references throughout this document, which
refer to total recorded offences. The monthly crime statistic releases count the number of unique offences
recorded in an incident, regardless of the number of victims involved.
This section contains NT-level data only. Offence-based crime statistics broken down into geographical
regions corresponding with the six main urban centres in the NT, using definitions in accordance with the
ABS Australian Statistical Geography Standards are prepared by the Department of the Attorney-General and
Justice and published on the NTPFES website on a monthly basis. These statistics can be downloaded from
http://www.pfes.nt.gov.au/police/community-safety/nt-crime-statistics/statistical-publications
Active policing offences are those generally detected through proactive policing activity, and largely do not
have a person or property victim. These are counted by the number of unique offences per incident.
All statistics exclude any offences that occurred outside the NT.
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NT offences against the person
2019-20

2020-21

Variance (%)

11

12

9.1%

Murder

6

4

-33.3%

Attempted murder

2

3

50.0%

Manslaughter

2

3

50.0%

Driving causing death

1

2

100.0%

Acts Intended to Cause Injury

7,218

9,122

26.4%

Serious assault resulting in injury

1,116

1,595

42.9%

Serious assault not resulting in injury

4,131

5,045

22.1%

Common assault

1,946

2,446

25.7%

23

31

34.8%

Other acts intended to cause injury, n.e.c.1

2

3

50.0%

Assault, n.f.d.2

0

2

n/a

Sexual Assault and Related Offences

433

461

6.5%

Aggravated sexual assault

242

236

-2.5%

Non-aggravated sexual assault

118

148

25.4%

5

14

180.0%

22

23

4.5%

0

0

n/a

46

40

-13.0%

0

0

n/a

127

167

31.5%

0

2

n/a

Other dangerous or negligent acts endangering persons, n.e.c.1

127

165

29.9%

Abduction, Harassment and Other Offences Against the Person

349

388

11.2%

0

1

n/a

Deprivation of liberty/false imprisonment

48

44

-8.3%

Harassment and private nuisance

67

64

-4.5%

Threatening behaviour

234

279

19.2%

Robbery

200

221

10.5%

Aggravated robbery

109

128

17.4%

Non-aggravated robbery

1

0

-100.0%

Blackmail and extortion

5

2

-60.0%

85

91

7.1%

8,338

10,371

24.4%

Homicide and Related Offences

Stalking

Non-assaultive sexual offences against a child
Child pornography offences
Sexual servitude offences
Non-assaultive sexual offences, n.e.c.1
Sexual Assault, n.e.c.1
Dangerous or Negligent Acts Endangering Persons
Neglect or ill-treatment of persons under care

Abduction and kidnapping

Robbery, n.e.c.

1

Total
I

1

n.e.c. refers to offences ‘not elsewhere classified’.

2

n.f.d. refers to offences ‘not further defined’.

		 Note: This table includes all victims against the offence categories in the NT. A small number of criminal incidents are not linked to any
of the three regional commands. As such the sum of victims from the three regional commands will not equal to the NT total.
		 Source: Data was extracted from PROMIS on 3 August 2021.
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NT offences against the person – Cleared up rate

Homicide and Related Offences

2019-201

2019-202

2020-213

Reported

11

11

12

Cleared

11

11

11

100.0%

100.0%

91.7%

Reported

7,218

7,105

9,122

Cleared

6,021

5,673

7,246

Cleared up rate (%)

83.4%

79.8%

79.4%

Reported

433

409

461

Cleared

342

293

319

79.0%

71.6%

69.2%

Reported

127

121

167

Cleared

103

95

136

81.1%

78.5%

81.4%

Reported

349

433

388

Cleared

288

352

322

82.5%

81.3%

83.0%

Reported

200

196

221

Cleared

147

125

160

Cleared up rate (%)

73.5%

63.8%

72.4%

Reported

8,338

8,275

10,371

Cleared

6,912

6,549

8,194

Cleared up rate (%)

82.9%

79.1%

79.0%

Cleared up rate (%)
Acts Intended to Cause Injury

Sexual Assault and Related Offences

Cleared up rate (%)
Dangerous or Negligent Act
Endangering Persons

Cleared up rate (%)
Abduction, Harassment and other
Offences Against the Person

Cleared up rate (%)
Robbery, Extortion and
Related Offences

Total

I

1

2019-20 clear up rate figures are the settled figures for that reporting period.

2

2019-20 clear up rate figures should be used when comparing against 2020-21, as it is extracted within the same reporting timeframe.

3

Some offences require considerable time to clear, as such 2020-21 figures are considered preliminary and subject to revision next year
once data has had time to settle.

		

Source: Data was extracted from PROMIS on 3 August 2021.
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NT offences against property
2019-20

2020-21

Variance (%)

4,235

3,962

-6.4%

485

526

8.5%

Actual

3,750

3,436

-8.4%

Unlawful Entry with Intent/Burglary, Break and Enter - Building

1,831

1 781

-2.7%

198

225

13.6%

Actual

1,633

1,556

-4.7%

Unlawful Entry with Intent/Burglary, Break and Enter - Dwelling

2,404

2,181

-9.3%

287

301

4.9%

Actual

2,117

1,880

-11.2%

Theft and Related Offences

6,773

6,506

-3.9%

Theft and related offences, n.e.c.1

3,602

3,364

-6.6%

Illegal use of a motor vehicle

673

698

3.7%

Theft of motor vehicle parts or contents

877

650

-25.9%

Theft from a person (excluding by force)

0

0

n/a

Theft from retail premises

963

1,288

33.7%

Theft (except motor vehicles), n.e.c.1

588

453

-23.0%

Receive or handle proceeds of crime

70

52

-25.7%

0

1

n/a

7,196

7,824

8.7%

18,204

18,292

0.5%

Unlawful Entry with Intent/Burglary, Break and Enter - Total
Attempted

Attempted

Attempted

Illegal use of property (except motor vehicles)
Property Damage
Total

I

1

n.e.c. refers to offences ‘not elsewhere classified'.

		 Note: This table includes all victims against the offence categories in the NT. A small number of criminal incidents are not linked
to any of the 3 regional commands. As such the sum of victims from the three regional commands will not equal to the NT total.
		 Source: Data was extracted from PROMIS on 6 August 2021.
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NT offences against property – Cleared up rate

Unlawful Entry with Intent/
Burglary, Break and Enter

Theft and Related Offences

Property Damage

Total

I

2019-201

2019-202

2020-213

Reported

4,235

4,230

3,962

Cleared

1,742

1,583

1,624

Cleared up rate (%)

41.1%

37.4%

41.0%

Reported

6,773

6,749

6,506

Cleared

3,383

3,249

3,252

Cleared up rate (%)

49.9%

48.1%

50.0%

Reported

7,196

7,151

7,824

Cleared

4,036

3,882

4,278

Cleared up rate (%)

56.1%

54.3%

54.7%

18,204

18,130

18,292

Cleared

9,161

8,714

9,154

Cleared up rate (%)

50.3%

48.1%

50.0%

Reported

1

2019-201 clear up rate figures are the settled figures for that reporting period

2

2019-202 clear up rate figures should be used when comparing against 2020-21, as it is extracted within the same reporting timeframe.

3

Some offences require considerable time to clear, as such 2020-21 figures are considered preliminary and subject to revision next year
once data has had time to settle.

		

Source: Data was extracted from PROMIS on 6 August 2021.
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NT traffic offences
Number of Apprehensions and Infringements Recorded

2019-20

2020-21

Variance (%)

1,247

1,308

5%

120

126

5%

1,127

1,182

5%

61,907

57,856

-7%

510

404

-21%

Drive without a licence

3,131

2,147

-31%

Driver licence offences, n.e.c.2

1,535

808

-47%

Registration offences

7,538

4,855

-36%

425

328

-23%

2,805

2,347

-16%

35,207

39,100

11%

203

61

-70%

10,509

7,775

-26%

44

31

-30%

63,154

59,164

-6%

Dangerous or Negligent Acts Endangering
Persons1 – Driving Offences Only
Driving under the influence of alcohol or other substance
Dangerous or negligent operation (driving) of a vehicle
Traffic and Vehicle Regulatory Offences
Drive while licence disqualified or suspended

Roadworthiness offences
Exceed the prescribed content of alcohol
or other substance limit
Exceed the legal speed limit
Parking offences3
Regulatory driving offences, n.e.c.2
Pedestrian offences
Total

I

1

Other offences for Dangerous or Negligent Acts Endangering Persons are included in the NT – Offences Against the Person above.

2

n.e.c. refers to offences ‘not elsewhere classified’.

3

Parking offences shown are only those dealt with by the NT Police Force, not those dealt with by city councils.
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Source: Data was extracted from the Integrated IJIS on 4 August 2021.
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NT active policing
ANZSOC

Description

2019-20

2020-21

Variance %

Fraud, Deception and Related Offences

433

410

-5.3%

911

Obtain benefit by deception

402

384

-4.5%

921

Counterfeiting of currency

0

4

n/a

922

Forgery of documents

19

14

-26.3%

931

Fraudulent trade practices

8

7

-12.5%

932

Misrepresentation of professional status

4

1

-75.0%

2,251

1,790

-20.5%

Illicit Drug Offences
1010

Import or export illicit drugs

0

0

n/a

1011

Import illicit drugs

0

0

n/a

1020

Deal or traffic in illicit drugs

59

65

10.2%

1021

Deal or traffic in illicit drugs
- commercial quantity

317

236

-25.6%

1022

Deal or traffic in illicit drugs non-commercial quantity

185

112

-39.5%

1031

Manufacture illicit drugs

4

5

25.0%

1032

Cultivate illicit drugs

20

18

-10.0%

1041

Possess illicit drugs

1,494

1,252

-16.2%

1042

Use illicit drugs

20

12

-40.0%

1099

Other illicit drug offences, n.e.c.1

152

90

-40.8%

948

904

-4.6%

0

0

n/a

73

38

-47.9%

1

0

-100.0%

Prohibited and Regulated Weapons and Explosives Offences
1111

Import or export prohibited
weapons/explosives

1112

Sell, possess and/or use prohibited
weapons/explosives

1119

Prohibited weapons/
explosives offences, n.e.c.1

1121

Unlawfully obtain or possess
regulated weapons/explosives

115

74

-35.7%

1122

Misuse of regulated weapons/explosives

718

770

7.2%

1123

Deal or traffic regulated weapons/
explosives offences

12

12

0.0%

1129

Regulated weapons/explosives
offences, n.e.c.1

29

10

-65.5%
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ANZSOC

Description

Environmental Pollution
1229

Environmental pollution, n.e.c.1

Public Order Offences

2019-20

2020-21

Variance %

0

0

n/a

0

0

n/a

4,600

4,481

-2.6%

1,621

1,559

-3.8%

1311

Trespass

1312

Criminal intent

11

11

0.0%

1313

Riot and affray

389

389

0.0%

1319

Disorderly conduct, n.e.c.1

1,325

1,224

-7.6%

1321

Betting and gambling offences

8

3

-62.5%

1322

Liquor and tobacco offences

182

175

-3.8%

1323

Censorship offences

0

0

n/a

1324

Prostitution offences

2

0

-100.0%

1325

Offences against public
order sexual standards

82

74

-9.8%

1326

Consumption of legal substances
in prohibited spaces

662

811

22.5%

1329

Regulated public order offences, n.e.c.1

134

92

-31.3%

1331

Offensive language

58

38

-34.5%

1332

Offensive behaviour

107

66

-38.3%

1334

Cruelty to animals

19

39

105.3%

Offences Against Justice Procedures, Government
Security and Government Operations

6,509

7,803

19.9%

3

0

-100.0%

52

43

-17.3%

0

0

n/a

361

359

-0.6%

2

0

-100.0%

104

134

28.8%

2,390

2,881

20.5%

0

0

n/a

21

28

33.3%

155

152

-1.9%

2,678

3,452

28.9%

1

1

0.0%

1500

Offences against justice procedures,
government security and
government operations, n.e.c1

1511

Escape custody offences

1512

Breach of home detention

1513

Breach of suspended sentence

1521

Breach of community service order

1522

Breach of parole

1523

Breach of bail

1524

Breach of bond - probation

1525

Breach of bond - other

1529

Breach of community-based order, n.e.c.1

1531

Breach of violence order

1532

Breach of non-violence orders
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ANZSOC

Description

2019-20

2020-21

Variance %

1541

Resist or hinder government official
(excluding police officer, justice official
or government security officer)

14

24

71.4%

1542

Bribery involving government officials

0

0

n/a

1543

Immigration offences

2

0

-100.0%

1549

Offences against government
operations, n.e.c.1

6

7

16.7%

1559

Offences against government
security, n.e.c.1

2

1

-50.0%

1561

Subvert the course of justice

26

12

-53.8%

1562

Resist or hinder police officer
or justice official

674

689

2.2%

1563

Prison regulation offences

2

2

0.0%

1569

Offences against justice
procedures, n.e.c.1

16

18

12.5%

190

-29.4%

Miscellaneous Offences

269

1611

Defamation and libel

0

0

n/a

1612

Offences against privacy

1

3

200.0%

1621

Sanitation offences

5

0

-100.0%

1623

Occupational health and safety offences

24

9

-62.5%

1624

Transport regulation offences

22

18

-18.2%

1625

Dangerous substances offences

15

11

-26.7%

1626

Licit drug offences

20

14

-30.0%

1629

Public health and safety offences, n.e.c.1

45

32

-28.9%

1631

Commercial/industry/financial regulation

23

9

-60.9%

1691

Environmental regulation offences

103

82

-20.4%

1694

Import/export regulations

0

0

n/a

1699

Other miscellaneous offences, n.e.c.1

11

12

9.1%

15,010

15,578

3.8%

Total
I

1

		

n.e.c. refers to offences ‘not elsewhere classified’.
Source: Data was extracted from PROMIS on 4 August 2021.
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169

364

484

437

376

268

209

95

36

10

13

0

2,813

15-17

18-19

20-24

25-29

30-34

35-39

40-44

45-49

50-54

55-59

60-64

65 +

Unknown

Total

10,933

0

99

93

220

463

653

877

1,306

1,523

1,570

1,579

826

947

777

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Male Organisation

The base count is the number of distinct apprehensions.
Source: Data was extracted from IJIS on 5 August 2021.

168

10-14

1

Female

Age Group

Number1

12

0

0

0

0

0

2

0

0

0

0

4

5

0

1

Unknown

13,758

0

112

103

256

558

864

1,145

1,682

1,960

2,054

1,947

1,000

1,131

946

Total

100.0%

0.0%

0.5%

0.4%

1.3%

3.4%

7.4%

9.5%

13.4%

15.5%

17.2%

12.9%

6.0%

6.5%

6.0%

Female

100.0%

0.0%

0.9%

0.9%

2.0%

4.2%

6.0%

8.0%

11.9%

13.9%

14.4%

14.4%

7.6%

8.7%

7.1%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Male Organisation

Proportion

100.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

16.7%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

33.3%

41.7%

0.0%

8.3%

Unknown

100.0%

0.0%

0.8%

0.7%

1.9%

4.1%

6.3%

8.3%

12.2%

14.2%

14.9%

14.2%

7.3%

8.2%

6.9%

Total

NT offender profile 2020-21
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1

10,143

10,601

5,893

5,716

3,943

4,140

3,774

3,317

3,738

4,071

2,914

2,330

1,769

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

3,121

3,926

4,792

6,560

5,582

5,547

6,748

7,920

8,397

12,281

13,285

23,224

23,124

18,742

Source: Data was extracted from IJIS on 5 August 2021.

8,474

2007-08

Male

4,890

6,256

7,706

10,631

9,320

8,864

10,522

12,060

12,340

17,997

19,178

33,825

33,267

27,216

Total

17

39

49

50

40

43

38

68

67

105

104

156

186

167

Female

		 Note: The total figures provided exclude 8 individuals with an unknown gender and Indigenous status.

I

Female

Financial Year

Indigenous

155

152

207

229

225

273

412

646

933

1,017

1,059

1,857

1,939

1,756

Male

172

191

256

279

265

316

450

714

1,000

1,122

1,163

2,013

2,125

1,923

Total

Non Indigenous

110

118

133

197

168

149

169

179

267

400

1

17

0

1

Female

88

122

151

167

123

120

206

295

384

458

12

17

5

4

Male

198

240

284

364

291

269

375

474

651

858

13

34

5

5

Total

Unknown

NT people taken into police protective custody1

193

194
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153,833

131 444

Source: Data was extracted from Qmaster on 2 July 2021.

57.4%

% 131 444 calls answered within 20 seconds

1

63.5%

% 000 calls answered within 10 seconds

I

131 444 calls answered within 20 seconds

000 calls answered within 10 seconds

Output

88.5%

89.3%

Performance

79.5%

88.8%
85.5%

94.1%
85.1%

94.4%

86.0%

95.5%

92.2%

96.4%

85.9%

90.6%

88.5%

87.8%

88.5%

89.3%

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

150,563

000

Proportion of Calls Answered Within Internal Benchmarks

Total Number of Calls

Type of Call

NT 000 and 131 444 calls 2020-211

50.0%

55.0%

60.0%

65.0%

70.0%

75.0%

80.0%

85.0%

90.0%

95.0%

100.0%

2012-13

2014-15

2015-16

% 000 calls answered within 10 seconds		

2013-14

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

% 131 444 calls answered within 20 seconds

2016-17

2020-21

Proportion of calls answered within interval benchmarks
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Appendix 1 – Complaints against police and internal investigations
Complaints against police 2020-21
Complaints are categorised by the Office of the Ombudsman in consultation with the Commander
of PSC, according to the level of response considered necessary to appropriately resolve the complaint.
To assist with the categorisation process, PSC conduct preliminary inquiries into the complaint allegations,
assessing and collating evidence readily available to make a categorisation recommendation. If a complaint is
deemed by the Ombudsman to be declined under section 67 of the Ombudsman Act 2009, it will not progress
to categorisation.
Complaints are classified as:
Category 1 (CAP: Cat 1):

Serious complaints relating to alleged serious misconduct or
maladministration.

Category 2 (CAP: Cat 2):

Complaints relating to minor misconduct that is not suitable
for conciliation or sufficiently serious to be subject to a 		
Category 1 classification.

Complaints Resolution Process (CAP: CRP):

Minor indiscretions that can be dealt with through a 		
conciliation process.

Customer service inquiries are an additional service provided by PSC that do not fall under the auspices of
the Ombudsman Act 2009. This process addresses concerns of the public that do not fall within a category
of complaint however require explanation. In 2020-21, there were 35 inquiries undertaken and resolved.
Customer service inquiries are not recorded as reportable complaints against police. The complaint type of
CAP: Prelim, indicates incidents still at the preliminary information gathering stage. There are 15 of these
incidents as of 30 June 2021.
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Matters progressed
The breakdown of matters progressed is outlined in the tables below. The table provides the number of
incidents and members involved.

Number of
Complaints

Number of
Members
Involved1

Police Officer1

Police Auxiliary1

ACPO1

Unidentified2

CAP: Cat 1

4

9

8

1

0

0

CAP: Cat 2

75

200

187

4

9

0

CAP: CRP

164

242

174

30

12

26

CAP: Decline

173

279

211

13

11

44

73

7

3

0

0

4

489

737

583

48

32

74

Complaint Type

CAP: Info Only
Total

I

Members involved and subcategory members count, not per complaint.
Investigation did not identify the involved officer or is against the agency.

1
2

		

Note: These figures are captured on incidents where both the incident and categorisation were received in the reporting period.

		

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.

Formal complaints1

CAP: Cat 1 and CAP: Cat 2 findings1

The comparative figures for reportable complaint
matters this year against the previous year indicates
a 16.1% increase in the number of complaints against
police received. A slight increase in complaints
assessed of a serious nature but significantly CAP:
CRP incidents categorised have reduced by 17%.
There were 4 CAP: Cat 1 complaints for 2020-21
as compared to 3 for the previous year.

Three CAP: Cat 1 and 61 CAP: Cat 2 complaints were
finalised during 2020-21. Overall 28 were sustained
and 36 not sustained. Incidents sustained represents
an increase of 25 compared to the 2019-20 reporting
period.

The number of CAP: Cat 2 complaints has increased
by 4.1% since the last reporting period.

Complaint Type

2019-20

2020-21

CAP: Cat 1

3

4

CAP: Cat 2

72

75

CAP: CRP

198

164

Total

273

243

I

1

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.

		 Note: These figures are captured on incidents where both the
incident and categorisation were received in the
reporting period.
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Complaint Type

Sustained

Not Sustained

CAP: Cat 1

2

1

CAP: Cat 2

26

35

Total

28

36

I

1

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.

		

Note: These figures indicate findings to individual incidents.
These figures are captured on incidents where both
the incident and categorisation were received in the
reporting period.

CAP: Cat 1 and CAP: Cat 2 disciplinary actions

CAP: CRP outcomes

Overall disciplinary action taken pursuant to the
provisions of Part IV Police Administration Act 1978
increased from 3 to 10 instances. Lower level
issuance of remedial advice where Part IV action was
not required, increased from 49 to 78 compared with
the last reporting period.

Outcomes below are relative to the CAP: CRP only,
and do not involve any serious disciplinary action.
A failed CAP: CRP indicates the complainant did
not want to participate in the process. A withdrawn
CAP: CRP can either be withdrawn for categorisation
at a higher level or by the complainant.

Outcomes – CAP: Cat 1 and CAP: Cat 2 Complaints1

Outcomes – CAP: CRP1

Action not Taken: Inability

7

Complainant not satisfied

Action not Taken: Separated

1

Complainant satisfied

Administrative: Apology member

1

Failed

Administrative: Remedial advice

77

Administrative: Remedial advice ancillary issue
No action required

Part IV PAA: Fine

0

Part IV PAA: Formal caution in writing

6

Part IV PAA: Member dismissed

0

Part IV PAA: Member to pay compensation

0

Part IV PAA: No further action

0

Part IV PAA: Period of good behaviour

4

Part IV PAA: Reduction in rank

0

Part IV PAA: Reduction in salary

0

Part IV PAA: Transfer member from locality

0

Part IV PAA: Transfer member from position

0

4

Total

I

1

155

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.

Note: These figures indicate outcomes to individual incidents.
Note: These figures include findings for incidents received before
the financial year 2020-21 for which investigations were either
completed or ongoing during the financial year 2020-21.

Compliments
There was an increase in compliments by 28 received
from the community to PSC. Compliments are passed
onto the police officers through their respective
managers.

Compliments1
Financial Year

2019-20

2020-21

30

58

287
I

1

37

190
0

I

104

Withdrawn

1

Part IV PAA: Counsel and caution

Total

10

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.

		 Note: These figures indicate actions to individual allegations,
and there can be multiple allegations made against a member
and multiple actions involving a member within an incident.

1

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.

		

Note: These figures are captured on incidents where both
the incident and categorisation were received in the
reporting period.

		 Note: These figures include findings for incidents received
before the financial year 2020-21 for which investigations
were either completed or ongoing during the financial
year 2020-21.
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Internal disciplinary investigations 2020-21
Internal disciplinary matters fall within the following incident types
•

Internal investigation – investigations into performance or misconduct assessed as not belonging to
Category 1 or 2:
-

Category 1 – serious unsatisfactory performance or misconduct.

-

Category 2 – less serious unsatisfactory performance or misconduct.

•

Custody investigation – investigation/oversight into minor custody incidents.

•

Departmental crash – investigation/oversight into crashes involving members in departmental vehicles.

•

Failed prosecution – investigation/oversight into inadequately prepared matters brought before court.

•

Family violence – investigation/oversight into family violence incidents involving members.

•

Serious custody investigation – oversight role into custody incidents declared as serious by the Deputy
Commissioner (includes death in custody).

The below table provides a breakdown of the incidents and members involved.

Number of
complaints

Number of
members
involved1

Police
officer1,2

Police
auxiliary1

ACPO1

Unidentified3

Category 1

36

59

49

8

2

0

Category 2

25

30

24

4

2

0

Custody investigation

32

80

64

8

8

0

Department crash

27

41

33

0

7

1

Failed prosecution

86

102

97

1

3

1

Family violence

53

58

38

10

9

1

135

199

167

16

12

4

3

2

2

0

0

0

397

571

474

47

43

7

Complaint Type

Internal investigation4
Serious custody incident
Total

I

1
2
3
4

Members involved is count, not per complaint.
Police officer refers to the rank of constable to superintendent inclusive.
Investigation did not identify the involved officer.
Internal investigation incidents are also categorised as Category 1 or Category 2, all figures shown for these entries are
those not categorised.

		

Note: These figures are captured on incidents received in the reporting period.

		

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.
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Disciplinary investigations
The comparative figures for Category 1 and Category 2 disciplinary investigations for all types, indicates an
increase of 24 for investigations assessed as Category 2.

Disciplinary Investigations1
Investigation type

2019-20

2020-21

Category 1

35

38

Category 2

10

34

Total

45

72

I

1

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.

Note: These figures are representative of all incident types that have been assessed as Category 1 or Category 2.

Disciplinary investigation findings
In completed matters of all incident types, a change to reporting indicates a substantial increase in sustained
incidents on the previous reporting period. These incidents were previously displayed in categorisation as the
priority but are now displayed per incident type.

Findings1
Complaint Type

Sustained

Not sustained

Investigation suspended

Category 1

27

1

4

Category 2

19

2

1

9

7

0

Department crash

13

6

0

Failed prosecution

19

21

0

1

2

0

26

49

4

0

2

0

114

90

9

Custody investigation

Family violence
Internal investigation2
Serious custody incident
Total

I

1
2

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.
Internal investigation incidents are also categorised as Category 1 or Category 2, all figures shown for these entries are
those not categorised.

		

Note: These figures indicate findings to individual incidents.

		

Note: These figures include findings for incidents received in the financial year 2020-21 for which investigations were either completed
or ongoing during the financial year 2020-21.
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Disciplinary investigation disciplinary actions
Overall, disciplinary action taken pursuant to the provisions of Part IV Police Administration Act 1978
increased from 75 to 120. Lower level issuance of remedial advice where Part IV action was not required,
decreased from 102 to 65. Action not taken due to separation indicates 11 members resigned before
disciplinary action could be taken.

Outcomes – Category 1 and 2 Disciplinary Investigations1
Action not Taken: Inability

0

Action not Taken: Separated

11

Administrative: Remedial advice

65

No action required

12

Offence: Infringement

1

Part IV PAA: Counsel and caution

8

Part IV PAA: Fine

2

Part IV PAA: Formal caution in writing

58

Part IV PAA: Member dismissed

1

Part IV PAA: Member to pay compensation

0

Part IV PAA: No further action

12

Part IV PAA: Period of good behaviour

31

Part IV PAA: Reduction in rank

1

Part IV PAA: Reduction in salary

4

Part IV PAA: Transfer member from locality

1

Part IV PAA: Transfer member from position

2

S14C PAA: Managerial guidance

2

S16A PAA: Probation terminated

2

Total

I

1

213

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.

		

Note: These figures indicate actions to individual allegations, and there can be multiple allegations made against a member and multiple
actions involving a member within an incident.

		

Note: These figures include findings for incidents received before the financial year 2020-21 for which investigations were either
completed or ongoing during the financial year 2020-21.
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NTPFES investigations 2020-21
The NTPFES Investigations Unit is responsible for oversight of all discipline matters for public sector staff
within the agency, as well as oversight and investigations into allegations of inappropriate behaviour and
bullying under the Respect, Equity and Diversity Policy.

Investigation Referral Type

I

Number of Referrals1

Number of Employees Involved1

Respect, equity and diversity

28

43

Internal PSEMA2

11

12

Total

39

55

1
2

Source: Data was extracted from PSC IAPro on 30 June 2021.
PSEMA is an acronym for the Public Sector Employment Management Act 1993.
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Appendix 2 – Information Act 2002 requests
APPLICATIONS HANDLED

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

114

152

163

3661

6

25

17

19

120

177

180

385

Applications granted in full

14

18

24

35

Applications granted in part

48

86

74

141

Applications refused in full – Based on exemption

4

7

3

19

Applications refused in full – Not valid application

-

2

2

14

Applications refused in fill – Information
does not exist/could not be located

-

9

14

18

Application refused in full – Deposit or processing fee not paid

-

2

2

5

Applications refused in full – Requested
information excluded from Act

-

24

22

12

Applications refused in full – Unreasonable
interference with operations

-

0

1

1

Applications refused in full – Other reasons

23

2

6

3

Applications withdrawn

6

10

10

15

Applications transferred

0

0

3

3

Total applications finalised

95

160

161

266

Total applications outstanding at end of year

25

17

19

119

New applications lodged
Outstanding applications from previous years
Total number of applications handled
OUTCOME OF APPLICATIONS HANDLED

I

1

2020-21 saw an increase in demand of requests lodged under the Information Act 2002. This increase can be partially attributed to an
increase in civil legal and advocacy services requesting information on behalf of client/s. Applicants are not required to provide reasons
for their applications and section 17(2) of the Information Act 2002 prohibits an agency from requiring a reason.

		 Note: Shaded boxes represent information captured and recorded under ‘Applications refused in full – Other reasons’ for the year.
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There was one application to correct personal information under the Information Act 2002 received in
2020-21 compared to 2 in 2019-20. After investigating the matter, a determination was made that the
information sought to be corrected was accurate and that no correction or amendment should be made.
This determination was made pursuant to section 35(1) of the Information Act 2002.
INFORMATION REQUESTS PROCESSED

2019-20

2020-21

1,021

1,058

20

30

5

13

Crimes victims services unit

221

171

Territory housing reports

971

2,0461

Complete traffic history reports

664

651

General property insurance reports

466

305

Antecedents reports

96

53

Other government agency requests

84

121

146

102

66

50

6

7

189

163

3,955

4,770

Motor vehicle crash reports
Motor vehicle crash fatal files
Requests to interview a police officer

Legal advocacy requests
Body worn video and watch house footage
CCTV
General requests for information
Total

I

1

2020-21 saw an increase in demand of requests from Department of Territory Families, Housing and Communities
(formally Territory Housing) under a formal information sharing arrangement.
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Appendix 3 – Acronyms used within this report
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AASB

Australian Accounting Standards Board

ACPOs

Aboriginal Community Police Officers

AIIMS

Australasian Inter-Service Incident Management System

ALOs

Aboriginal Liaison Officers

ANZSOC

Australian and New Zealand Standard Offence Classification

APU

Alcohol Policing Unit

ATO

Australian Tax Office

ATSI

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander

ATSIDU

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Development Unit

CCTV

Closed-circuit Television

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

COVID-19

Coronavirus Disease of 2019

CREC

Community Resilience and Engagement Command

EOC

Emergency Operations Centre

FTE

Full Time Equivalent

FVOCI

Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

FVTPL

Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

GPS

Global Positioning System

GST

Goods and Services Tax

ICT

Information, Communication and Technology

IJIS

Integrated Justice Information System

JESCC

Joint Emergency Services Communication Centre

JPRs

Junior Police Rangers

MACCST

Multi Agency Community and Child Safety Teams

MLA

Member of the Legislative Assemby

NHWNT

Neighbourhood Watch NT

NT

Northern Territory

NTPFES

NT Police, Fire and Emergency Services

ODPP

Office of the Director for Public Prosecutions

PROMIS

Police Real-time Online Management Information System

PSC

Professional Standards Command

RITCG

Remote Interagency Tasking Coordination Group

SAFE NT

Screening Assessment for Employment Northern Territory

WebEOC

Web Based Emergency Operations Centre

WHS

Work Health and Safety

YMCA

Young Men's Christian Association
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